
 

 

 
MEETING: CABINET 
  
DATE: Thursday 10th January, 2019 
  
TIME: 10.00 am 
  
VENUE: Birkdale Room, Town Hall, Southport 

  
 
DECISION MAKER: CABINET 
  
 Councillor Maher (Chair) 

Councillor Atkinson 
Councillor Cummins 
Councillor Fairclough 
Councillor Hardy 
Councillor John Joseph Kelly 
Councillor Lappin 
Councillor Moncur 
Councillor Veidman 
 

 
 
 COMMITTEE OFFICER: Steve Pearce 

Interim Democratic Services Manager 
 Telephone: 0151 934 2046 
 E-mail: steve.pearce@sefton.gov.uk 
 

The Cabinet is responsible for making what are known as Key Decisions, 
which will be notified on the Forward Plan.  Items marked with an * on the 
agenda involve Key Decisions 
A key decision, as defined in the Council’s Constitution, is: - 
● any Executive decision that is not in the Annual Revenue Budget and 

Capital Programme approved by the Council and which requires a gross 
budget expenditure, saving or virement of more than £100,000 or more 
than 2% of a Departmental budget, whichever is the greater 

● any Executive decision where the outcome will have a significant impact 
on a significant number of people living or working in two or more Wards 

 
 

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist. 

 

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack



 
This page is intentionally left blank 



 

A G E N D A 
 
Items marked with an * involve key decisions 
 

 Item 
No. 

Subject/Author(s) Wards Affected  

  

  1 Apologies for Absence 
 

  

  2 Declarations of Interest   

  Members are requested at a meeting where a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or personal 
interest arises, which is not already included in 
their Register of Members' Interests, to declare 
any interests that relate to an item on the 
agenda. 
 
Where a Member discloses a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest, he/she must withdraw from 
the meeting room, including from the public 
gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an 
interest, except where he/she is permitted to 
remain as a result of a grant of a dispensation. 
 
Where a Member discloses a personal interest 
he/she must seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer or staff member representing the 
Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting 
room, including from the public gallery, during 
the whole consideration of any item of business 
in which he/she has an interest or whether the 
Member can remain in the meeting or remain in 
the meeting and vote on the relevant decision. 
  

  

  3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 5 - 
14) 

  Minutes of the meeting held on 6 December 
2018 
  

  

* 4 Sand Dunes Nursery - Determination of the 
Proposal to Close the School 

Church; Ford; 
Linacre 

(Pages 15 - 
30) 

  Report of the Head of Schools and Families 
  

  

  5 Local Government Association Peer Review 
– Action Plan 

All Wards (Pages 31 - 
40) 

  Report of the Head of Strategic Support 
  

  



* 6 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2019/20, Increase to Long Term Empty 
Homes Premium and Council Tax Base 
2019/20 

All Wards (Pages 41 - 
90) 

  Report of the Head of Corporate Resources 
  

  

* 7 Revenue and Capital Budget Plan 2018/19 – 
2019/20 

All Wards (Pages 91 - 
104) 

  Report of the Head of Corporate Resources 
  

  

* 8 Procurement of Quality Training and 
Assessment Providers for Apprenticeships 

All Wards (Pages 105 - 
110) 

  Report of the Head of Corporate Resources 
  

  

* 9 Sefton Homelessness Strategy 2018 - 2023 All Wards (Pages 111 - 
138) 

  Report of the Service Manager – Housing 
Strategy and Investment 
  

  

* 10 Procurement of Land Based, Coastal 
Remote Sensing Services 

Ainsdale; 
Blundellsands; 

Cambridge; 
Church; Dukes; 

Harington; 
Linacre; Manor; 

Ravenmeols 

(Pages 139 - 
144) 

  Report of the Head of Locality Services 
  

  

  11 Sefton New Directions Limited - 
Appointment of Shareholder Representative 

All Wards (Pages 145 - 
150) 

  Report of Executive Director 
  

  

* 12 Making the Lydiate and Maghull 
Neighbourhood Plans 

Molyneux; Park; 
Sudell 

(Pages 151 - 
156) 

  Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
  

  

 



THE “CALL IN” PERIOD FOR THIS SET OF MINUTES ENDS AT 12 NOON ON 
MONDAY 17 DECEMBER, 2018. 

 

65 

CABINET 
 

MEETING HELD AT THE COMMITTEE ROOM, TOWN HALL, BOOTLE 
ON THURSDAY 6TH DECEMBER, 2018 

 
 

PRESENT: 
 
 
 
ALSO PRESENT: 

Councillor Maher (in the Chair) 
Councillors Cummins, Hardy, John Joseph Kelly, 
Lappin and Moncur 
 
Councillors McKinley and Sir Ron Watson 

 
 
63. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Atkinson, 
Fairclough and Veidman. 
 
 
64. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received. 
 
 
65. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
Decision Made: 
 
That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 1 November 2018 be 
confirmed as a correct record. 
 
 
66. MRS LYN SHAW  
 
The Chair reported with sadness and regret on the recent death of Mrs 
Lyn Shaw, the wife of Councillor Simon Shaw and extended the thoughts 
and sincere condolences of the Cabinet Members to Councillor Shaw, his 
family and friends on their very sad loss.  
 
Decision Made: 
 
That a letter of condolence be sent to Councillor Shaw on behalf of the 
Cabinet expressing sympathy to him and his family on the very sad loss of 
his wife and their mother.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH DECEMBER, 2018 
 

66 

67. DIGITAL INCLUSION WORKING GROUP FINAL REPORT  
 
The Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer which incorporated a copy of the final report produced by the 
Working Group appointed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services) to review the 
opportunity for the Council in supporting and enabling Digital Inclusion 
within the Borough of Sefton and the wider City Region.  
 
Councillor McKinley, the Lead Member of the Working Group outlined the 
conclusions and recommendations set out in the report.   
 
Decision Made: 
 
(1) It was noted that the Working Group was impressed with the Visitor 

Economy (VE) ‘Passport to Success’ scheme aimed at college 
students across the Liverpool City Region coming into the tourism 
industry; whereby students are able to achieve a bronze, silver or 
gold passport standard to provide them with a range of opportunities 
to either gain quality work experience, an interview, apprenticeship 
or a full-time job.  
 
The Working Group, at its meeting held on 23 May 2018 
acknowledged that literary and numeracy skills should be embedded 
as a priority along with digital skills.  
 
Accordingly, it is agreed that:  
 
(A) The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

Employment and Skills Board be requested to consider 
the development of a Digital Skills Passport Scheme 
(incorporating numeracy, literacy and communication 
skills) to help Sefton residents to gain future employment, 
via the Learning and Skills budget to be devolved from 
2019; and 
 

(B) Sefton Council, via Sefton@Work, in conjunction with local 
organisations such as Sefton Community Learning 
Service, work with the Liverpool City Region with the aim 
of exploring the application of such a Skills Passport for 
the benefit of Sefton employers and residents; 
 

 

(2) using the Poverty Modelling and Digital Inclusion “Mosaic” data, 
areas of high unemployment be targeted to enable those Sefton 
residents excluded from the labour market to develop their ICT skills 
to improve their opportunities for gaining future employment;   
  

(3) to facilitate the above, the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
be requested to devolve sufficient funding to Sefton Council to 
appoint a project worker with the clear objectives of:  
 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH DECEMBER, 2018 
 

67 

(A) Working with local employers to map ICT/digital skills; 
 

(B) Working with local partners such as Sefton Community 
Learning Service to develop and deliver bespoke training 
programmes to target residents in the areas identified in 
the Poverty Modelling and Digital Inclusion “Mosaic” data;  
 

(C) Identifying, using the data from the Poverty Modelling and 
Digital Inclusion “Mosaic”, a number of residents who 
would benefit from and be able to undertake training as 
referred to in resolution (3) (B) above; and 
 

(D) Working with local employers to develop a compact 
agreement to enable those residents who successfully 
complete the bespoke training programme(s) to gain 
relevant employment;   
  

 

(4) if further opportunities arise for a roll out of the Include-IT project 
and to support the objectives of resolution (2) above, then Sefton 
CVS be requested to consider such roll out to the priority areas 
identified within the Poverty Modelling and Digital Exclusion 
document; and 
 

(5) the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer be requested to submit a 
monitoring report to the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Resources) to 
be held on 5 March 2019, setting out progress made against each of 
the recommendations set out in the report and that thereafter, 
monitoring reports be submitted to the Committee on a six-monthly 
basis. 

 
Reasons for Decision: 
 
The Working Group has made a number of recommendations that require 
approval by the Cabinet. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
No alternative options were considered. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services) established 
the Working Group to review Digital Inclusion and the Working Group has 
performed this task. 
 
 
68. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION PEER REVIEW 

FEEDBACK  
 
The Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Strategic Support which 
provided details of the key findings from the Local Government 
Association (LGA) Peer Review undertaken in September 2018 and 
sought approval to develop an action plan responding to the Peer Review 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH DECEMBER, 2018 
 

68 

Team’s recommendations. The full feedback report produced by the LGA 
Peer Review Team was appended to the report.  
 
The report indicated that the Peer Review Team had considered the 
following five core themes:  
 

 Understanding local context and priority setting 

 Leadership of place 

 Financial planning and viability 

 Organisational leadership and governance and  

 Capacity to deliver.  
 

In addition to the five core themes the peer review focused on the 
progress that the Council has made in implementing its ‘vision for change’ 
and the Councils approach to commercialisation.   
 
The Peer Review Team had summarised the Council’s strengths as;   
 
• Knowledge of Sefton ‘the place’ is strong. 
• Strong political and managerial leadership. 
• Vision is in place, priorities have been set and transformation plan in 

place – which is significant. 
• Local Plan is in place which has required difficult decisions. 
• Medium Term Financial Plan linked to strategy and priorities. 
• Committed and passionate workforce. 
• Strong partner relationships. 
• Self-awareness and willingness to reflect. 
• Successfully managed a 51% reduction in grant funding and put in 

place a 3-year budget. 
• Localities model is the right direction 
 
The Peer Review Team had also suggested some areas for the Council to 
consider and these were detailed in the full feedback report. 
 
Members of the Cabinet referred to the high level of self-awareness; the 
high level of commitment by staff and partner organisations, the approach 
to developing Sefton 2030 and the strong financial planning that has 
enabled the Council to successfully manage a 51% reduction in grant 
funding which are all reflected in the feedback report and they looked 
forward to receiving the action plan at their next meeting. The Cabinet 
asked that their thanks to the workforce be put on record. 
 
Decision Made: That 
 
(1) the Cabinet record their thanks to the LGA Peer Review team and 

welcome the feedback report; 
 
(2) the Cabinet also record their thanks and appreciation to all the 

members of staff and partner organisation for their commitment and 
endeavour to deliver an excellent service for the local community 

 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH DECEMBER, 2018 
 

69 

(3) the recommendations set out in the feedback report be accepted; 
and 

 
(4) Officers be authorised to develop an associated action plan to be 

considered by the Cabinet in January 2019.  
 
Reasons for Decision: 
 
Peer Reviews are a proven tool for sector-led and the Council has always 
been open to learning from others and sharing our good practice.  
 
The challenge provided external recognition of the things it believes the 
Council is doing well, highlighted where the Council can learn from other 
councils in light of best practice elsewhere and has recommended a 
number of key actions. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
Not to commission the LGA peer review process. 
 
 
69. PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS – 2019/20 MUNICIPAL YEAR  
 
The Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer that sought approval of a Programme of Meetings for the 2019/20 
Municipal Year. 
 
Decision Made: 
 
That the Programme of Meetings for the Cabinet, Public Engagement and 
Consultation Panel, Sefton Safer Communities Partnership and the Health 
and Wellbeing Board for 2019/20, as set out in Annexes A and D of the 
report be approved. 
 
Reasons for the Decision: 
 
To enable the business of the Council and its various Committees/bodies 
to be conducted during the 2019/20 Municipal Year. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
None. The Council has to produce a timetable of meetings. 
 
 
70. REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET PLAN 2018/19 – 2019/20  
 
The Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Corporate Resources 
which provided details of the current forecast revenue outturn position for 
the Council for 2018/19 and potential impact on the 2019/20 budget; the 
current forecast on Council Tax and Business Rates collection for 2018/19 
and the current position of the 2018/19 Capital Programme. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH DECEMBER, 2018 
 

70 

 
The Head of Corporate Resources reported that the Local Government 
Financial Settlement had been due to be published that day but had been 
delayed until the meaningful vote on the Brexit deal had been held in 
Parliament on 11 December 2018. Officers would then assess the impact 
of the Financial Statement and the details would be made available to 
Members at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Decision Made: That:  
 
(1) approval be given to the implementation of the mitigating actions to 

deal with the significant budget pressure that have been identified 
and are detailed within the report; 

 
(2) in the event that there is material change to the 2018/19 outturn 

forecast, additional remedial measures should be identified in order 
that a balanced budget position can be achieved; 

 
(3) as a result of the impact of the current financial position in 2018/19, 

and its subsequent impact on the 2019/20 budget, officers continue 
to identify new budget saving proposals for Members to consider in 
order that a robust and sustainable budget can be set for 2019/20; 
and 

 
(4) approval be given to the transfer of £0.500m from various 

uncommitted Earmarked Reserves and balances to the Community 
Transition Fund. 

 
Reasons for Decision: 
 
To ensure Cabinet are informed of the forecast outturn position for the 
2018/19 revenue and capital budgets as at the end of September 2018 
and to provide an updated forecast of the outturn position with regard to 
the collection of Council Tax and Business Rates. 
 
In March 2017 Council approved a three-year budget plan to March 2020. 
The final two years of this plan were revised in March 2018 as part of the 
process of setting the 2018/19 budget. The Council is half way through the 
second year of the budget plan and remains confident that the strategic 
approach to budget planning alongside good financial management and 
extensive community engagement means that it will secure future 
sustainability to 2020 and beyond. However, in year demand for social 
care services is currently resulting in the costs for these services 
exceeding the budget. Corrective action will be required to bring the 
overall budget into balance before the end of the financial year if the 
position worsens over the coming months.  
  
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:  
 
None. 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH DECEMBER, 2018 
 

71 

71. REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET UPDATE - TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT POSITION TO OCTOBER 2018  

 
The Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Corporate Resources 
which provided details of the Treasury Management activities undertaken 
during the six-month period to 31 October 2018. 
 
Decision Made: 
 
(1) the Treasury Management update to 31 October 2018 be noted: 
 
(2) the effects of decisions taken in pursuit of the Treasury 

Management Strategy be noted; and 
 
(3) the implications of changes resulting from regulatory, economic and 

market factors affecting the Council’s treasury management 
activities be noted. 

 
Reasons for Decision: 
 
To ensure that Members are fully appraised of the treasury activity 
undertaken to 31st October 2018 and to meet the reporting requirements 
set out in Sefton’s Treasury Management Practices and those 
recommended by the CIPFA code.  
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:  
 
None.  
 
 
72. LCR PROCUREMENT OF A FLEXIBLE PURCHASING SYSTEM 

FOR COMPLEX CARE  
 
The Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Adult Social Care which 
sought approval to commence a procurement exercise for the provision of 
complex care and support services. 
 
The report also provided details of the proposed approach for the 
procurement under Liverpool City Region (LCR) joint working 
arrangements using the flexibilities permitted under the ‘light touch regime’ 
for social and other services as listed at Schedule 3 of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015, whereby the LCR intends to create a 
bespoke Flexible Purchasing System (FPS) which will operate as a 
common, shared ‘marketplace’.  
 
Decision Made: That  
 
(1) approval be given to the commencement of a procurement 

exercise, to be led by Liverpool City Council as part of LCR joint 
working arrangements, which will encompass a Flexible Purchasing 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH DECEMBER, 2018 
 

72 

System (FPS) being implemented from April 2019, for the provision 
of Complex Care and Support services; 

 
(2) the Head of Adult Social Care in consultation with the Cabinet 

Member (Adult Social Care) be granted delegated authority to 
implement decisions regarding the FPS procurement evaluation 
criteria, service specification, outcome and quality monitoring 
framework, and contractual terms. Such decisions to be made in 
advance of any procurement exercises commencing and will be 
collective decisions by all participating authorities; and 

 
(3) following its establishment, authority be given to the use of the FPS 

for the future procurement of complex care and support services, 
where an options appraisal, as described in this report, has 
determined it to be the most appropriate approach. 

 
Reasons for Decision: 
 
Following endorsement of the Liverpool City Region (LCR) Devolution 
Agreement in June 2015, Health and Social Care leaders across the six 
Local Authorities (Sefton / Halton / Knowsley / Liverpool / St Helen’s / 
Wirral), were tasked with exploring the potential for greater collaboration.   
 
The LCR Strategic Leadership Board has identified an opportunity to 
create a single FPS for adults with complex care needs as a key 
development in the collaborative working programme. The FPS will create 
a single-entry point for the six Local Authorities and Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) partners to commission services and a 
single route for providers to register to supply services. There will be a 
common set of contract terms and service specifications in operation 
across LCR which will include a shared outcome and quality monitoring 
framework. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
Maintaining the Status Quo – this was not considered a viable option as 
the current mechanism for the procurement of Complex care and support 
services in Sefton does not encompass any collaborative working and as 
result, Sefton are unable to benefit from the collective buying power that 
the proposed approach encompasses in that all authorities will be able to 
better shape the overall market and encourage more innovation and 
higher quality from providers. In addition, feedback from Providers 
indicated that the proposed approach to jointly procure services was 
viewed by them as being more efficient in that in means that Providers do 
not have to go through numerous separate procurement exercises which 
are onerous and result in them having to adhere to different contractual 
and service delivery requirements.  The proposed approach also includes 
the development of a shared service specification which can be adapted in 
order to ensure that services in Sefton can be tailored to the specific 
needs of the communities it serves.  The FPS would result in there being 
additional options for the procurement of services. Sefton will still be able 

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH DECEMBER, 2018 
 

73 

to procure services outside of the FPS where that is the most appropriate 
approach. 
 
 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet 
 

Date of meeting: 
 

10 January 2019 

Subject: Sand Dunes Nursery School – determination of the proposal 
to close the school 
 

Report of: Head of Schools 
& Families 
 

Wards Affected: Linacre and 
neighbouring 
wards where 
pupils reside 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan: 

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No  

 
Summary 
 
The Governing body of Sand Dunes Nursery School have written to the local 
authority stating that they are unable to set a budget and are unable to produce a 
plan which will bring the school back into budget.  They are no longer financially 
viable and have, therefore, requested that the local authority commence a statutory 
consultation on a proposal to close the school. This has taken place and the results 
were reported to Cabinet at its meeting on 1 November 2018. 
 
The current financial position indicates that the school is currently overspending by 
approximately £170,100 a year and has now exhausted its available balances. The 
projected financial position for 2018/19 is a deficit of £306,600.  Should the school 
close at the end of August 2019 the closing school deficit budget is predicted to be -
£404,600 and this will need to be wet by the local authority.  There will also be 
closure costs that will need to be factored into the final deficit position but these are 
unknown at this time and so cannot be quantified. 
 
On 1 November 2018 Cabinet approved, with deep regret, the publication of the 
Statutory Notice for the proposal to close Sand Dunes Nursery School and asked 
Officers to work with the school on alternative proposals to avoid closure. The 
purpose of this report is to update Cabinet on this work and seek a determination on 
the proposal for the closure of the school. In accordance with the School 
Organisation (Establishment and discontinuance of Schools) Regulations 2013 the 
decision maker for this proposal is the local authority.  
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
Cabinet are recommended to: 
 

1) Consider the information on the proposal to close Sand Dunes Nursery; 
 
2) Consider the representations received following publication of the 

statutory notice on 14th November 2018. 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



3) Consider the financial position of the school in terms of its significant 
deficit and the fact there are no viable proposals to address this; 

 
4) Approve, with deep regret, the proposal for the closure of Sand Dunes 

Nursery School with effect from 31 August 2019. 
 

 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 
 
The local authority has the statutory power to close a maintained school following the 
statutory process detailed in the report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 
 
All alternative options have been explored by the governing body with support from 
Officers prior to the governing body making their request. No viable alternative 
options to address the financial viability of the school have come from the 
consultation process.  More detail is provided in the body of the report 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 
The current financial position indicates that the school is currently overspending by 
approximately £170,100 a year and has now exhausted its available balances. The 
projected financial position for 2018/19 is a deficit of £306,600.  Should the school 
close in August 2019 the closing school deficit budget is predicted to be -£404,600 
and this deficit under the appropriate legislation will need to be met by the local 
authority.  There will also be closure costs that will need to be factored into the final 
deficit position however these are unknown at this time and so cannot be quantified. 
 
As referenced any budget shortfall by the end of the closure period is the 
responsibility of the Council and cannot be charged to the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG). Therefore, the Council will need to identify resources to fund this.  As there is 
no dedicated budget for this deficit, the cost will need to be met from the council 
existing reserves and balances.  A comprehensive review of these sums is made as 
part of both budget setting and account closure and it is from this review that the cost 
will be met. 
 
Any mothballing costs related to the building may be met from specific funding within 
the DSG which is held centrally for this purpose. However, this funding is under 
review by the DfE as part of the national review of school funding and may not be 
available after 31st March 2020. 
 
(B) Capital Costs 
 
N/A 
 
 
 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
 
Capacity exists to take forward the proposed closure 
 

Legal Implications: 
 
The proposal to close the school will follow the requirements of the School 
Organisation (Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools) Regulations 2013. 
 

Equality Implications: 
 
The proposal will have an impact on a small number of children who have 
disabilities who attend the nursery.  However, there is alternative provision which 
can meet the needs of these children and If the decision is to close the school the 
local authority will work with families to support transition to alternative settings. 
 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 

Protect the most vulnerable: 
 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:  
 

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
 

Place – leadership and influencer:   
 

Drivers of change and reform:  
 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity 
 

Greater income for social investment:  
 

Cleaner Greener:  
 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD 5500/18) and Head of Regulation and 
Compliance (LD 4625/18) have been consulted and any comments have been 
incorporated into the report. 
 
 
 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



 
(B) External Consultations  
 
Public consultation on the proposal has taken place in accordance with statutory 
requirements.  As part of the consultation process meetings were held with parents, 
staff in the school and their trade union representatives. 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
Immediately following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet 
meeting 
 

Contact Officer: Mike McSorley 
 

Telephone Number: 0151 934 3428 
 

Email Address: mike.mcsorley@sefton.gov.uk 
 

 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – Statutory Public Notice 
Appendix 2 – Complete Proposal 
 
Background Papers: 
 
 
  

Page 18

Agenda Item 4

mailto:mike.mcsorley@sefton.gov.uk


1.      Background 
 
1.1 Sand Dunes Nursery has had financial challenges for a number of years but 

the head teacher and governing body have been able to restructure and 
reorganise the school to ensure that the school’s budget was balanced.  
Unfortunately, because of increasing costs and static pupil numbers they are 
no longer able to set a balanced budget.  The school is currently only half full 
and numbers are unlikely to increase.   

 
1.2 During the consultation on children and family centres a number of issues 

were raised about the current numbers of children attending Sand Dunes 
Nursery School and its consequential impact on the Centre. 

 
1.3 Governing Bodies have a duty to set a balanced budget each year and the 

Governing Body of Sand Dunes Nursery School has worked very hard over 
the last few years to reduce costs and set a balanced budget.  This has been 
against a backdrop of a funding freeze, falling pupil numbers and increasing 
cost. 

 
1.4 The Governing Body of Sand Dunes Nursery School met on 26 June 2018 to 

consider the financial position of the school going forward in the light of no 
foreseeable increase in pupil numbers and increasing cost.  The Governing 
Body consider that they could not reduce costs to the level required to set a 
balanced budget due to statutory requirements around staff/pupil ratios.  
Following this meeting the Chair of Governors wrote to the Head of Schools 
and Families on 27 June saying, “as a Governing body we cannot by law set a 
deficit budget and at a full Governors’ meeting on 26th June it was agreed that 
there was no alternative but write to yourself stating that the school is no 
longer financially viable and asking you to consider undertaking a consultation 
on proposed closure.”   

 
1.5 The above was considered by Cabinet on 26 June 2018. Cabinet agreed to 

commence a statutory consultation on a proposal to close Sand Dunes 
Nursery School at the end of the 2018/19 academic year because it is no 
longer financially viable.  The consultation process was presented to the 
Public Engagement and Consultation Panel on 16 August 2018 

 
1.6 Consultation took place in accordance with the requirements of the School 

Organisation (Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools) Regulations 
2013.  During the consultation period meetings were held with interested 
parties and the consultation period ran from 25 August until 19 October. 

 
2. Statutory Process 
 
2.1 The statutory process for discontinuing a school is contained in the School 

Organisation (Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools) Regulation 2013 
and has five stages as follows:  

 
 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



Stage 1 Consultation – 24th 
August to 19th 
October 2018 

This is the start of the process when the 
Local Authority provides information about 
what is being proposed and gathers the 
views of interested parties to help them 
develop the proposals. This period usually 
lasts for a minimum of six weeks. 

Stage 2 Publication - 
14th November 
2018 

A legal notice is published in the local 
paper (usually the Champion) and on the 
Council website which sets out brief 
details of the proposal for closure and 
where more information can be found. It 
also gives details of where objections and 
comments can be sent and the closing 
date for these. It marks the start of the 
representation period or formal 
consultation. 

Stage 3 Representation - 
14th November 
2018 to 12th 
December 2018 

This is a four-week period form the date 
the notice is published to allow interested 
parties the final opportunity to send 
objections and comments to be taken into 
consideration by the decision maker. It is 
classed as the formal part of the 
consultation process.  

Stage 4 Decision – 10 
January 2019 

All the objections and comments gathered 
during the representation period are 
provided to the decision maker to enable 
them to make the final decision to close or 
not. 

Stage 5 Implementation Depends on decision made at Stage 4. 

 
2.2 At its meeting on 1st November 2018 Cabinet considered the outcome of the 

statutory consultation process with regards to the proposal to close Sand 
Dunes Nursery. Cabinet resolved to publish a statutory notice for the closure 
of Sand Dunes Nursery. The notice was published on the Council’s website 
and in the Champion Newspaper, in accordance with current legislation, on 
14th November 2018 and this was followed immediately by a four-week 
representation period. The notice was also displayed at the entrance to the 
school.  A copy of the notice and complete proposal is attached at Appendix 1 
and 2. 

 
2.3 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the Head Teacher of Sand 

Dunes Nursery School had submitted a petition, which opposed the closure of 
the nursery. And was presented to Cabinet. The presentation referred to the 
number of children who currently attend Sand Dunes Nursery School, who are 
classed as vulnerable and have external involvement from various other 
agencies and suggested that that there were other alternatives to closing the 
maintained nursery that are potentially viable and should be fully explored 
before a decision is made to close the nursery, such as: 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4



 Merging or working with other maintained nurseries in the area, before 
Sefton runs the risk of losing all four, and having a bigger cumulative 
financial debt.  The proposal is to combine the three settings in South 
Sefton within the premises of Sand Dunes.  During the consideration 
and onset of this proposal it is proposed that Sand Dunes reduces its 
staffing in order to stop the deficit increasing. 

 Using Sand Dunes as a profitable educational training hub. Many 
other settings are having to attend courses/training outside of the 
area, and Sand Dunes are already providing advice and training for 
other local settings. 

 Consider using Sand Dunes as a specialist provision for those with 
Special Educational Needs, to free up places in similar settings, such 
as Rowan Park. 

2.4 Officers were requested to continue to explore all the alternative suggestions 
put forward and include the outcome in the determination report.  Officers met 
with the Chair of Governors and the Headteacher who submitted their 
proposals in more details.  The outcome of these options is noted below in 
section 3.   

3 Consideration of Options put forward by Sand Dunes 

3.1  Following on from the November Cabinet an initial meeting took place with the 
school to explore the proposed options.  At the meeting, the option with the 
other maintained nurseries was discounted as well as alternative local 
authority funding and the discussions focussed on: 
 

 An interim restructure to reduce costs whilst income generating 
options were developed 

 Proposal to use Sand Dunes as a specialist provision for those with 
SEN  

 Development of Sand Dunes as a Hub for Early Years Adult and 
Student Learning 

 
3.2 The interim structure is intended to reduce costs without affecting income 

whilst income generating proposals are developed.  The proposal would result 
in significant staffing reductions but the setting would still be operating at a 
deficit of £18.000 per year.  The proposal would see cessation of all 
wraparound support which came out in the consultation as one of the reasons 
parents attend Sand Dunes, therefore, it is highly likely that future numbers 
(and hence income) would reduce which would increase this deficit.  In 
addition, there would be extra costs of redundancy and pay protection for staff 
affected by the restructure as well as the current projected deficit which would 
significantly increase the liability for the local authority for which there would 
be no identified budget.  Any staffing changes would take time to implement 
which would further increase the Council’s requirement for financial support. 
The financial position of the school has worsened during this period as well 
which would make this proposal even less feasible. 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



3.3 Developing Sand Dunes as a specialist provision for those with Special 
Educational Needs would be challenging given there is no additional funding 
to create the specialist places.  There are other nurseries which also have this 
expertise and already support children with special educational needs which 
are rated as good or outstanding.  Currently provision for SEN and Resourced 
Placed Provision is being reviewed with an initial report due in February 2019 
which is likely to recommend that provision to support children with SEND 
should be local to where they live.  In order to do this funding would need to 
be taken from another setting which would be likely to cause financial 
problems at that setting.  This has not been discussed with other settings and 
would be unlikely to be accepted by them.  There is also the likelihood of 
increased transport costs for the local authority if children have to travel to 
provision outside of their local area or miss out because families cannot afford 
the travel costs.  Officers view it that this option is very unlikely to be viable for 
the reasons stated above. 

 
3.4 Development of Sand Dunes as a profitable educational training hub was also 

considered.  Support for Early Years training is already provided by Sefton 
with an in-house team, this would set up Sand Dunes in direct competition to 
Sefton selling to the same market and would simply take funding from one 
service area to another. Initial work suggests that the current market is not 
sufficient to support both providers so one of them would be likely to fail.  The 
Headteacher delivering courses on behalf of Sefton Community Learning was 
suggested, with a reduced staffing complement, it is unlikely the Headteacher 
will have the capacity to deliver regular courses and therefore will be unable to 
income generate from her own teaching. The proximity of Sefton Community 
Learning Centre is important as it has just acquired additional delivery rooms 
to extend their offer.  In addition, Seaforth Family Wellbeing Centre, adjacent 
to Sand Dunes will continue to deliver and extend its menu of adult courses 
and family learning opportunities as part of the Locality Offer.  The ethos of 
Early Intervention and the Council’s Locality Wellbeing model alongside 
working with the Community, Faith and Voluntary sector, is to provide services 
at little/no cost to vulnerable families.  Additional costs would also be incurred 
in providing evening or weekend courses -keeping he building open/ staff 
costs locking up.  The school have not put together a business plan showing 
costs and income or how they would gain market share in an area which is 
unlikely to grow and is already saturated.  Even if successful, given the likely 
costs of operation, this option would be very unlikely to generate the income 
levels required to balance the school’s budget. 

 
3.5 Another option to income generate is to support additional students as the 

nursery currently only takes on one student at a time.  Even if the number 
doubles and more support time is offered this would only generate modest 
sums.  Such contributions would be sketchy and sporadic without long term 
commitments.  Officers do not believe the amounts of income this might 
generate would be enough to bring the Nursery into surplus or to contribute 
towards its already deficit position.   

 
3.6 To conclude the options put forward by Sand Dunes to merge or work with 

other maintained nurseries do not appear viable as the other nurseries are 

Page 22

Agenda Item 4



already working on federating without Sand Dunes.  Nor does the proposal 
around SEN as this is also provided by other nurseries and would simply 
move the funding around the system.  In terms of income generation, the 
potential is limited, for both Early Years Training and student support and it is 
unlikely that Sand Dunes would generate the necessary income to balance 
the budget.   

 
4. Representations relating to the Proposal 

 
4.1 At the end of the representation period no representations had been received 

in response to the public notice. 
 
5. Decision making Process 
 
5.1 In accordance with the School Organisation (Establishment and 

Discontinuance of Schools) Regulation 2013 the local authority will be the 
decision-maker for the proposal.  

 
5.2 The decision must be made within a period of two months of the end of the 

representation period or it must be referred to the Schools Adjudicator.  
 
5.3 The Department for Education does not prescribe the exact process by which 

a decision-maker carries out their decision-making function. However, the 
body or individual that takes the decision must have regard to the statutory 
decision makers guidance contained in “Opening and closing maintained 
schools: Statutory guidance for proposers and decision-makers” published by 
the DFE at the following link: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-
schools 

 
5.4 When issuing a decision, the decision-maker can: 

 reject the proposal; 

 approve the proposal without modification; 

 approve the proposal with modifications, having consulted the LA 
and/or governing body (as appropriate); or 

 approve the proposal – with or without modification – subject to certain 
prescribed events (such as the granting of planning permission) being 
met. 

 
5.5 Where the LA is the decision-maker, within one week of making a 

determination they must arrange for their decision and the reasons for it to be 
published on the website where the original proposal was published. They 
must arrange for notification of the decision and the reasons for it to be sent 
to: 

 the Secretary of State; 

 the governing body/proposers (as appropriate); 

 the Schools Adjudicator; 

 the trustees of the school where relevant e.g. site trustees); 

 The local church of England diocese; 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-schools


 The local Roman Catholic diocese; 

 Any other body that they think is appropriate (e.g. other relevant 
religious authority). 

 
6 Rights of appeal against a decision 

 
6.1 Within four weeks of the decision being made the following bodies may 

appeal to the Schools Adjudicator against a decision made by an LA: 
 

 the local Church of England diocese; 

 the local Roman Catholic diocese; 

 The governors and trustees of a foundation, foundation special or 
voluntary (VC or VA) school that is subject to a proposal for closure 

 
6.2 On receipt of an appeal, an LA decision-maker must then send the proposal, 

representations received and the reasons for their decision to the Schools 
Adjudicator within one week of receipt. There is no right of appeal on 
determinations made by the Schools Adjudicator. 
 

7. Implementation 
 
7.1 The proposer must implement the proposal in the form approved, taking into 

account any modifications made by the decision-maker. 
 
7.2 Following the notification to the Secretary of State, the DFE’s school 

organisation team will make the necessary changes to the department’s 
Register of Educational Establishments (Get Information About Schools). 

 
8. Matters to be considered in determining the proposal 
 
8.1 Financial Position 
 
8.1.1 Sand Dunes Nursery School has been struggling financially for a number of 

years and the Governing Body has worked hard to reduce costs and set a 
balanced budget. 

 
8.1.2 The table below summarises the financial position of the school over the last 

two years and the projected financial position for 2018/19 to 2019/2. 
 

Year 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

  **   

Total Expenditure  230,039  403,508  420,475  485,593 

Total Funding  203,079  239,341  250,373  250,373 

Budget surplus / 
deficit 

-  26,960 -164,167 -170,102 -235,220 

Balances / deficit 
B’fwd 

   54,620    27,660 -136,507 -306,609 

Est. Balances / deficit 
C’fwd 

   27,660 -136,507 -306,609 -541,829 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4



 
** includes provision of the 2-year-old offer from 1st April 2017 following 
staffing restructure and the closing of the child care provision in the Nursery 
School in March 2017 

 
8.1.3 The Governing Body has worked hard to reduce costs each year.  However, 

even with savings in expenditure, the school has had to use all of the its’ 
balances and still closed last financial year with a deficit. 

 
8.1.4 The current financial position indicates that the school is currently 

overspending by approximately £170,100 in the year and is carrying forward a 
financial deficit from 2017/18.  The projected financial position for 2018/19 is a 
deficit of -£306,609.   

 
8.1.5 As part of the consultation parents and staff asked if funding could be found to 

keep the school open.  However, there is no funding available within the DSG 
to do this.  There is also no unallocated funding within the Council’s core 
budget to bridge the funding detailed above. 

 
8.1.6 Should the school close in August 2019 the closing school deficit budget is 

predicted to be -£404,600 and this will need to be met by the local authority.  
There will also be closure costs that will need to be factored into the final 
deficit position but these are unknown at this time and so cannot be 
quantified. 

 
8.2. Standards 
 
8.2.1 Sand Dunes Nursery School was rated as good at its last Ofsted inspection.  

The majority of other settings in the area are also rated good or outstanding 
(100% of maintained nursery places and 97% of PVI Daycare). 

 
8.3. Pupil Places 
 
8.3.1 Sand Dunes Nursery School is approximately 50% full. The school currently 

has 78 places. On 4th October 2018 (School Census Return) there were 6 full-

time pupils and 52 part-time pupils (32 FTE). 29 of the pupils will require a 

nursery place in 2019/20.  

There is capacity in other settings in the local area (Based on the January 
2018 sufficiency survey there are 29% vacant places in maintained nurseries 
and 31% in PVI Daycare). 

 
8.4 Impact on the community  
 
8.4.1 There will be an impact on children and families who require a place in a 

nursery school. The impact is mitigated as there are places available in other 

nurseries in the area but this will obviously depend on where pupils live.  The 

Family Wellbeing Centre located on the same site will not be affected by this 

proposal and will continue as part of the Council’s locality service.  Details of 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



distances from Sand Dunes Nursery to other maintained nurseries in the area 

are included in the complete proposal attached at Appendix 2.  

 
8.4.2 If the closure proposal is approved then a closure project group will be 

established to address the many operational issues associated with a school 
closure.  Support will be provided for parents seeking alternative nursery 
places. 

 
8.4.3 The site and building are owned by Sefton Council and will need to be kept 

secure and tidy following closure. 
 
9. Summary and Conclusion 
 
9.1 Following the proposal from the Governing Body to consult on the closure of 

Sand Dunes Nursery School consultation ran for 8 weeks from 24 August to 
19 October.  A range of stakeholders were directly engaged and public 
meetings were held with staff and parents. The public notice was published on 
14th November 2018 and the representation period ended on 12th December 
2018. 

 
9.2 A range of comments were made during the consultation and representation 

period on the perceived impact of closing the school.  
 
9.3 During the consultation process there was a great deal of passion from 

parents and staff for the school to remain open and concern about what would 
happen to their children and the local community if the school closed.  
However, no viable and sustainable proposals to address the budget deficit 
and keep the school open were received. 

 
9.4 Should the school close at the end of August 2019 the closing school deficit 

budget is predicted to be -£404,600 which will need to be met by the local 
authority along with the costs of closing the school in terms of redundancy 
costs etc.  Any delay in closing the school will result in a significant increase in 
the deficit the Council would be responsible for. 

 
9.5 There are sufficient places in other high quality local settings to accommodate 

all the pupils from Sand Dunes Nursery if the school closes. 
 
9.6 In conclusion, having explored all available options and considered the detail 

set out in the report above, the only realistic way forward is to proceed with 
the proposal to close the school at the end of this academic year (31 August 
2019) as set out in the statutory notice. 

 
 
 
 

Page 26

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

PUBLISHED STATUTORY NOTICE 

 

Sand Dunes Nursery School, Caradoc Road, Seaforth L21 4NB 

Notice is given in accordance with Section 15(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 

2006 that Sefton Council intends to discontinue Sand Dunes Nursery School, Caradoc 

Road, Seaforth L21 4NB on 31st August 2019. 

This notice is an extract from the complete proposal. Copies of the complete proposal 

can be obtained from School Organisation Team, Sefton Council, Town Hall, Bootle L20 

7AE or at www.sefton.gov.uk/sanddunes 

Within four weeks from the date of publication of this proposal, any person may object to 

or make comments on the proposal by sending them to School Organisation Team, 

Sefton Council, Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle L20 7AE or by emailing 

school.organisation@sefton.gov.uk 

Signed: M. Carney, Chief Executive and Authorised Officer of Sefton Metropolitan 

Borough Council. 

 

Publication Date: 14th November 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 27

Agenda Item 4

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/sanddunes
mailto:school.organisation@sefton.gov.uk


 

 

 

Appendix 2 

STATUTORY PROPOSAL TO DISCONTINUE SAND DUNES NURSERY SCHOOL, 

SEAFORTH 

 

Notice is given in accordance with section 15 (1) of the Education and Inspections Act 

2006 that Sefton Council intends to discontinue Sand Dunes Nursery School with effect 

from 31st August 2019. 

Contact Details 

The proposal to discontinue Sand Dunes Nursery, Caradoc Road, Seaforth L21 4NB is 

being published by Sefton Council. Contact details: School Organisation Team, Sefton 

Council, Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle L20 7AE, email: 

school.organisation@sefton.gov.uk 

Implementation 

The date for implementation of this proposal is 31st August 2019. 

Reason for Closure 

Sand Dunes Nursery has had financial challenges for several years, but the head 

teacher and governing body have been able to restructure and reorganise the school to 

ensure that the school’s budget was balanced. Unfortunately, because of increasing 

costs and static pupil numbers they are no longer able to set a balanced budget.  

Even with savings in expenditure, the school has had to use all the school’s balances 

and still closed last financial year with a deficit. The Governing Body has considered all 

options and are not able to address the increasing deficit and bring the budget back into 

a balanced position. As a result, Sand Dunes Nursery is not financially viable. 

Impact on the community 

There could be an impact on children and families who require a place in a nursery 

school. The impact is mitigated as there are places available in other nurseries in the 

area. 

Pupil numbers and admissions 

The school currently has 78 places. On 4th October 2018 (School Census Return) there 

were 6 full-time pupils and 52 part-time pupils (32 FTE). 29 of the pupils will require a 

nursery place in 2019/20.  

Displaced Pupils 

There is capacity in other settings in the local area (based on the January 2018 

sufficiency survey there were 29% vacant places in maintained nurseries and 31% in PVI 

Daycare). Impact on the pupils and families will depend on where they live. Pupils 

attending Sand Dunes Nursery were recorded on the October 2018 School Census with 

postcodes in L20, L21 and L30. At the time of the May 2018 School Census, which takes 

places in the summer term, there were a total of 171 FTE places still available in 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4

mailto:school.organisation@sefton.gov.uk


 

 

maintained schools in the Bootle (L20), Netherton (L30) and Litherland/Seaforth (L21) 

areas. The schools are listed below. 

 

Maintained Nursery Schools 

There are two other maintained nursery schools in the area and nursery classes located 

at maintained primary schools as follows. The figures in brackets show the walking 

distance from Sand Dunes Nursery. 

 

Maintained Nurseries in Bootle area – L20  

Cambridge Nursery School (2.1 miles) 

Greenacre Nursery School (1.5 miles) 

All Saints Catholic Primary School (0.9 miles) 

Christ Church Primary School (1.8 miles) 

Linacre Primary School (1.1 miles) 

Springwell Park Primary School (1.7 miles) 

St Monica’s Primary School (1.9 miles) 

St Robert Bellarmine Catholic Primary School (1.5 miles) 

Thomas Gray Primary School (0.9 miles) 

 

Maintained Nurseries in Litherland /Seaforth area – L21  

English Martyrs Catholic Primary School (1.1 miles) 

Hatton Hill Primary School (1.7 miles) 

Lander Road Primary School (1.0 miles) 

Litherland Moss Primary School (1.8 miles) 

Our Lady Queen of Peace Catholic Primary School (1.9 miles) 

Our Lady Star of the Sea Catholic Primary School (0.4 miles) 

Rimrose Hope CE Primary School (0.6 miles) 

St Elizabeth’s Catholic Primary School (1.1 miles) 

 

Maintained Nurseries in Netherton area – L30  

Netherton Moss Primary School (2.5 miles) 

The Grange Primary School (3.2 miles) 

Our Lady of Walsingham Catholic Primary School (2.5 miles) 

St Benedict’s Catholic Primary School (3.4 miles) 

Holy Spirit Primary School (2.4 miles) 

St Oswald’s CE Primary School (2.8 miles) 

 

There are also other nursery providers in the area, which have available places.  More 

information is available at: www.seftondirectory.com/childcare where there is a full list of 

all nursery providers in Sefton. The information service can also be contacted by email at 

fis@sefton.gov.uk or via the Sefton Council Contact Centre on 0345 100 0845. If the 

decision is made to close the school Sefton will arrange for an officer to be available at 

the school to provide details of alternative provision, provide support and answer any 

questions that parents/carers may have. 

The majority of nursery provision in the area has been judged good or outstanding by 
Ofsted.  
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4

http://www.seftondirectory.com/childcare
mailto:fis@sefton.gov.uk


 

 

The procedure for responses:  

A public notice was published in the Champion on 14th November 2018.  The notice is 
displayed at all main entrances to the school.  It is also available on Sefton Council’s 
website at: www.sefton.gov.uk/sanddunes 
 
Within four weeks from the date of publication, any person may send in a response 
supporting, objecting or commenting on the proposal to the School Organisation Team, 
Sefton Council, Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle L20 7AE, or by emailing 
school.organisation@sefton.gov.uk.  The final date for sending in written representations 
is 5pm on 12th December 2018.   

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 30

Agenda Item 4

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/sanddunes
mailto:school.organisation@sefton.gov.uk


 

Report to: Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting: 10 January 2019 

Subject: Local Government Association Peer Review – Action Plan 
 

Report of: Chief Executive 
 

Wards Affected: All Wards 

Portfolio: Leader of the Council 
 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

No  

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No 

 
Summary: 
 
Following the recent LGA Peer Assessment, this report sets out a proposed action plan 
responding to the peer team’s recommendations.  It is presented for Cabinet comments 
and endorsement. 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 

(1) Consider the draft action plan and subject to comment authorise officers to 
progress proposed actions 

 
(2) Request officers to provide regular monitoring reports highlighting progress 

against the approved action plan 
 
 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 
 
Peer Reviews are a proven tool for sector-led and the Council has always been open to 
learning from others and sharing our good practice.   
 
The challenge provided external recognition of the things it believes the Council is doing 
well, highlighted where the Council can learn from other councils in light of best practice 
elsewhere and recommended a number of key actions. 
 
In December 2018 Cabinet considered the LGA peer review report, accepted the 
recommendations and requested the development of an action plan. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:  
 
Not appropriate 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 
Whilst this report does not have direct implications for finances or resources, actions 
within the proposed action plan may have implications. In such cases and where they 
cannot be contained within existing budgets there will be a separate report to Cabinet or 
Cabinet Member seeking approval. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



 
 (B) Capital Costs 
 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): There are no 
implications arising directly out of this report. 
 
 

Legal Implications: There are no implications arising directly out of this report. 
 
 

Equality Implications: 

There are no implications arising directly out of this report. 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 
 

Protect the most vulnerable: 
 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 
 

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
 

Place – leadership and influencer: 
 

Drivers of change and reform:  The Council is a self-aware learning organisation and 
commissioned this peer review from the LGA to assure it plans and learn from best 
practice. The report findings and recommendations will potentially influence future 
plans. 
 
 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: 
 

Greater income for social investment:  
 

Cleaner Greener 
 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD 5486/18) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer 
 (LD 4611/18) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the 
report.  Councillors and Council staff were involved in the review and have received the 
feedback report. 
 
(B) External Consultations  
 
Partners were involved in the peer review process and feedback has been shared with 
partners. 

Page 32

Agenda Item 5



 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting 
 
 

Contact Officer: Jan McMahon 

Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4431 

Email Address: jan.mcmahon@sefton.gov.uk 

 
Appendices: 
 
The following appendices are attached to this report:  
 
Annex A – LGA Peer Review Action Plan 
 
 
Background Papers: 
 
There are no background papers available for inspection. 
 
  

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



 
 
1. Introduction/Background 

 
1.1 The Council commissioned the Local Government Association (LGA) to conduct a 

peer review as an independent check on how the Council is performing in terms of 
planning for and delivering against our ambitious plans for the future. 
 

1.2 The peer review took place in September 2018 and the peer review team was 
made up of experienced elected member and officer peers.  The peer team 
considered the following five core themes:  

 Understanding local context and priority setting 

 Leadership of place 

 Financial planning and viability 

 Organisational leadership and governance and  

 Capacity to deliver.  
 

1.3 In addition to the five core themes the peer review focused on the progress that 
the Council has made in implementing its ‘vision for change’ and the Councils 
approach to commercialisation.   

 
1.4 The peer review team summarised the Council’s strengths as;   
 

• Knowledge of Sefton ‘the place’ is strong. 
• Strong political and managerial leadership. 
• Vision is in place, priorities have been set and transformation plan in place 

– which is significant. 
• Local Plan is in place which has required difficult decisions. 
• MTFP linked to strategy and priorities. 
• Committed and passionate workforce. 
• Strong partner relationships. 
• Self-awareness and willingness to reflect. 
• Successfully managed a 51% reduction in grant funding and put in place a 

3 year budget. 
• Localities model is the right direction 

 
1.5 The following are the peer team’s key recommendations to the Council: 
 
 

A. Prioritise the refresh of the core purpose. This will help ensure the Council’s 
contribution to the delivery of Sefton 2030 by targeting capacity at a carefully 
sequenced set of key priorities. 
 

B. Strengthen corporate performance management. The Cabinet should receive 
a comprehensive, corporate performance management report on a quarterly 
basis.  This report should be accessible and allow the Cabinet to understand the 
progress being made by the Council against the key priorities. A suitable report 
should also be made available to scrutiny. 
 

C. Refresh and make clear form, function, accountability and pace of delivery 
for the localities model. The team acknowledged the ambition being shown by 
moving to this new delivery model and endorsed this as the right direction of travel 
for Sefton.   At this stage it is important the council is clear internally – and with its 
partners on what this will mean locally. 

Page 34

Agenda Item 5



 
 

D. Be clear on the Council’s parameters around commercialisation. This 
requires both officers and members to have a consistent understanding of what 
commercialisation means for the council as well as the options that can be 
considered and those which will not. This will allow the council to focus its efforts 
on the right commercial opportunities for Sefton. 
 

E. Accelerate work on a local economic growth strategy alongside efforts in 
the Liverpool City Region. This will help Sefton benefit more from the 
opportunities presented by the Liverpool City Region and ensure that more 
schemes are in place ready for future funding opportunities. 
 

F. Develop the role of all members in a changing context for local government 
and a changing model of delivery locally. This should reflect the role of all 
members in their communities and the capacity they can attract to support the 
efforts of the Council. This would mean the council more consistently co-
producing solutions with communities and partners. 

 
1.6  Cabinet considered the feedback report in December 2018, the recommendations 

were accepted and Cabinet requested officers to develop an action plan for their 
consideration. 

 
2. Action Plan 
 
2.1 The peer team recognised the Council’s strengths, identified areas for 

consideration and the findings of the peer review strongly reflected the Council’s 
self-assessment.  This means that many of the recommendations made are 
already being actively progressed.   

 
2.2 The draft action plan at Annex A sets out the Council’s proposed response to the 

LGA Peer Challenge’s recommendations and includes actions underway. Cabinet is 
asked to comment on the proposed actions made against the recommendations. 

 
2.3 Members of the LGA peer team will visit the Council over the next twelve to 

eighteen months so assess the progress made and offer additional support and 
challenge.  Cabinet is asked to agree that the progress made against the LGA 
individual recommendations will be reported to Cabinet through existing channels 
and a progress summary will be reported in December 2019.  

 
  

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Annex A 

Recommendation  Context What will good look like? 
 

Proposed Action(s) Owner(s) 

Prioritise the refresh of 
the core purpose 

The Core Purpose was 
refreshed in November 2016 
and approved by Council – at 
that time we said “We will need 
to continually review how this 
Core Purpose is effectively 
communicated to staff and 
communities.” 
 
The Strategic Leadership 
Board (SLB) is currently 
reviewing the Council’s Core 
Purpose with a view to creating 
a clearer narrative around how 
the Council will continue to 
contribute to Vision 2030. 
 
The SLB review will result in a 
set of recommended actions 
which will be considered by 
Cabinet and Council. 
 
The outcome of this work will 
inform the production of the 
next three-year Medium Term 
Financial Plan and associated 
strategies and policies 

The Council’s contribution to 
Vision 2030 is clearly defined 
and articulated in terms of 
action impact and value added  
Narrative and principles 
agreed with Elected Members 
 
Our Core Purpose is clearly 
communicated, understood 
and owned across the Council 
and understood by the 
communities, partners and 
other key stakeholders 
 
A clear planning approach that 
defines the how, the what, the 
when - delivered within a 
financially sustainable 
envelope  
 
The Core Purpose informs 
future Council plans and 
priorities. 
 
Success is celebrated 

Draft narrative and 
principles to be approved 
Q1 2019/20 
 
 
Share key messages with 
workforce, elected 
members, communities and 
partners from Q2 2019/20 
 
Continually review how the 
Core Purpose is effectively 
communicated to staff and 
communities – Ongoing 
 
Assess the impact on the 
delivery of improved 
outcomes - Ongoing 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
Executive 
Leadership 
Team 

Strengthen corporate 
performance 
management. 

Sefton 2030 Vision Outcomes 
Framework already in place 
 
The review of the Core 

Clear understanding of what 
performance management 
activity works well and where 
we need to change or improve 

Access LGA support Q1 
2019/20 
 
Develop the Measures and 

Cabinet 
 
Strategic 
Leadership 

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 5



 

 

Recommendation  Context What will good look like? 
 

Proposed Action(s) Owner(s) 

Purpose will facilitate the 
development of a new 
approach to corporate 
performance management  
 
Service Performance 
management is well embedded 
in most service areas 
 
Some inconsistency of 
approach – One Council 
solution needed 
 
Cabinet, Cabinet Members, 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees, Audit and 
Governance Committee 
already receive several 
service, workforce, risk and 
budget related performance 
data and these will continue. 
 
No overarching corporate 
framework for the Council 
 
Partners open to greater 
sharing of performance 
management approaches and 
reporting 
 
LGA offer of support to 
develop what is right for Sefton 

 
Overarching outcome focused 
framework in place for the 
Council 
 
One Council approach 
underpinned by efficient and 
effective systems with a 
schedule for reporting and 
clear escalation process 
 
Workforce and elected 
members understand how 
performance is measured, the 
impact that we have on our 
communities and feel 
empowered 
 
Our communities are aware of 
performance and future plans  
 
Partnership performance 
management reporting shared 
and joint impact understood 
 
Emphasis on management of 
performance not just 
measurement 
 
Performance Framework 
informs future prioritisation and 
resource allocation 

Indicators associated with 
the Corporate Performance 
Framework Q2 2019/20 
 
 
Share and consult with 
Cabinet and OSC 
Management Board Q2 
2019/20 
 
 
Agree Corporate 
Performance report 
template with Cabinet and 
commence reporting Q3 
2019/20 
 
Agree and resource a data 
and reporting improvement 
programme Q4 2019/20 

Board 
 
Scrutiny 
Committees 

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 5



 

 

Recommendation  Context What will good look like? 
 

Proposed Action(s) Owner(s) 

Refresh and make 
clear form, function, 
accountability and 
pace of delivery for the 
localities model. 

New operating model, new 
roles, evolving workforce 
development plan, prioritised 
plan in place for next steps 
 
Partners are bought in to the 
model and regular meetings in 
place to ensure that joint 
working continues 
 
Internal understanding growing 
but clearer understanding of 
the how is needed 
 
New pathways and policies 
need to be developed whilst 
maintaining current service 
and systems 
 
Need to consider the wider role 
of other teams 
 
LGA endorsed as the right 
direction for Sefton 

Shared narrative is understood 
and owned across the Council 
and partners 
 
Workforce is skilled and 
equipped for new ways of 
working 
 
Increased level of partnership 
working – New Realities 
approach truly embedded  
 
Communities understand how 
to access the new model  
 
Increased levels of community, 
family and personal resilience 
 
Reduced demand  
 
Next phase of Locality working 
defined and planned 

New Head of Communities 
will drive forward this 
agenda 
 
Executive Director will 
continue to champion the 
model with partners and the 
community  
 
Performance of model will 
be developed and 
monitored  
 
This activity will continue to 
be monitored by the 
Framework for Change 
Programme Board and by 
exception Cabinet 
 
Prioritised plan to be 
considered by Cabinet Q2 
2019/20 

Cabinet 
Member  
 
Executive 
Director, 
Andrea 
Watts and 
Head of 
Communities 
 
 

Be clear on the 
Council’s parameters 
around 
commercialisation. 

Council is not new to this type 
of activity 
 
Workforce is  developing their 
own definitions leading to 
mixed messages  
 
Head of Commercial 

Generation of additional funds 
to reinvest in front line Council 
services. 
 
A common and clear 
understanding of the priority 
approaches and initiatives to 
be developed and delivered 

Access LGA support Q1 
2019/20 
 
Cabinet to agree Enterprise 
Strategy Q1 2019/20 
 
Include commercial 
approach in workforce and 

Head of 
Commercial 
Development 

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 5



 

 

Recommendation  Context What will good look like? 
 

Proposed Action(s) Owner(s) 

Development is working with 
teams across the Council to 
develop ideas and explore 
opportunities 
 
Enterprise strategy in 
development  
 
LGA offer of 3 levels of support 
– including masterclasses for 
elected members 
 

 
A clear set of principles to 
inform and guide which 
commercial opportunities are 
brought forward and how  
 
Increased skills and 
confidence amongst 
appropriate managers and 
staff with appropriate support 
 
An effective balancing of risk 
and financial and social return  
 
The enhancement of the 
reputation of the Council 

member development plans 
as appropriate Ongoing 
 
Embed commercial and risk 
awareness culture - 
Ongoing 
 
Approve the Enterprise 
Strategy 
 
Monitor the delivery of the 
priority actions against the 
success criteria. 
 
 
 

Accelerate work on a 
local economic growth 
strategy alongside 
efforts in the Liverpool 
City Region (LCR) 

Growth is a key Pillar in the 
Framework for Change  
 
Growth Programme is 
established and is being 
prioritised 
 
Partners across the Liverpool 
City Region acknowledge our 
“can do approach” 
 
Significant progress, 
opportunities for a strong 
pipeline of projects to increase 
the level of benefit for Sefton  
 

Clear strategy and delivery 
plan for inclusive growth 
 
Prioritised pipeline of projects, 
process that delivers against 
the Council’s economic and 
social objectives  
 
Council/Cabinet approve 
schemes for consideration 
 
Attracting significant Strategic 
Investment Fund support from 
the Combined Authority  
 
Delivery of planned change 

Agree a prioritised pipeline 
of projects 
 
Identify those which should 
be put forward for 
Combined Authority 
consideration Q1 2019/20 
 
Assess and implement the 
capacity required to deliver 
the programme 
 
Continue to champion 
Sefton within the Liverpool 
City Region - Ongoing 
This activity and associated 

Executive 
Director – 
Sarah Kemp 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 5



 

 

Recommendation  Context What will good look like? 
 

Proposed Action(s) Owner(s) 

Capacity is a challenge 
Economic Strategy in 
development 
 
 
 

 
More and better jobs for local 
people 

delivery of agreed plans will 
continue to be monitored by 
Cabinet in line with agreed 
Capital Programme – 
Ongoing  
Key performance measures 
to be included in the 
Performance Framework. 

Develop the role of all 
members in a 
changing context for 
local government and 
a changing model of 
delivery locally. 

Local government is changing  
 
Leadership of Place is strong 
 
Constituency fora are new 
 
Localities model is new  
 
No Member Development 
Programme in place – SLB 
using 21st Century Public 
Servant with workforce 
 
LGA and North West 
Employers offer of support 
 

Constituency Fora are well 
established with increased 
levels of partner and 
community participation 
 
 
Clear understanding and 
ownership of the role of Sefton 
elected members in the current 
and future context. 
 
Elected member development 
needs and skills identified and 
an appropriate development 
programme developed 
Member Development 
Programme implemented and 
embraced by all  
 

Continue to refine, develop 
and promote the 
Constituency Fora - 
Ongoing 
 
Produce an elected 
member development plan 
for consideration by the 
Cabinet Member 
Regulatory, Compliance 
and Corporate Services & 
Overview & Scrutiny - Q2 
2019/20 
 
Identify elected member 
development opportunities 
– Ongoing  
 
Monitoring participation and 
outcomes including 
members satisfaction  

Chief 
Executive & 
Head of 
Corporate 
Resources 

 

 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 5



 

 

Report to: Cabinet 
 
Council  
 

Date of Meeting: 10 January 2019 
 
24 January 2019 

Subject: Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20  

Increase to Long Term Empty Homes Premium & Council Tax 
Base 2019/20 

 

Report of: Head of Corporate 
Resources   
 

Wards Affected: (All Wards) 

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services   
 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan: 

Yes  
 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No 
 

 
Summary: 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide details of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2018/19 review and to recommend no change to the local scheme in 2019/20 for working 
age claimants.  
 
The report asks that Cabinet recommend to Council an increase to the long term empty 
homes premium from 50% to 100% following the outcome of the consultation.   
 
Finally, it presents an updated Council Tax Base for Sefton Council and each Parish 
area for 2019/20.  
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
Cabinet: 
 

1) Note the contents of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2018/19 review. 
 

2) Recommend to Council no changes to the existing Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme for 2019/20 for working age claimants. 

 

3) Note the outcome of the consultation and equality impact assessment on the 
proposal to increase the long-term empty homes premium as set out in Annex B 

 
4) Recommend that Council approves an increase to the long-term empty homes 

premium from 50% to 100% from 1 April 2019, as indicated in section 5.7 of this 
report.  

 
5) Recommend that Council approves the relevant 2019/20 Council Tax Base for 

Sefton Council and each Parish Area as set out in Annex A. 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Council: 
 

1) Note the contents of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2018/19 review. 
 

2) Approve no changes to the existing Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20 
for working age claimants. 

 

3) Note the outcome of the consultation and equality impact assessment on the 
proposal to increase the long-term empty homes premium as set out in Annex B 

 
4) Approve an increase to the long-term empty homes premium from 50% to 100% 

from 1 April 2019, as indicated in section 5.7 of this report.  
 

5) Approve the relevant 2019/20 Council Tax Base for Sefton Council and each 
Parish Area as set out in Annex A. 

 
 
Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 
 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 
Each financial year the Council must consider whether to revise or replace its Local 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme. The Council must approve and adopt the 2019/20 
Council Tax Reduction scheme by 11 March 2019.  Note - the deadline has been moved 
from 31 January to 11 March.  This has been delivered through the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017.  
 
The report comments on the impact of various changes made to the scheme for the 
current year 2018/19 together with the impact of the Government Welfare Reform 
changes. After consideration of the factors outlined in the report it is proposed that the 
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20 remains unchanged for working age 
claimants. 
 

Long-term empty homes premium 
 
Increasing the long-term empty homes premium is intended to encourage owners of 
homes that have been empty for more than two years to bring them back into use. Any 
additional income raised from the premium will help support the provision of Council 
services. 
 
Council Tax Base 
 

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) 
Regulations 2012, as amended, the Council is required to set a tax base for both Sefton 
Council and for each Parish Area for 2019/20 before 31 January 2019. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 
 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme  
 

The Council revised its local Council Tax Reduction Scheme in 2018/19 following a 
consultation process. The changes were introduced in April 2018 and continue to be 

Page 42

Agenda Item 6



 

 

monitored to fully assess the impact. A longer period is needed to fully evaluate the 
impact of the changes and to allow a period of stability for residents claiming Council 
Tax Reduction. As a result, no alternative options for change have been considered for 
2019/20. 
 
Empty Homes Premium 
 
The Council could choose not to increase the long-term empty homes premium; 
however, this would not provide any additional incentive for owners of long-term empty 
homes to bring them back into use. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 
Revenue Costs 
 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 
 
There would be no additional revenue implications because of a decision to retain the 
current scheme. The cost of the current council tax reduction scheme discounts has 
been reflected in the council tax base. 
 
Increase in Long-Term Empty Homes Premium to 100% 
 
Increasing the empty homes premium from 50% to 100% is forecast to increase Council 
Tax income by £225,000 in 2019/20. This income is built into Council Tax Base Option 2 
and will be distributed between Sefton Council and its major preceptors 
 
Council Tax Base 
 
Changes to the council tax base will have an impact on the level of Council Tax 
income transferred from the Collection Fund to the Council’s General Fund in 2019/20. It 
will also impact on the amounts due to the Police and Crime Commissioner, and the Fire 
and Rescue Service in the year. 
 
The following table shows the impact of the changes to the tax base between 2018/19 
and 2019/20. Option 1 assumes that the long-term empty homes premium remains at 
50% in 2019/20. Option 2 assumes that the long-term empty homes premium will 
increase from 50% to 100% in 2019/20. These figures are based on the 2018/19 Council 
Tax levels: 
 

Council Tax Income 
Increase (-) / Decrease (+) 
 

Sefton 
Council 

£000 

Police & 
Crime 
£000 

Fire & 
Rescue 

£000 

Total 
 

£000 

Tax Base Option 1 1,542 180 77 1,799 

Tax Base Option 2 1,735 202 87 2,024 

 
(B) Capital Costs 
 

No capital costs applicable. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 

The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there 
are specific implications, these are set out below: 

 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
 
The proposed options will deliver administrative efficiencies where possible in support of 
the scheme. 
 

Legal Implications: 
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme  
By Section 5 of Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended 
by the Local Government Finance Act 2012) for each financial year each billing 
authority must 
 

a.  Consider whether to revise its Council Tax Reduction Scheme or to replace it 
with another scheme 

 

b.    Make any revision to its scheme, or any replacement scheme, no later than 11 
March in the financial year preceding that for which the revision or replacement 
is to have effect. Note - the deadline has been moved from 31 January to 11 
March.  This has been delivered through the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017.  

 

c. If any revision to a scheme, or any replacement scheme, has the effect of 
reducing or removing a reduction to which any class of person is entitled, the 
revision or replacement must include such transitional provision relating to that 
reduction or removal as the authority thinks fit. 

 

d.  Before revising its scheme or making a replacement scheme, an authority    
     must: 

 

i. Consult any major precepting authority which has power to issue a precept to 

it.  

ii. Publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit, and 

iii. Consult other such persons as it considers are likely to have an interest in   
the operation of the scheme. 

 
Council Tax Empty Property Homes Premium 
 
The statutory provisions which empower the Council to effect the proposed changes are 
set out in this report.   
 
To comply with public law principles of good decision making a consultation on the 
proposals has taken place and the outcomes are detailed in this report.    
 

Equality Implications: 

The equality implications have been identified and mitigated.  

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 

Protect the most vulnerable:  The options proposed will help to maintain fairness, 
consistency and is easier for the customer to understand. Working more effectively with 
Universal Credit Full Service aligns the provision for children, disability housing and 
caring responsibilities.   
 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Not applicable 
 

Commission, broker and provide core services: Not applicable 
 

Place – leadership and influencer: Not applicable 
 

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable 
 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Help people out of financial hardship and 
support people into work. 
 

Greater income for social investment: Not applicable 
 

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable 
 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD.5484/18.....) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD.4609/18....) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report. 
 
(B) External Consultations  
 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 
 
The precepting authorities (Merseyside Fire Service and Merseyside Police) and the 
combined Authority have been informed of the recommendation no change to the local 
scheme for 2019/20.  
 
Empty Homes Premium 
 
A public consultation on the proposal to increase the council tax empty homes premium 
ran for 5 weeks from 29th October 2018 to 3rd December 2018. Details of the proposal 
are set out in this report and a summary of the consultation findings and equality impact 
assessment can be found at Annex B of this report. 
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner for Merseyside supports the Council’s proposals to 
increase the Council Tax premium from 50% to 100% in-line with the new legislation 
from 1 April 2019. 
 

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



 

 

In addition, the Police and Crime Commissioner would also support the Council if it was 
minded to charge up to: - 
 
• 200% premium from 1st April 2020 on properties empty for 5 years or more; and 
• 300% premium from 1st April 2021 on properties empty for 10 years or more 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet 
recommendation to Council and approval by Council 24 January 2018. 
 
 

Contact Officer: Diane Turner, Customer Centric Services Manager   

Telephone Number: 0151 934 3481 

Email Address: diane.turner22@sefton.gov.uk 

 
Appendices: 
 
Annex A: Council Tax Base Report 2019/20. 
Annex B: A summary of feedback from the consultation on increasing the Council Tax 
Long term empty Homes Premium from 50% to 100% and the associated equalities 
impact assessment. 

 
 
Background Papers: 
 
There are no background papers available for inspection. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Introduction/Background 

 

1.1 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 

1.2. Local Council Tax Reduction replaced Council Tax Benefit (CTB) with effect 
from the 1 April 2013.  The Council Tax Reduction Scheme is a discount 
awarded to those on a low income to help towards the cost of their council tax 
bill. It is based on a person’s household and income. The local scheme rules 
only apply to working age council tax payers. Pensioners are protected by 
legislation and must be provided with the level of council tax support specified by 
the Government. 

 
1.3 The total grant of £24.2m transferred to the Council, Police and Crime 

Commissioner, and Fire Service in 2013/14 to fund the local scheme was £3.0m 
(11%) lower than had previously been provided to fund council tax benefit in 
2012/13. As a result, the Council had to introduce changes to the national 
default council tax support scheme in order to ensure that the local council tax 
support scheme was cost neutral.  As the Council was unable to alter the 
pensioner scheme rules, the saving requirement was met by reducing the level 
of support provided to working age claimants and through technical changes to 
empty property discounts. 

 
1.4 The Council is required by law to review the scheme each year irrespective of 

whether it is being amended.  
 
1.5     The Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20 must be agreed by full Council 

by 11th March 2019. 
 
 
 
2.   Review of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2018/19 

 

2.1. Areas Covered by the Scheme Review 
 

To satisfy the requirement to review the Council Tax Reduction Scheme the 
following key areas were evaluated: 

 

  Claimant caseload 

  Scheme expenditure 

  Impact on the most vulnerable claimants 

  Welfare reform changes 

  Council Tax collection 

  Attachment of Benefits 

  Review of scheme principles 

  Council Tax Exceptional Hardship fund 
 

 
2.2 Claimant Caseload 
 

2.3 The table below shows the caseload data at 30th September 2018 compared to 
caseload data at the end of each year since the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
was introduced in 2013/14. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
Year Date Pensioners Working 

Age 
Total Change 

2013/14 03.04.14 14,655 16,025   30,680 n/a 

2014/15 01.04.15 13,925 15,349   29,274    -1,406 

2015/16 31.03.16 13,206 14,886   28,092    -1,182 

2016/17 31.03.17 12,541
23 

14,524
41 

  27,065 -1,027 

2017/18 31.03.18 11,970 14,005   25,975 -1,090 

2018/19 30.09.18 11,650 13,951   25,601   -374 
 

The working age caseload can be split further: 
 

Year Date Employed Other Total Change 

2013/14 03.04.14 2,874 13,151 16,025 n/a 

2014/15 01.04.15 2,748 12,601 15,349 -676 

2015/16 31.03.16 2,504 12,382 14,886 -463 

2016/17 31.03.17 2,193
4 

12,331
97 

14,524
641 

-362 

2017/18 31.03.18 1,900 12,105 14,005 -519 

2018/19 30.09.18 1,763 12,188 13,951 -54 
 
2.4  Pensioner Claimants: Since the initial implementation of the scheme in 2013/14 

the number of Pensioner Claimants has declined in every year. The total change 
in pensioner claimant numbers between 2013/14 and 2017/18 was -2,685, which 
is a reduction of -18.3%. Pensioner claimant numbers have continued to fall in 
2018/19. 

 
2.5 Scheme Expenditure 

 
The following table shows the Council Tax Reduction Scheme Expenditure 
reported in the Revenue Outturn Return compared to the mid-year estimate for 
2018/19: 

 
Year Source Pensioners 

 
£000 

Working 
Age 
£000 

Total 

 
£000 

Change 

 
£000 

2013/14   RO Return 13,305 9,907 23,212 n/a 

2014/15   RO Return 12,152     10,364 22,516 -696 

2015/16   RO Return 11,895       9,760 21,655 -861 

2016/17 RO Return 11,540     10,559 22,099 +444
615 2017/18 RO Return 11,378     10,948 22,326 +227 

2018/19 Estimate 12,634     10,182 22,816 +490 
 

Notes: 
 

1. 2013/14: The split of Pensioner and Working age costs included an estimate 
based on ceased cases so may not provide an accurate basis for comparison. 

 
2. 2016/17: The increase in the total cost included the impact of the reduction in 

claimant contribution, from 20% in 2015/16 to 16% in 2016/17 and the Council 
Tax increase of 3.69% in year. 

 

Page 48

Agenda Item 6



 

 

3. 2018/19 Estimate: Pensioner cost is the amount reported in the 2018 CTB 
return shown below. The working age amount is the difference between the 
pensioner cost and the total cost forecast for the year. 

 
 
2.6  Council Tax Base Return Data 

 

          The following table provides a view of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme     

          expenditure based on weekly payments recorded in early October as reported in    

          the Council Tax Base Return: 
 

Year Source Pensioners 
 

£000 

Working 
Age 
£000 

Total 
 

£000 

Change 
 

£000 

2013 CTB Return 12,602 10,214 22,816 n/a 

2014 CTB Return 12,491 10,260 22,751 -65 

2015 CTB Return 11,991 10,033 22,024 -727 

2016 CTB Return 12,503 9,918 22,421 +397 

2017 CTB Return 12,579 9,816 22,395   -26 

2018 CTB Return 12,634 9,742 22,376   -19 
 

 

2.7  Impact on the most vulnerable claimants 
 

The scheme implemented for 2018/19 continues to address the Council’s 
priorities to minimise the impact on the most vulnerable, by seeking to strike a 
balance between dealing with Council priorities whilst supporting the financially 
vulnerable. The Council, having recognised the impact on communities, has 
introduced a range of mitigating actions, including: 

 
 Provision of an Exceptional Hardship Fund (see Section 2.11) 

 

 Maintenance of core aspects of the Government Housing Benefit scheme 
that provides additional assistance where there are children, disability and 
caring responsibilities. 

 

 Council Tax collection – 12-month instalment payments continue to be 
offered to council tax payers. 

 

 Enforcement action – a sensitive approach was adopted to consider the 
potential vulnerability of Council Tax support claimants. Before cases are 
referred to Enforcement Companies a vetting stage has been introduced 
and cases are dealt with under a separate debt recovery process to 
minimise potential increases in debt. 
 

A role has been created within the Revenues team to monitor vulnerability 
issues and identify areas for improved processes.  For example, care leavers 
and the issue of severe mental impairment, to help ensure that there is an 
effective communication in place to provide awareness. 

 
Regular meetings are held with the Sefton Citizens Advice to discuss ways of fast-

tracking their enquiries and holding recovery action whilst money advice is sought. 

The Revenues, Benefits and Customer Services areas are reviewing all 
Page 49

Agenda Item 6



 

 

documentation to improve signposting to customers to use these services which 

include ‘’drop in’’ dates without the need to make an appointment and late-night 

opening of Citizen Advice Bureau offices. 

 
 

 

 

 

 
2.8  Welfare Reform Changes 
 

The Government has implemented a series of welfare reform changes aimed at cutting 
the cost of welfare payments and providing more incentives to work. These changes 
have had an impact on many claimants and the value of council tax reduction for 
claimants. 

 
Because of the Government making alterations to the Housing Benefit scheme and other 
welfare reform changes, specifically relating to the rollout of Universal Credit, there was a 
need to make some technical changes to the Council’s Local Council Tax Reduction 
scheme, for non-pensioner claimants only, so that both schemes are more aligned.  
Council therefore approved the following changes for the Council’s Local Council Tax 
Reduction scheme for 2018/19 to take effect from 1st April 2018. 

 

The table below provides a summary of the changes implemented for 2018/19  
and the impact as at 12th November 2018: - 
 

Description of the 
change 

Comment 

Fixed Income Period for six 
months 

There are 770 cases with a Fixed Income Period applied.  
 
By setting a Fixed Income Period, Council Tax Reduction does 
not need to be recalculated each month when earnings fluctuate.   
The Benefits Service continue to review the claims to identify 
what the change is and decide if it requires reassessment.   
 
There are some administrative and efficiency savings as Council 
Tax Reduction cases will not be recalculated each month where 
earnings fluctuate. Notification letters are not produced when 
there is no recalculation, revised Council Tax bills are not issued 
and customers do not have a need to contact the Council to ask 
why their Council Tax bill has changed etc.  
 
 

Apply a minimum income 
floor for all Council Tax 
Reduction new claims 
where they have been self-
employed for more than 12 
months. 
 

There are 10 Council Tax Reduction claims where the minimum 
income floor has been applied. All but 2 of the cases resulted in 
the customer not qualifying for Council Tax Reduction as a result 
of the minimum income floor being used.  The low number 
affected is not surprising as the provision only applies to new 
claims. 

Page 50

Agenda Item 6



 

 

This change mirrors the 
rules used in Universal 
Credit 

Temporary absence rules 
for Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Reduction for 
those who leave the 
country for more than four 
weeks.   

No claims have been identified that are affected by this change.    
 
The four-week absence period can be extended by a further four-
weeks if absence is linked to the death of a close relative or up to 
26-weeks in certain other specified circumstances.  

Reform of Bereavement 
benefits 
Bereavement support 
payment is disregarded for 
all other DWP benefits, 
including Housing Benefit 

Currently there is 3 live CTR cases where there is BSP 
(bereavement support payment) recorded on the claim. 

Replicate Income / Capital 
disregard rules for money 
received from We Love 
Manchester Emergency 
fund and London 
Emergencies fund 

No claims have been identified that are affected by this change.  

 

 

 
2.9 Council Tax collection 
 
National Council Tax Collection 2017/18 
 
Official statistics on local authority council tax collection rates for 2017/18, published by 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) on 21 
September 2018, indicated that the national average in-year collection rate for the year 
was 97.1% (down from 97.2% in 2016/17). The average in-year collection rate for 
Metropolitan Districts was 95.4% (unchanged from 95.4% in 2016/17). 
 
Sefton Council Tax Collection 2017/18 
 
The table below shows the amount of Council Tax billed and collected during 
2017/18: 
 

Recorded at 31 March 2018 Liability 
Raised 
£000 

Received 
In Year 

£000 

Collection 
Rate 

% 

    

CTRS Cases - Working Age 3,593 2,574 71.6 

CTRS Cases - Pensioner Age 1,709 1,722 100.8 

Other Council Tax Payers 137,124 132,812 96.9 

Total (in-year collection) 142,426 137,108 96.3 

 
The in-year collection rate reduced from 97.2 % in 2012/13 under the council tax benefit 
system to 96.2% in 2013/14 when council tax support was localised. Since then the 
overall collection rate has remained within a small range from 96.2% to 96.3%. The in-

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



 

 

year collection rate for 2017/18 was 96.3%, which is 0.9% higher than the average for 
Metropolitan Districts. 
 
 
Sefton Council Tax Collection 2018/19 
 
As at 31st October 2018 the in-year Council Tax collection figure was 64.25%. This is a 
drop of 0.5% on the equivalent comparison in 2017/2018. 
 
There are several factors which have contributed to the fall in collection in 2018/2019. 
 

 Roll out of Universal Credit has resulted in delays in customers receiving their 

payments and this has had a knock-on effect regarding their ability to pay Council 

Tax. 

 

 Delays in receiving Attachment of Benefits monies – when a customer already 

subject to an Attachment of Benefit Order moves on to Universal Credit their 

existing Attachment of Benefit Order with the Department for Work and Pensions 

(DWP) is cancelled and has to be resubmitted to the Universal Credit Team. This 

can lead to a period when no deductions are made. 

 

 The number of customers advising the Council that they are seeking insolvency or 

debt advice has increased. In these instances, customers tend not to make 

required Council Tax payments. 

 
 A greater awareness of vulnerability has meant that as soon as an issue is 

identified in most cases recovery action is placed on hold whilst the vulnerability 
aspect is assessed. It may also result in the Council entering into payment 
arrangements which take slightly longer to repay because of a genuine financial 
vulnerability being identified. 

 
 

Attachment of Benefits (AOB) 
 

Since the introduction of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme in April 2013 the number of 
working age Council Tax support claimants falling into arrears grew. One recovery 
option open to the Council in respect of benefit claimants is to apply for an attachment 
of benefits (AOB) via the courts.  Under this option the Court can require a payment of 
up to £3.70 per week to be made by the DWP directly from the claimant’s benefits to 
meet Council Tax arrears. 
 
Payments by AOB do provide some certainty to both the Council and the debtor. For the 
Council, the payments do guarantee regular income from the debtor. For the debtor, 
there is the security of knowing that a debt is being paid by a deduction from their 
benefit. 
 
However, AOB is not a perfect solution to the problem of growing debt for the following 
reasons: - 

 
 An AOB cannot be applied without first having taken the debtor to court to obtain 

Page 52

Agenda Item 6



 

 

a Liability Order. Due to the need to follow the correct legislative timeline for 
obtaining a Liability Order, payment by AOB cannot commence until part way 
through the year. Typically for a bill issued in March the first payments would not 
be made by the DWP until August of the same year.  

 
 Many debtors have arrears outstanding for multiple years Council Tax. An AOB 

can only be used to collect one debt at a time. In addition, current legislation does 
not allow the Council to take any other form of debt recovery (e.g. use of 
Enforcement Agents) whilst an AOB is in place.  To mitigate this, people on AOB 
have been issued letters asking them to contact the Council for advice, to make 
alternate payment arrangements or seek financial advice from Sefton’s Citizens 
Advice.  However, this initiative met with only a few people contacting the 
Revenue Service to make arrangements to pay. 

 
 Collection of Council Tax debt by way of AOB is not the highest priority of debt 

administered by the DWP. Therefore, the level of recovery will be affected when 
people have multiple debts e.g. rent and energy debts are given a higher priority. 

 
 Many new claimants for Council Tax Reduction have already accrued debts 

before an AOB can be considered. 
 

 At the commencement of the scheme the maximum deduction of £3.70 was lower 
than the minimum weekly Council Tax charge for all property bands. The 
minimum contribution of 20% towards the Council Tax was greater than the 
amount that could be collected within the year by AOB. This created a problem of 
debt being carried forward to the following year. Therefore, whilst debt payments 
are being collected regularly the amount of debt at the end of each year kept 
growing.   

 
To try and break the cycle of debt the Council Tax Reduction Scheme was amended 
with effect from 1st April 2016 to reduce the minimum contribution rate to 16%. This rate 
was calculated so that the AOB payment of £3.70 per week was more than would be 
due from Council Tax for many of the claimants. Below is a snapshot of the amount of 
debt being recovered under AOB and the amount of debt still waiting recovery by AOB 
 

 As at 01.04.17 As at 01.04.18 As at 31.10.18 

AOB in Payment £890,256 £916,181 £1,154,826 

No. of Cases 5395 5200 6423 

AOB Pending £2,632,588 £3,216,978 £3,784,434 

No. Of Cases           11496 14083
9809 

16301 

 
A significant number of customers have arrears for more than one financial year. As only 
one Attachment of Benefit Order may be deducted at a time there has been a significant 
increase in the number of pending cases. These cases are effectively stacked up until an 
earlier order is paid.  No recovery action may be taken in the interim and the value of 
such cases is increasing year on year.  
 

 

 

 

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Review of Scheme Principles 
 

The local Council Tax Reduction Scheme is based on five principles and the review is 
summarised below: 

 

Principle (CTRS) Scheme working for non-pensioner 
claimants? 

The Council will continue to 
support work incentives 

Yes – The council continues to operate a system which 
disregards certain amounts of money from customers 
earnings through employment (and self-employment) 
when calculating entitlement. 

 

This results in some additional support to those 
customers receiving Universal Credit (UC) who are in 
low paid work, following the removal of UC work 
allowances from April 2016 

The Council will continue to 
recognise the additional 
needs of our most 
vulnerable residents. 

Yes – The council continues to make additional 
allowances and give additional support to those 
receiving certain DWP sickness benefits, disability 
benefits and benefits for Carers when calculating 
entitlement. 

 

Additionally, the council continues to disregard certain 
disability benefits as income when calculating 
entitlement 

 

Procedures were reviewed for the collection of non- 
payment of Council Tax to ensure non-disproportionate 
impact on the most vulnerable households. Also 
financial budgeting skills and advice is made available 
to all claimants. 

 

The Council Tax Exceptional Hardship Fund – is 
available to those in the greatest financial need with fair 
and transparent criteria for awards. 

Page 54

Agenda Item 6



 

 

The Council will continue to 
recognise the additional 
needs of families with 
children 

Yes – Child Benefit and Child Maintenance payments 
are not taken into account as income when calculating 
entitlement to CTRS. 

 

Additional allowances are given when calculating 
entitlement for where there is a disabled child in the 
family. 

 

The CTRS scheme also mirrors provisions in the 
Housing Benefit scheme by taking child care costs into 
account for low income working families 

 

The Council will continue to include the Family Premium 
when calculating the Council Tax reduction. This was 
removed for all new Housing Benefit claims from May 
2016.  The Council has also chosen not to mirror the 
changes made to Housing Benefit which restrict the 
amount of support given to families with more than two 
children within its CTR scheme.  

The Council supports 
households staying 
together to make better use 
of housing in Sefton and 
reduce homelessness. 

Yes - The amount of Council Tax Reduction taken away 
from a customer when other adults live in the household 
(known as a non-dependant deduction), was reduced in 
2013 and still remains at those lower levels. 

The Council will continue to 
have due regard to the 
Armed Forces Covenant 

Yes – War Disablement and War Widows pensions in 
calculating CTRS, including any Armed Forces 
compensation in accordance with the covenant is 
disregarded. This also includes the service attributable 
element of the armed forces pension could also be 
disregarded as income when calculating entitlement. 

 

 
 

2.11 Council Tax Exceptional Hardship Fund (EHF) 
 

A key feature of the local council tax support scheme was the creation of an exceptional 
hardship fund with an annual budget of £150,000 to help mitigate hardship issues for 
vulnerable working age council tax support claimants.  The fund is used to reduce 
council tax bills when an individual is judged to be facing severe financial hardship. The 
fund is administrated within an agreed policy approved by Cabinet Member for 
Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services. 
 

 

For the purposes of administration, the decision to grant any reduction in liability is 
considered under any one of three categories, which includes “Exceptional Financial 
Hardship - for Council Tax payers who have qualified for support under the Local 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme but who are still experiencing severe financial 
hardship”. 
 

 

The Discretionary Reduction in liability Policy replaced the Council Tax Exceptional 
Hardship Scheme that has been in place since April 2013. That scheme was introduced 
by the Council to mitigate against potential issues that may have arisen because of the 
abolition of Council Tax Benefit and the introduction of the Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme. 
 

 

  The following is a breakdown of awards for period 1st April – 31st October 2018 
 
 839 claimants received an award 

 Total Amount Awarded = £99,173.73 

 Average award £118.20 

 Average length of award = 6 months 

 491 claimants receiving an award have received an award previously 

 261 claimants have received an award on 3 or more occasions 

 139 claimants have received an award on 5 or more occasions 

 Highest number of awards = 10 

 479 claims have been refused 
 
 

 
2.12 Summary of local Council Tax Reduction Scheme Review 2018/19 
 
The number of claimants eligible for support has reduced in each year since 2013/14. 
The number of claimants has continued to reduce in 2018/19. In the first 6 months of the 
year the total number of claimants had reduced by 374 (1.4%) to 25,601 (11,650 
pensioner age and 13,951 working age). 
 
The forecast cost of the scheme has increased by £0.490m (2.2%) in 2018/19 to 
£22.816m (at 30/09/18). This is due to the impact of an average council tax increase of 
6.0% and the offsetting impact of a reduction in claimant numbers. 
 
Welfare Reform Changes introduced since 1 April 2017 are expected to continue to 
increase the cost of providing council tax support in 2019/20. The financial impact will 
depend on the number of claimants affected. 
 
Council Tax in year collection rates fell by 1.0% to 96.2% in 2013/14 after the 
replacement of council tax benefit with the local council tax support scheme. The 
collection rate has remained at a similar level since, with a collection rate of 96.3% 
being achieved in 2017/18. This was 0.9% higher than the average collection rate for all 
Metropolitan Districts. 
 
The Exceptional Hardship Fund continues to operate within budget whilst helping 
mitigate the impact of CTRS on the most vulnerable council tax payers. 
 

The success of the local Council Tax reduction scheme to date and the various 
changes made in previous years indicates that there is no requirement to change the 
scheme in the next financial year. 

 

Page 56

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Therefore, no changes to the existing scheme are proposed for 2019/20. This will allow 
more time to assess the longer term impact of the  changes  made  in 2018/19. It will 
also allow the Council to measure the impact of future welfare changes and will 
provide a period of stability for council tax support claimants. 
 

3. Council Tax Reduction Scheme - Consultation 
 

The statutory provisions are silent on the consultation required when a council is not 
proposing to change its Council Tax reduction scheme. 
 

Letters will be issued to the precepting authorities –  Merseyside Police and 
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service notifying them that no change is being proposed.  
The combined Authority will also be notified of no change.  
 
4. Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme Equality Impact Assessment 
 

Department for Communities and Local Government issued a report in February 2014 
reminding local authorities of their key duties  when  deciding  on  Local Council Tax 
reduction Schemes: 
 

  Public Sector Equality Duty (The Equality Act 2010) 
 

  Duty to mitigate the effects of child poverty (The Child Poverty Act 2010) 
 

  The Armed Forces Covenant 
 

  Duty to prevent Homelessness (The Housing Act 1996) 
 
A detailed equality assessment was undertaken and published as part of the design 
and implementation of CTRS for 2013/14.  This assessment had been reviewed in the 
context of the proposed options for 2016/17 and found there was no disproportionate 
impacts as the mitigating actions put in place for the 2013/14 scheme remained. 
 
The addendum to the original assessment is available on the Council Website to 
review. http://smbc-modgov-01/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42533 
 

 
5.   Proposal to Increase in Long-Term Empty Homes Premium to 100% 
 
5.1   Background 
  
Since 1st April 2013 Councils have been able to charge a council tax premium of up to 
50% on unfurnished properties that have been left empty for more than two-years as a 
means of incentivising owners of these properties to bring them back into use.  The 
decision to charge a 50% empty homes premium in Sefton was approved by the Council 
in January 2013, after consultation with the public and key stakeholders in 2012.  
 
Under current legislation the premium cannot apply to homes that are empty due to the 
occupant living in armed forces accommodation for job-related purposes, or to annexes 
being used as part of a main property.  Furthermore, the council tax system provides 
statutory exemptions for properties left empty for a specific purpose – for example, when 
a person goes into care. However, there is no statutory exemption from the premium for 
properties that are genuinely on the market for sale or letting.  Councils also have 

Page 57

Agenda Item 6

http://smbc-modgov-01/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42533


 

 

powers to apply discretionary discounts in cases where homes are empty due to special 
circumstances – for example, financial hardship, fire or flooding. 
 
The premium may be applied when a property has been empty for two years, 
irrespective of how long its current owner has owned it. Therefore, it is possible for an 
individual to buy a property which has already been empty for two years and be liable for 
the premium immediately.  This scenario may occur if, for instance, the individual does 
not occupy the property immediately because they wish to extend or renovate the 
property. If the long term empty property is occupied for a period of 6 weeks or less it is 
regarded as not having been occupied for the purposes of the two-year period. 
Occupancy of a long-term empty property for more than 6 weeks “resets the clock” for 
this purpose. 
 
5.2   Legislative Changes from 2019/20 onward 
  
The Government has introduced legislation that will allow local authorities to increase the 
empty homes premium to 100% of council tax from 1st April 2019.  
 
The Rating (property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 
2018 received Royal Assent on the 1st November 2018. This legislation allows local 
authorities to charge the following maximum amounts of council tax empty homes 
premium: 
 
• 100% premium from 1st April 2019 on properties empty for 2 years or more; 
• 200% premium from 1st April 2020 on properties empty for 5 years or more; 
• 300% premium from 1st April 2021 on properties empty for 10 years or more. 
 
These are the maximum allowable empty homes premium charges. 
 
The Government has introduced his change because there is a serious shortage of 
decent, affordable housing, and tackling the issue of empty homes, while also seeking to 
ensure that we respect the rights of property-owners, is part of the solution. There are 
currently more than 200,000 properties standing empty in England. As well as being a 
blight on the local community and attracting squatters, vandalism and anti-social 
behaviour, long-term empty properties are a wasted resource when 1.16 million 
households are on social housing waiting lists. Doubling the cap on the premium will 
allow local authorities to strengthen the incentive for owners of empty homes to bring 
them back into use. 
 
The Government recognises that a one-size-fits-all approach is inappropriate, given that 
different areas will have different housing needs and different numbers of long-term 
empty homes. That is why they are keeping the premium as a discretionary discount, 
allowing local authorities to decide whether it is appropriate for their areas, and what 
level of premium should be charged. 
 
5.3   Long-term Empty Homes in Sefton 
 
The introduction of the premium in Sefton has been successful in encouraging owners to 
bring long-term empty properties back into use. The number of accounts paying the 
premium has reduced by 136 (17.3%) from 786 in April 2013 to 650 in August 2018. 
 

Page 58

Agenda Item 6



 

 

As well as charging the empty homes premium, there are other Council initiatives to help 
bring empty homes back into use, this includes offering advice to owners through 
sending regular letters and the Council’s property accreditation scheme that helps empty 
home owners find tenants for their property. The Council’s Housing Standards Team will 
also work with owners to bring their properties back into use. However, in some cases 
enforcement action is required when the property is causing a statutory nuisance and the 
owner is uncooperative or untraceable. 
 
5.4   Proposed Changes from 1 April 2019 
 
It is proposed that the Council increase the premium charge from 50% to 100% in-line 
with the maximum allowable under the new legislation from 1 April 2019, subject to 
consideration of the outcome of the public consultation.  
 
1 April 2019 is the earliest implementation date allowable under the legislation.  
 
The aim of this increase would be to incentivise owners of long-term empty properties to 
bring them back into use. This will increase the stock of available housing in the borough, 
which would assist in achieving the aims of the local development plan. It will also 
increase the amount of council tax income raised from those that continue to leave their 
properties empty. 
 
5.5   Revenue Implications 
 
The proposed change in the long-term empty homes premium from 50% to 100%, is 
forecast to increase the 2019/20 tax base by 126.2 Band D equivalents. 
 
This would give the following increase in Council Tax income in 2019/20: 
 

 2018/19 
Band D 
Charge 

£ 

Additional  
Band D 

Equivalents 

2019/20 
Additional 

Income 
£ 

Sefton Council 1,524.71 126.2 193,000 
Police & Crime Commissioner 177.97 126.2 22,000 
Fire & Rescue Authority 76.56 126.2 10,000 

Total 1,779.24 126.2 225,000 

 
The forecast assumes a 25% reduction in the number of long-term empty homes is 
achieved in 2019/20. The actual number of properties brought back into use could be 
higher or lower than this and will be reflected in future tax base calculations. 
 
Any additional income raised from an increased premium will be used to fund statutory 
services or to keep Council Tax levels down.  
 
5.6   Further Potential increases in future years 
 
It is proposed that a decision on future options to increase the premium charged on 
properties that have been empty for longer than 5 years to 200% from 1 April 2020 and 
those empty for 10 years or more to 300% from 1 April 2021, be deferred until a future 
year pending a review of the impact of the increase proposed in Section 5.4 

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



 

 

5.7 Consultation  
 
The Cabinet is recommended to consider the outcome of the consultation before making 
a decision to recommend to Council the proposed increase in the long-term empty 
homes premium from 50% to 100% from 1 April 2019. 
 
Consultation findings and Equality Impact Assessment can be found in Annex B  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60

Agenda Item 6



 

 

ANNEX A 
SETTING THE COUNCIL TAX BASE FOR 2019/20 

 
1. Setting the Council Tax Base 

 
1.1 The Council Tax Base is the link between the Council’s budget and the level of 

Council Tax.  The tax base will be used to calculate the Council Tax in Sefton, 
once the Council’s budget has been agreed.  The Council is required to calculate 
its own tax base as well as the tax base for each parish council within its 
boundary and have them approved by the 31 January 2019.  
 

1.2 The calculation of the Council Tax Base takes into account many factors such as 
the rate of new building and the trends in people living on their own (Sole 
Occupier Discount).  

 
1.3 The tax base calculation assumes a collection rate of 98.25% in 2019/20, which is 

unchanged from 2018/19. This reflects long-term collection rates. 
 

1.4 From 1 April 2019, the Council has the option to increase the long-term empty 
homes premium from 50% (2018/19 level) up to 100% under new legislation. The 
implications of this option are considered elsewhere in this report. Two alternative 
tax base figures for Sefton Council and each parish area are presented below:  

 Option 1: Long-term empty homes premium remains at 50%. 

 Option 2: Long-term empty homes premium is increased to 100%. 

 
2. Council Tax Base for Sefton Council in 2019/20 

 
2.1 An analysis of the changes between the 2018/19 and the 2019/20 tax base is 

provided in the table below: 
 

 Tax Base for Sefton Council Band D Equivalents 

  2018/20 2019/20 Change 

     
H Dwellings on the Banding List 110,342.6 110,567.1 224.5 
     
Q Exemptions and Discounts    
 Exempt Dwellings -2,007.1 -1,886.3 120.8 
 Disabled Persons Reductions -152.6 -148.3 4.3 
 Sole Occupier & Status Discounts -9,930.6 -9,937.1 -6.5 
 Empty Property Discounts -281.5 -187.9 93.6 

 Total -12,371.8 -12,159.6 212.2 

     
E Empty Homes Premium (50%) 254.9 256.9 2.0 
J Adjustments -647.0 -713.6 -66.6 
Z Council Tax Support Scheme -13,169.0 -12,512.5 656.5 
B Collection Rate Adjustment -1,477.2 -1,495.2 -18.0 
 MOD Properties 7.0 8.0 1.0 
     

 Council Tax Base (Option 1) 82,939.5 83,951.1 1,011.6 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 Continued from previous page    

E Increase Empty Homes Premium to 
100% 

0.0 126.2 126.2 

 Council Tax Base (Option 2) 82,939.5 84,077.3 1,137.8 

 
2.2 The main reason for the changes in the tax base under Option 1 are: 
 

Dwellings on the Banding List: The number of properties on Banding List has 
increased by 204 (0.2%) in the year. 
 
Exempt Dwellings: The number of dwellings subject to a specific exemption 
(Codes A to W) has decreased by 203 (8.1%). This is mainly due to a reduction in 
the number of unoccupied dwellings where occupation is prohibited law (Class G) 
and a reduction in the number of student households (Class N). 
 
Council Tax Support Scheme (CTRS): The number of claimants has continued to 
fall in 2018/19. The amount included in the 2019/20 tax base is based on the 
weekly cost recorded on 30 November 2018. The tax base assumes that claimant 
numbers will continue to fall and an adjustment of 219 Band D equivalents (worth 
approximately £390,000) has been made to the forecast in 2019/20. This is a new 
adjustment and there is a risk that claimant numbers will stabilise or increase over 
the next 12 months leading to a council tax deficit in the year. 

 
3. Council Tax Base in Parish Areas for 2019/20 
 
3.1 There are also new tax base figures for each parish area in 2019/20. The 

following table provides details of the new tax base for each parish under both 
Option 1 and Option 2: 
 

Tax Base for Parish Areas 2019/20 Band D Equivalents 

 Option 1 Option 2 Variation 

Parish of Aintree Village 2,065.5 2,066.9 1.4 
Parish of Formby 9,132.0 9,139.8 7.8 
Parish of Hightown 870.4 870.6 0.2 
Parish of Ince Blundell 167.0 167.2 0.2 
Parish of Little Altcar 333.7 333.9 0.2 
Parish of Lydiate 2,063.8 2,065.2 1.4 
Parish of Maghull 6,640.4 6,647.4 7.0 
Parish of Melling 1,006.6 1,008.7 2.1 
Parish of Sefton 239.7 239.7 0.0 
Parish of Thornton 769.6 770.3 0.7 

 
3.2 The tax base calculation for each of the parish areas is based on the same 

assumptions made in the calculation for Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 62

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Annex B 
 

Increase in Long-Term Empty Homes Premium Consultation Findings  
 
1.   Background 
  
A public consultation ran for 5 weeks from 29th October 2018 to 3rd December 2018.  
 
The consultation requested views on the proposal to increase the premium charge from 
50% to 100% from 1 April 2019.  
 
It also asked for views on further options to increase the premium charged on properties 
that have been empty for longer than 5 years to 200% from 1 April 2020 and those empty 
for 10 years or more to 300% from 1 April 2021. 
 
The consultation was available online and by paper form to download where required. 
Direct mailing was used to contact all Council Tax payers currently liable to pay the 
Empty Homes Premium, and the consultation was promoted internally through the 
service, including the Council’s Empty Homes Team.   
 
Letters about the consultation were also sent to various stakeholders including private 
and registered social landlords and our major preceptors Merseyside Fire & Rescue 
Service, Merseyside Police and Crime Commissioner, and the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority. 
 
Information about the survey was also available at the Sefton Borough libraries and our 
One Stop Shops.  The Council also promoted the Consultation on its website, intranet, 
via a press release and Sefton Council’s social media. 
 
The aim of the survey is to ensure that the views of those Council Tax payers affected, 
other stakeholders and members of the public are considered before the decision is 
made to implement the premium from 1 April 2019 and that any exceptions to the 
premium be considered.  
 
 

1. Consultation Options  

The options consulted on were as follows,  
 
Question 1 How strongly do you agree or disagree with the proposals to double the 
Council tax premium on properties that have been left empty for more than 2 years from 
50 per cent to 100 per cent.  
 
o Strongly agree 
o Agree 
o Neither agree nor disagree 
o Disagree 
o Strongly disagree 
 
Question 2 Do you have any comments relating to this proposal? You may wish to 
highlight any circumstances where this premium should not apply other than those 
examples mentioned earlier that are already exempt from Council Tax. 

Page 63

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
Question 3 How strongly do you agree or disagree with the potential future changes to 
increase the premium to 200 per cent on homes left empty from 5 to 10 years from April 
2020 and to 300 per cent on those empty for more than 10 years from 1 April 2021?   
 
o Strongly agree 
o Agree 
o Neither agree nor disagree 
o Disagree 
o Strongly disagree 
 
Question 4 Do you have any comments relating to the potential future changes to 
increase the premium to 200 per cent on homes left empty from 5 to 10 years from April 
2020 and to 300 per cent on those empty for more than 10 years from 1 April 2021? You 
may wish to highlight any circumstances where this premium should not apply other than 
those examples mentioned earlier that are already exempt from Council Tax. 
 

3. Analysis of survey results  

 

o  In total, there were 129 responses to the on-line consultation, which is relatively 

substantial for a premium affecting only 645 properties.  

 

o  Details of the capacity in which those who responded to the on line survey are 

listed in the table below:- 

(a) A Member of the public  78 

(b) A Local business owner  2 

(c) A landlord of a property in Sefton that isn’t empty  24 

(d) A landlord of a property that is empty 17 

(e) An elected Member  0 

(f) A local charity, voluntary or community organisation  0 

(g) Other (please specify) Executor  4 

 No response provided 4 

 

3.3  Of the 129 respondents to the online Questionnaire, the following postcodes were 

submitted 

 

Postcode breakdown 

Outside 
Sefton 

L20 L21 L22 L23 L30 

9 11 7 6 9 2 

L31 L37 L38 PR8 PR9 
Not 

Completed 

Page 64

Agenda Item 6



 

 

3 7 1 19 19 36 

 

3.4  Responses to questions  

Question 1 How strongly do you agree or disagree with the proposals to double the 

Council tax premium on properties that have been left empty for more than 2 years from 

50 per cent to 100 per cent.  

Strongly agree 51 

Agree 15 

Neither agree nor disagree 7 

Disagree 12 

Strongly disagree 43 

No response provided  1 

 

Question 2 Do you have any comments relating to this proposal? You may wish to 

highlight any circumstances where this premium should not apply other than those 

examples mentioned earlier that are already exempt from Council Tax. 

 Comment 

L20 Most Landlords don’t deliberately leave property’s empty for more 
than a year.  
  
As a property owner, I'm trying to find a tenant. Increased council 
tax penalises me for this. 
 
I agree that increasing the council tax on long term empty 
properties is a fair approach as long as constructive advice is 
available from the council. I feel that the initial exemption of one 
month for vacant unfurnished properties should be extended to two 
months. 
 
There may also be economic reasons for the property being empty. 
Only if the owner does not cooperate with the Council to change 
this should the premium may be in place.  
 
Monies raised should be put towards social housing care. 
 
Why should anyone have to be "incentivised", or to put it another 
way, bullied and forced into occupying, or putting their property up 
for rent, or even for sale, just because it has been empty for a 
certain length of time? It is THEIR house, NOT a COUNCIL house, 
and therefore it is the OWNER's right to choose what they do with 
their property, as long as it is not illegal or anti-social, and all the 
bills are paid. It is irrelevant how long a private house stays empty, 
as long as it is kept in a reasonable state of repair and is not 
causing any problems to the neighbours, so therefore, the owner 
should only have to pay the standard rate of Council Tax like other 
property owners, NOT an inflated rate. It is not up to private 
property owners to solve the Council's housing problem, nor is it up 

Page 65

Agenda Item 6



 

 

to them to be an easy target to solve Sefton Council's financial 
problems. The Council should be targeting those who deliberately 
evade paying Council tax, not ripping off those who do pay - this 
proposal is just wrong. Just because somebody owns a property 
does not mean that they are rich. I inherited my house from my 
parents who worked extremely hard to buy a house which they 
would eventually leave to me; they were very proud of being able 
to do this for me. As well as having a strong emotional attachment 
to the house, I am disabled, on a very low income, and therefore 
unable to renovate the house myself, or pay for a builder to do it. 
Why should I be penalised by having to pay a huge premium? I 
have done nothing wrong, I am not a scrounger who expects 
something for nothing; I pay all the bills on the property. Likewise, 
somebody who is working and on a low income cannot afford to 
pay a builder to renovate their property and so would have to do it 
themselves at weekends and after work - a long job. Why should 
they be penalised with a huge premium?    
 
An excellent proposal. The Council needs to generate revenue in 
any way possible. 
 
The refurbishment of this property is progressing well & being done 
to a high standard. This is taking longer & costing more than we 
anticipated, but the property is in good repair & not causing any 
nuisance or issue for neighbours (with whom we are on very good 
terms) or Sefton Council. The additional imposition of Council Tax 
costs would inevitably lead to financial pressures which could offset 
completion of refurbishment works. We are retired people who are 
doing our best to look after a house that has been in our family 
since 1941.  
 
My property was seriously vandalised by last council tax tenant and 
I just haven't got the funds (in excess of £3000) required for repair 
and replacement. 
 
As a private landlord with one property, our former home, the 
additional financial burden of having an empty property was not 
one i was expecting. Unfortunately, tenants are not perfect and i 
have suffered through non-payment of rent, eviction costs and 
extensive repairs of damage caused by the tenant. 
So, despite having to meet the mortgage on the property while it is 
empty, and pay for repairs the recent changes in council tax cause 
further burden. Originally a 6 month exemption period applied to 
empty properties. That has now reduced to one month. The 
increase in premiums adds further to my financial issues. 
 
It is not my intention that the property remains empty, why would 
it? But additional council tax premiums simply prevent or delay the 
necessary work required to get the property in rental condition. 

L21 If a property is up for sale they should not have to pay the charges.  
 
Your proposal would punish people who are already punished and 

Page 66

Agenda Item 6



 

 

will do nothing to improve the poor housing situation.  There are 
many reasons for houses to be left unoccupied for a length of time 
and none of these are to benefit the owner. Your proposal, and 
indeed your current policy, merely compounds the financial 
hardship.  It would be far more effective to offer help to the owners 
of long term occupied homes to get them ready for sale/rental. 
Loans and grants should be available.  Compulsory purchase could 
also be an option should the owners keep a property empty for two 
years or, perhaps, a commandeering of the property to re rented to 
deserving people with the equivalent of social rent only going to the 
owners.  There are many solutions to the housing shortage and the 
number of unoccupied homes and none of them involve imposing 
what amounts to monthly fines.   
 
Sometimes people own properties that have fallen into disrepair 
and they do not have the funds to renovate it.  
 
I think this possibly to apply to landlords, however I wouldn't agree 
with it for our circumstances. My mother passed away and we have 
been trying to sell her bungalow. Naturally it's in our interests to get 
rid as soon as possible but it's not been as easy as it sounds. The 
property has sold 6 times, but the sale has been withdrawn for one 
reason or another (not due to anything wrong with the property) so 
here we are over 12 months down the line. We are constantly 
worried about the property being broken into because there are no 
police to deal with that. I have emailed many times about recruiting 
more police but she doesn’t reply. The fact is that your council 
probably owns many of the empty properties anyway.  
 

L22 If someone can afford to leave a property empty for that length of 
time they're clearly able to afford it, so the charges are an entirely 
appropriate incentive to correct the commercial priorities. 
 
Unfortunately, I am unaware of all the reasons that people have for 
not paying their council tax on an empty property but the existing 
exclusions should remain. 
 
For small landlords, this is a crippling double penalty when added 
to the already lost the rental income.  Landlords with large 
portfolios (exceeding £1 million) who might have property for 
investment purposes can afford to pay 100%.  
 
No one should be expected to pay more than 100% charge. The 
services for the property are the same for everyone whether the 
property is empty or occupied. In fact, empty properties are not 
impacting on Sefton Council services for a property. 
 
The property needs work and this further expense would further 
delay the work going ahead If the owner is living on a pension may 
be some assistance could be provided. 

L23 As a landlord in Sefton I have previously been impacted by the 

Page 67

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50% additional charge.  I have purchased empty properties which 
have required full renovations before I could find tenants.  As one 
property had already exceeded the 2 years of being empty when I 
purchased it I was liable for the additional council tax charges. This 
I felt was unfair. Surely taking a property which is not liveable and 
has been empty for some time and doing the necessary 
renovations to provide additional affordable homes in the area is a 
good thing and should be rewarded and not punished.  That said I 
agree that properties should not be kept empty and a penalty 
should be in place for those who sit on empty properties. I am 
aware that this can be a problem in some areas I think a fair 
addition to the new rules would be to reset the clock one these 
properties when newly purchased to provide landlords like myself 
the opportunity and incentive to improve living standards within 
Sefton. 
 
There are a number of unused/ derelict buildings and it would be a 
positive result if an increased council tax payment forced the 
owners into letting or selling them, to bring vibrancy to the area. 
However, those with legitimate reasons for leaving the property 
empty should not be penalised. 
 
I think the 100% charge should be applied after 6 months of being 
empty. It is inappropriate to leave a property empty while so many 
people need a home and councils are having financial difficulties.  
 
It might make the owner make more of an effort to get the property 
occupied. 
 
It is crucial that people do not continue to have incentives to leave 
houses empty by the current lower council tax rate, given the 
numbers of homeless people and others who may be living in 
cramped conditions. This increase would hopefully be some 
deterrent. 
 
I think you should look at the finances of the owners of these 
properties. If they live elsewhere it's possible that they can't afford 
more council tax and by taking them to court you would waste even 
more money. I don't think it should be a complete ban on the 
exemption of the 50% tax as it is now.  I even think that is too much 
- isn't the tax for facilities used and if no-one lives there they don't 
use any facilities!  
 
I would suggest the increase should be even larger, say to 200%, 
to have a greater effect on the situation. 
 
It is immoral for people to have unused living accommodation while 
there are so many families without a home. 
 
I feel that a lot of people for good reasons could have a property for 
2 or 3 years empty so 50% seems fairer 
 

Page 68

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Where probate has been granted and the property is for sale 
 
My parents are stuck living next door to an empty property that has 
been that way in excess of 10 years. Owners refuse to sell yet put 
solar shades on a roof that is in a bad state of repair? My elderly 
parents are petrified that squatters will move in and we have no 
way of contacting these selfish owners. My parents and their 
neighbours try to keep the front of the house tidy so it isn't obvious 
what the situation is but are too elderly to continue to keep that up. 
It is a disgrace the place is left to rot. Hit the owners where it hurts - 
in their pocket and this will hopefully make them do something 
about the property.  
 
The government and local authorities are taking a totally simplistic 
view and failing to understand the complex series of factors that 
can cause properties to remain empty, including for example, 
simple lack of market demand, or lack of financial resource on the 
part of the owner to bring dilapidated properties back from the brink 
back into use.....even just these two example factors can have a 
complex inter-relationship, with one interacting on the other.  The 
proper and productive approach to this problem would be to 
abandon the stick (or at least not make it any bigger) and throw a 
carrot or two at it. 
 
I understand why the proposal would be implemented for empty 
properties that could be brought back into use.  However, this 
should not apply to circumstances such as the one that I am in. I 
am executor to my mother's will - she died in January 2015 and 
probate was obtained in May 2015, since when the property has 
been up for sale.  It is a one bedroomed retirement shared 
ownership flat in XX.  It went on the market at £65,000 and has 
been reduced over time to its current asking price of £44,950 and 
has been on the market with two estate agents.  The shared 
ownership is with a Housing Association and they are difficult to 
deal with and I have lost one buyer due to their incompetence.  In 
the meantime, not only do I have to pay council tax at an additional 
50% rate, but I shall have to pay monthly service charges and a 
sinking fund charge if ever it is sold. There will be very little money 
left by the time this all happens. I feel very strongly that I should not 
be having to pay any council tax, as I receive no services 
whatsoever, never mind an additional premium.  Due to myself 
spending lots of my time caring for my mother, I managed to keep 
her out of Sefton's Social Services system, and she never needed 
any additional support from the Council.  Also, the Council itself 
does nothing to help me sell the flat - sale boards are not allowed 
outside the listed building. I am unable to bring the flat into use 
unless it is sold, one of the conditions of the lease is that I am 
unable to rent it out. I am extremely concerned whether there will 
be sufficient funds if the council tax charge is further increased. In 
circumstances where an executor to a will is unable to sell or rent a 
property and can prove that they have done everything possible to 
sell it, there should be an exemption.  

Page 69

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
For someone who is already paying nearly £250.00 a month taking 
it to nearly £400.00 a month is just too much. 
 
 

L30 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

If a property is up for sale, I can’t see how you can penalise people 
who want to sell the property but it is taking longer than they 
wanted.   
 
Property’s that are up for sale should be exempt from the increase.  
 
We have had the house up for sale for 2 years but can't sell it. 
Properties that are on the market and empty should be exempt 
from this. 
 
When properties are left empty when owners have gone into care 
the council should check that they are indeed empty and should 
take the waived council tax payments from the estate when the 
property is sold. 
 
I strongly disagree with this proposal for the following reasons. I 
realise that everyone’s circumstances are different but mine are as 
follows. I inherited the house when my father passed away. After 
being unable to find a buyer for the house I realised that I would 
have to complete some work on the house in order to bring it up to 
a standard to allow me to either sell or rent the property. As I have 
a home, wife and a young family which I need to support finances 
are quite tight. I agree that as I own the empty property I should 
contribute towards the council but asking for double or treble the 
council tax will not only make the payments impossible to afford 
and so just cause stress and anxiety and the possibility of court 
action for not being able to pay and also make it more difficult to 
pay to renovate the house 

L31 I believe the premium should rise due to the current housing 
shortage and this increase may persuade private landlords to sell 
properties that they cannot rent.  
 

L37 I think owners should have an opportunity to make a case to the 
Council to use its discretion to waive the premium where they have 
been unable to sell or bring their properties back into use due to 
other circumstances out of their control. The Council should also 
take the opportunity to provide help and support to owners of long-
term empty homes to assist them in bringing these properties back 
into use. The Council should not waive the premium where owners 
are marketing their property at an inflated price as this will not help 
to increase the supply of affordable homes. 
 
Without room for discretion this is a very unfair tax to increase to 
100%.  not all property is just kept empty sometimes there are 
issues which mean you cannot get a new tenant and therefore are 
being unfairly penalised. 

Page 70

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
Maybe it will force a few sales and reduce pressure on the precious 
B Green Belt you seem so keen to destroy  
 
Council tax should be paid by all if empty or not. 
 
Sheer extortion! An ill-considered 'blanket' approach. Appalling 
because you seem to want to penalise the very people who are 
trying to do the right thing. Our property is vacant again and we (3 
beneficiaries) want to sell the retirement flat and that has been our 
desire since 2004. It has been marketed for sale continuously, 
through estate agents. For a period of about 5 years we rented it to 
a tenant (who has died). The flat is empty again and it is being 
marketed for sale, yet again. Try as we might we cannot sell the 
property which is in a block of retirement flats where other flats are 
regularly up for sale. We are competing with other flat owners 
(sellers) on the same site. The residents are all elderly so any 
would-be buyers have to be over 60 thereby creating a 'niche' 
market.  
 
It should be imposed after 1 year. 2 years is far too generous. 
 
I believe that a 50% initial increase is sufficient. 
 
When a property has genuinely been on the market with local 
estate agents the extra premium should not apply. When you are 
paying over £200 a month in management fees there is absolutely 
no reason to keep a property empty, which has been my personal 
experience. "Largely unfurnished" is too open to personal 
interpretation by council staff.   

PR8 Awaiting planning permission (this process can sometimes be 
protracted and out of the control of the property owner) 
 
If somebody can afford to have an empty house they should be 
able to afford to contribute to the council tax fund also. 
There are too many vacant properties in the Borough, I also think if 
a property has been vacant for 5 years or more, the owners should 
lose the right to ownership and it automatically transfers to the 
Council, this if obviously where the owner can't be bothered to deal 
with any issues with the property 
 
Instead of increasing to 100% make it 150 - 200% This will force 
owners to get tenants or sell.  Why does Sefton Council not 
Compulsory Purchase empty homes to use for homeless? 
 
This proposal, and the current 50% premium does NOT incentivise 
home owners of empty properties to "bring them back into use" as:  
You are charging more tax, therefore the owner has LESS money 
to sort their house out and 'bring it back into use'. Therefore, 
prolonging the period of time that the house will be empty.   I 
believe that if the owner of the property is renovating it BEFORE 
they live in it or consequently sell the property, they should be 

Page 71

Agenda Item 6



 

 

exempt as the long-term plan is to "bring the property back into 
use". To ensure that this is true, council inspectors or a written 
council policy to state that all work undertaken on the property has 
to be evidenced and sent to the council.  
 
Strongly object as purchased with intent to downsize but having to 
wait to move as husband became ill and would not be suitable, will 
move to property on husband's death.  Your proposal is just a 
punishment for anyone trying to plan responsibly.   
 
What about an empty property that is up for sale but is not selling?  
They should not be penalised because of stagnant housing market. 
 
We would not have properties standing empty for no reason, it 
would be either because there was work needed doing to it or we 
were unable to find a tenant, the fact that we have to pay council 
tax from day 1 is already crippling without increasing it further  
 
As a Expat visiting my own fully furnished property for family visits 
as well as family members using it , If the council puts up the taxes 
I shall have to let it out for shorts lets which benefits neither I nor 
the Council. As someone using less public services the extra 
surcharge is unfair. This is our only home in the UK. Mine is not 
empty but is taxed as if it was. 
 
I can accept that an empty property may warrant a 100% tax as the 
council is losing income on empty properties.   
 
I (together with my brother) purchased an apartment on Lord Street 
for my mother to live in when she was in her 80s.  She died, aged 
101, 18 months ago and the property has been for sale since that 
time. The lease prevents us from letting it, or from selling it to 
someone under 55, or from selling it to a third party (eg the 
Council). We have offered it to the ground landlord without 
success. Each month it is unsold we have to pay approx. £500 
Service Charge plus 100% Council Tax even though we receive no 
services from either RSL or the Council. I am a resident of Sefton 
and also pay full Council tax on the house I share with my wife.  
We have had the apartment redecorated to a high standard and we 
do use it whilst we are overnighting in Southport but we wish to 
sell. The purpose of the legislation is presumably to bring unused 
property to the market. We have been trying to sell for 18 months; 
it is currently listed at a price lower than others in the building. You 
should either target the ground landlords who enforce the 
restrictive conditions in the lease or make an exception for "very 
sheltered accommodation". 
 
I just need to know if I can no longer manage the property will you 
take it off me. I have no other income but my husbands and 
disability pips.  I have mental health issues, at the moment my 
husband is my carer. I do not come under the heading without 
capacity though if I am sick I would come under that category. I 

Page 72

Agenda Item 6



 

 

own no other property.  The flat I own is not occupied but I would 
say it is my second home should I become homeless for whatever 
reason. I did approach your offices for help but they told me if no 
one was living there it was empty (however, it is furnished) so I 
would just have to carry on paying council tax. I don't really know 
what to do.  I can't sell it the lady in the flat below has a life 
threatening illness. They have told me so over a period of several 
years. I find it difficult to cope. 
 
I always considered that a tax or rate had to be fair. If you are 
using the facilities you should pay for them. I already pay rates to 
Sefton as I live in their Borough. I have another property that I 
purchased to house my elderly mother who was a war widow. She 
died late last year and I put the flat up for sale. It will not sell 
because there are a number for sale and the service charge is so 
high. I don’t use the council’s facilities and I am desperately trying 
to sell but nobody wants to buy. I am currently paying 50% rates for 
a flat that nobody lives in nor uses any of the services that the 
Council provide. To increase the empty rate from 50% to 100% 
(and subsequently 200% and 300%) on a property that I am 
desperately trying to sell is patently unfair. The proposed increase 
was to target landlords who are deliberately leaving properties 
empty and not renting them out to tenants. This isn’t the case with 
my circumstances. I know that Councils are strapped for cash and 
they will simply introduce this measure to increase revenue. I have 
the feeling that anything I write will eventually be ignored as raising 
money is paramount. I simply reiterate that the tax/rates must be 
fair. 
 
I cannot afford the mortgage I have on the property let alone 
increased council tax.! 

PR9 I would love you to raise it to 100% considering the empty flat  I am 
trying to sell is costing me 150% of the rateable value into the 
second year of being on the market. 
 
Authorities should be allowed to take all necessary steps to bring 
empty properties back into use. This should include compulsory 
purchase rather than increased Council Tax where property has 
been empty for 5 years or more.  
 
The whole point of council tax is to charge an occupant for using 
council services.  If the property is empty there should actually be a 
nil charge never mind a 100% charge because there are no costs 
to the council. 
 
I am becoming elderly with an elderly husband and mobility 
problems and increasingly struggle to manage the only flat l own 
that is attached to and accessed via my own flat entrance. I have 
had really bad tenants and am reaching the point of not feeling 
able to go on renting emotionally and physically. If these council 
tax changes come into effect l will have to choose between bills l 
would struggle to pay, continuing to rent regardless of my health or 

Page 73

Agenda Item 6



 

 

selling the whole property. 
 
Great care must be taken to ensure the owner is not vulnerable. 
Penalties should be in place for any council staff member who fails 
to exercise due diligence. 
 
I have been trying to sell my house for 3 yrs over this period I have 
reduced the price by 80k in a desperate effort to sell. Some 
understanding from the council for those actively trying to sell 
would help enormously. I do agree those empty houses not for sale 
should have incentives to bring them back into homes. But this 
blunt instrument without some consideration for those of us already 
stressed about when will this house stop eating into my pension 
may just be seen as yet another way of bleed the tax payer. 
 
Empty properties often fall into disrepair and neglect, and are not 
nice to see.  
 
If not exempt and unwilling to sell or rent out, then the premium 
seems fair.  Perhaps consideration should be given for discretion to 
waive the premium in genuine cases of inability to sell or rent out a 
property. 
 
This is daylight robbery ! Sefton council still get paid the council tax 
whether the building is empty or not ? It should infect be reduced 
for empty properties as none of the services are being used if the 
property is empty ! Just sheer greed! 
 
I think this is an excellent proposal as homes left empty for that 
long will tend to be neglected damaging the neighbourhood  
 
There is a housing crisis whilst some of the wealthiest people are 
leaving properties to lay empty and unused, accumulating personal 
wealth at the expense of the majority. I fully support increasing the 
council tax levied.  The only slight disagreement I have is the 
suggestion that this is a doubling of the council tax levied. What it 
is is a removal of a discount in council tax that has previously been 
applied. 
 
Three years would be fairer than two. My property is empty 
because I cannot sell it at a reasonable price due to Brexit 
uncertainty. It remains on the market, but I have had few viewings 
and fewer offers, all well below comparable prices. 
 
As an owner of a Residential Care Home we have a Cottage in the 
grounds.  We cannot just rent this property out to anyone.  The 
tenant has to have an enhanced DBS check, related someway to 
the business i.e. a member of staff.  This significantly reduces the 
chance of renting out this property. CQC would not allow us to rent 
the property out to anyone due to the Vulnerability of the elderly 
people living in the Care Home.  The cottage is also connected 
with all Fire related incidents.  We test the Fire alarm weekly at the 

Page 74

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Care Home which is also sounded in the Cottage.  If the Fire alarm 
went off it would also go off in the cottage.  There are lots of issues 
associated with the suitability of the Tenant. We manage a 
retirement complex of 37 rental properties which have on average 
five or six empty at any one time .  These properties are advertised 
weekly but it does not result in the properties all being let.  We pay 
out enough in council tax already and to increase this further would 
be being penalised for a lack of suitable tenants that fit the criteria.   
 
My mother owns a flat in XX. Mum is 86 years old and she lives in 
a care home as she has dementia. I have an Order from the Court 
of Protection which allows me to act for Mum and part of that 
regime is that I need to show that I have acted in Mum’s best 
interest and taken advice where necessary. Father passed away in 
2007. Both Mum and Dad worked hard and saved in order that 
they would be reasonably if modestly provided in their later years. 
Part of the planning was the purchase of the flat.  Over the past 
year I consulted with a financial adviser and Mum’s solicitor. As a 
result, I concluded that there is little point as in selling the flat as 
interest rates are so low. The flat needs major improvements, 
particularly in the bathroom and the kitchen. If Mum funded these 
improvements and let the flat, it would time quite a while to recover 
the outlay. In addition, the cost of the works would deplete the pool 
of money Mum has to pay for her care.  Currently Mum pays the 
standard levy plus 50%. The proposal is that she now pay even 
more council tax. Mum is basically confined to her care home and 
uses very little of the services provided by the local authority, but 
the proposal is for Mum to pay a further increased penalty simply 
because she has poor health.    
 
This must rank as the most ill thought out proposal since the 
bedroom tax. If you have a property to sell with a registered estate 
agent, why should you be penalised, because the market is 
suppressed and is difficult to sell. Unless you sell under market 
value, which I did, after trying to sell for two and a half years, 
paying 50% extra tax, just to get rid.   
 
The Empty Homes premium should be 100% only and should be 
for properties of £100,000 or over, not for property less than that 
amount as you are punishing poor people.  

Outside 
Sefton 

If the home is being advertised for rent, then this should not apply. I 
have a house that is in very good condition (newly refurbished), but 
still we are having trouble finding a tenant. 
 
Empty retirement flat belonging to my deceased father has been on 
market for 2 years - have reduced price but still no sale - I am 
paying maintenance charges and council tax outside my own area 
out of my savings - whilst I understand basic council tax has to be 
paid I think it is unfair to expect executors to pay an additional 
premium when there is nothing more they can do to sell the 
property.  
 

Page 75

Agenda Item 6



 

 

As a landlord if we had an empty property we would still have a 
mortgage to pay, and I feel it would be unfair to punish us further. 
 
Fully in agreement if no effort is being made to have the property 
occupied. However, I have had the property in Sefton on the 
market for sale ever since my mother passed away in May 2017. 
The lease does not allow me to let the apartment, and it can only 
be occupied by someone over 50. To charge 200% of the Council 
Tax seems totally unfair when I am doing everything I can to sell it. 
Surely in these circumstances, empty properties should also be 
exempt. 
 
I most certainly agree considering that Sefton is at present 
charging me 150% rates for an empty flat that I am desperately 
trying to sell. A 100% rate would be a relief to this pensioner. 
 
Depends on the circumstances as to why a property is unoccupied. 
An increase is unfair to those who intend to live in the property but 
can't at present due to extensive renovations to make a property 
habitable (council tax deductions with his regard are currently not 
sufficient with respect to the period of availability). Therefore, this 
only extends the period the property is uninhabitable and vacant 
due to unavailable cashflow to do the work. 
 

 

 

Question 3 How strongly do you agree or disagree with the potential future changes to 

increase the premium to 200 per cent on homes left empty from 5 to 10 years from April 

2020 and to 300 per cent on those empty for more than 10 years from 1 April 2021?   

 

Strongly agree 48 

Agree 15 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 

Disagree 10 

Strongly disagree 46 

No response provided  1 

 

 

Question 4 Do you have any comments relating to the potential future changes to 

increase the premium to 200 per cent on homes left empty from 5 to 10 years from April 

2020 and to 300 per cent on those empty for more than 10 years from 1 April 2021? You 

may wish to highlight any circumstances where this premium should not apply other than 

those examples mentioned earlier that are already exempt from Council Tax.  

 Comment 

L20 how many council houses are empty.   
 

Page 76

Agenda Item 6



 

 

There is no reason for properties to be left empty for extended 
periods. 
 
Positive proposals work better than simply "fine". I suppose 
landlords/owners have no real reason to have property empty.  
 
How can you charge for a property that isn't using any services?  
 
All the points that I have made in the previous question apply equally 
to this question. Also, the proposal to charge such inflated premiums 
is not only morally wrong, but will not work anyway: On one hand, 
you say that you are trying to encourage property owners to put more 
homes back into use. On the other hand, you say that you want to 
raise more money from the owners of empty properties- you are 
contradicting yourselves! If more properties get put back into use, 
you will get LESS money as the occupiers will only be paying Council 
Tax at the standard rate; not at the ridiculously inflated premiums 
that you are proposing if the properties were to remain empty - it 
doesn't work both ways!! 
 
An excellent proposal. The Council needs to generate revenue in any 
way possible. 
 
We think it would be helpful to consider properties on a case by case 
basis. It should be used to target those properties which are in poor 
repair and/or causing issues for neighbouring properties, the local 
community or the Council. We do not think that these costs should 
go over 150% for properties like ours which are in good repair & 
undergoing further renovations as we are doing our very best to carry 
out improvements as effectively & efficiently as possible. 
 
If council tax is paid I can see no justification to double or treble that. 
 

L21 If a property is up for sale they should not have to pay the charges. It 
is unfair for people who are actively trying to sell their empty property 
to impose these high charges when they may already be paying a 
mortgage and council tax on the empty property AND the property 
they live in.  
 
Your proposal would punish people who are already punished and 
will do nothing to improve the poor housing situation.  There are 
many reasons for houses to be left unoccupied for a length of time 
and none of these are to benefit the owner. Your proposal, and 
indeed your current policy, merely compounds the financial hardship.  
It would be far more effective to offer help to the owners of long term 
occupied homes to get them ready for sale/rental. Loans and grants 
should be available.  Compulsory purchase could also be an option 
should the owners keep a property empty for two years or, perhaps, 
a commandeering of the property to re rented to deserving people 
with the equivalent of social rent only going to the owners.  There are 
many solutions to the housing shortage and the number of 
unoccupied homes and none of them involve imposing what amounts 

Page 77

Agenda Item 6



 

 

to monthly fines 
 
I feel that increasing the premium would result in landlords creating 
fake tenancies in order to avoid making payment.  
 

L22 If someone can afford to leave a property empty for that length of 
time they're clearly able to afford it, so the charges are an entirely 
appropriate incentive to correct the commercial priorities. 
 
Unfortunately, I am unaware of all the reasons that people have for 
not paying their council tax on an empty property but the existing 
exclusions should remain. 
 
The increase in costs will mean rents for everyone will have to go up. 
 

L23 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As a landlord in Sefton I have previously been impacted by the 50% 
additional charge.  I have purchased empty properties which have 
required full renovations before I could find tenants.  As one property 
had already exceeded the 2years of being empty when I purchased it 
I was liable for the additional council tax charges.  This I felt was 
unfair. Surely taking a property which is not liveable and has been 
empty for some time and doing the necessary renovations to provide 
additional affordable homes in the area is a good thing and should be 
rewarded and not punished.  That said I agree that properties should 
not be kept empty and a penalty should be in place for those who sit 
on empty properties. I am aware that this can be a problem in some 
areas I think a fair addition to the new rules would be to reset the 
clock one these properties when newly purchased to provide 
landlords like myself the opportunity and incentive to improve living 
standards within Sefton. 
 
There are a number of unused/ derelict buildings and it would be a 
positive result if an increased council tax payment forced the owners 
into letting or selling them, to bring vibrancy to the area. However, 
those with legitimate reasons for leaving the property empty should 
not be penalised. 
 
I think the 100%charge should be applied after 6 months of being 
empty. It is inappropriate to leave a property empty while so many 
people need a home and councils are having financial difficulties.  
 
It might make the owner make more of an effort to get the property 
occupied. 
 
It is crucial that people do not continue to have incentives to leave 
houses empty by the current lower council tax rate, given the 
numbers of homeless people and others who may be living in 
cramped conditions. This increase would hopefully be some 
deterrent. 
 
I think you should look at the finances of the owners of these 

Page 78

Agenda Item 6



 

 

properties. If they live elsewhere it's possible that they can't afford 
more council tax and by taking them to court you would waste even 
more money. I don't think it should be a complete ban on the 
exemption of the 50% tax as it is now.  I even think that is too much - 
isn't the tax for facilities used and if no-one lives there they don't use 
any facilities!  
 
I would suggest the increase should be even larger, say to 200%, to 
have a greater effect on the situation. 
 
It is immoral for people to have unused living accommodation while 
there are so many families without a home. 
 
I feel that a lot of people for good reasons could have a property for 2 
or 3 years empty so 50% seems fairer. 
 
Where probate has been granted and the property is for sale 
 
My parents are stuck living next door to an empty property that has 
been that way in excess of 10 years. Owners refuse to sell yet put 
solar shades on a roof that is in a bad state of affair? My elderly 
parents are petrified that squatters will move in and we have no way 
of contacting these selfish owners. My parents and their neighbours 
try to keep the front of the house tidy so it isn't obvious what the 
situation is but are too elderly to continue to keep that up. It is a 
disgrace the place is left to rot. Hit the owners where it hurts - in their 
pocket and this will hopefully make them do something about the 
property.  
 
The government and local authorities are taking a totally simplistic 
view and failing to understand the complex series of factors that can 
cause properties to remain empty, including for example, simple lack 
of market demand, or lack of financial resource on the part of the 
owner to bring dilapidated properties back from the brink back into 
use.....even just these two example factors can have a complex inter-
relationship, with one interacting on the other. The proper and 
productive approach to this problem would be to abandon the stick 
(or at least not make it any bigger) and throw a carrot or two at it. 
 
I understand why the proposal would be implemented for empty 
properties that could be brought back into use.  However, this should 
not apply to circumstances such as the one that I am in. I am 
executor to my mother's will - she died in January 2015 and probate 
was obtained in May 2015, since when the property has been up for 
sale.  It is a one bedroomed retirement shared ownership flat in XX.  
It went on the market at £65,000 and has been reduced over time to 
its current asking price of £44,950 and has been on the market with 
two estate agents.  The shared ownership is with a Housing 
Association and they are difficult to deal with and I have lost one 
buyer due to their incompetence.  In the meantime, not only do I 
have to pay council tax at an additional 50% rate, but I shall have to 
pay monthly service charges and a sinking fund charge if ever it is 

Page 79

Agenda Item 6



 

 

sold. There will be very little money left by the time this all happens. I 
feel very strongly that I should not be having to pay any council tax, 
as I receive no services whatsoever, never mind an additional 
premium.  Due to myself spending lots of my time caring for my 
mother, I managed to keep her out of Sefton's Social Services 
system, and she never needed any additional support from the 
Council.  Also, the Council itself does nothing to help me sell the flat - 
sale boards are not allowed outside the listed building. I am unable to 
bring the flat into use unless it is sold, one of the conditions of the 
lease is that I am unable to rent it out. I am extremely concerned 
whether there will be sufficient funds if the council tax charge is 
further increased. In circumstances where an executor to a will is 
unable to sell or rent a property and can prove that they have done 
everything possible to sell it, there should be an exemption. 
 

L30 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

If a property is up for sale, I can’t see how you can penalise people 
who want to sell the property but it is taking longer than they wanted.   
 
Property’s that are up for sale should be exempt from the increase.  
 
We have had the house up for sale for 2 years but can't sell it. 
Properties that are on the market and empty should be exempt from 
this. 
 
When properties are left empty when owners have gone into care the 
council should check that they are indeed empty and should take the 
waived council tax payments from the estate when the property is 
sold. 

L31 I believe the premium should rise the current housing shortage and 
this increase may persuade private landlords to sell properties that 
they cannot rent  
 

L37 I think owners should have an opportunity to make a case to the 
Council to use its discretion to waive the premium where they have 
been unable to sell or bring their properties back into use due to 
other circumstances out of their control. The Council should also take 
the opportunity to provide help and support to owners of long-term 
empty homes to assist them in bringing these properties back into 
use. The Council should not waive the premium where owners are 
marketing their property at an inflated price as this will not help to 
increase the supply of affordable homes. 
 
Without room for discretion this is a very unfair tax to increase to 
100%.  not all property is just kept empty sometimes there are issues 
which mean you cannot get a new tenant and therefore are being 
unfairly penalised. 
 
Maybe it will force a few sales and reduce pressure on the precious 
B Green Belt you seem so keen to destroy  
 

Page 80

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Council tax should be paid by all if empty or not 
 
Sheer extortion! An ill-considered 'blanket' approach. Appalling 
because you seem to want to penalise the very people who are 
trying to do the right thing. Our property is vacant again and we (3 
beneficiaries) want to sell the retirement flat and that has been our 
desire since 2004. It has been marketed for sale continuously, 
through estate agents. For a period of about 5 years we rented it to a 
tenant (who has died). The flat is empty again and it is being 
marketed for sale, yet again. Try as we might we cannot sell the 
property which is in a block of retirement flats where other flats are 
regularly up for sale. We are competing with other flat owners 
(sellers) on the same site. The residents are all elderly so any would-
be buyers have to be over 60 thereby creating a 'niche' market.  
 
Make it 200% after 2 years 
 
Other measures should be put into place to bring the properties back 
into use, looking at the reasons why the properties remain empty 
rather than just applying a financial penalty.   
 

PR8 Awaiting planning permission (this process can sometimes be 
protracted and out of the control of the property owner) 
 
If somebody can afford to have an empty house the. They should be 
able to afford to contribute to the council tax fund also.  
 
There are too many vacant properties in the Borough, I also think if a 
property has been vacant for 5 years or more, the owners should 
lose the right to ownership and it automatically transfers to the 
Council, this if obviously where the owner can't be bothered to deal 
with any issues with the property 
 
Instead of increasing to 100% make it 150 - 200% This will force 
owners to get tenants or sell.  Why does Sefton Council not 
Compulsory Purchase empty homes to use for homeless? 
 
This proposal, and the current 50% premium does NOT incentivise 
home owners of empty properties to "bring them back into use" as:  
You are charging more tax, therefore the owner has LESS money to 
sort their house out and 'bring it back into use'. Therefore, prolonging 
the period of time that the house will be empty.   I believe that if the 
owner of the property is renovating it BEFORE they live in it or 
consequently sell the property, they should be exempt as the long-
term plan is to "bring the property  back into use". To ensure that this 
is true, council inspectors or a written council policy to state that all 
work undertaken on the property has to be evidenced and sent to the 
council.  
 
Strongly object as purchased with intent to downsize but having to 
wait to move as husband became ill and would not be suitable, will 
move to property on husband's death.  Your proposal is just a 

Page 81

Agenda Item 6



 

 

punishment for anyone trying to plan responsibly.   
 
What about an empty property that is up for sale but is not selling?  
They should not be penalised because of stagnant housing market. 
 
I strongly disagree with both these proposals as it is exorbitant. Why 
should you be penalized unfairly for owning a property that you do 
not want to rent out because of all the problems that this may entail 
(watch channel 5) or sell because of the state of the current housing 
market where we are likely to lose money. The property in question 
was purchase from our pensions and savings for one of our daughter 
who was going to get a mortgage and repay us. However, she has 
since married and purchased a property with her husband having 
taken out a large mortgage. All the costs of the property in question 
has reverted to us, her parents, who are pensioners and do not want 
to get into renting. Why should we be penalised further if we pay 
100% Council Tax. It certainly will not win you or the government any 
votes. I'm totally disillusioned with you all so expect that this is just a 
way of telling us what you intend to do no matter what is said.  
 
It would be more equitable if the Council compulsorily purchased 
such accommodation. 
 

PR9 I would love you to raise it to 100% considering the empty flat  I am 
trying to sell is costing me 150% of the rateable value into the 
second year of being on the market. 
 
Authorities should be allowed to take all necessary steps to bring 
empty properties back into use. This should include compulsory 
purchase rather than increased Council Tax where property has 
been empty for 5 years or more.  
 
The whole point of Council Tax is to charge an occupant for using 
council services.  If the property is empty there should actually be a 
nil charge never mind a 100% charge because there are no costs to 
the council. 
 
I am becoming elderly with an elderly husband and mobility problems 
and increasingly struggle to manage the only flat l own that is 
attached to and accessed via my own flat entrance. I have had really 
bad tenants and am reaching the point of not feeling able to go on 
renting emotionally and physically. If these council tax changes come 
into effect l will have to choose between bills l would struggle to pay, 
continuing to rent regardless of my health or selling the whole 
property. 
 
Great care must be taken to ensure the owner is not vulnerable. 
Penalties should be in place for any council staff member who fails to 
exercise due diligence. 
 
I have been trying to sell my house for 3 yrs over this period I have 
reduced the price by 80k in a desperate effort to sell. Some 

Page 82

Agenda Item 6



 

 

understanding from the council for those actively trying to sell would 
help enormously. I do agree those empty houses not for sale should 
have incentives to bring them back into homes. But this blunt 
instrument without some consideration for those of us already 
stressed about when will this house stop eating into my pension may 
just be seen as yet another way of bleed the taxpayer. 
 
Empty properties often fall into disrepair and neglect, and are not 
nice to see.  
 
If not exempt and unwilling to sell or rent out, then the premium 
seems fair.  Perhaps consideration should be given for discretion to 
waive the premium in genuine cases of inability to sell or rent out a 
property. 
 
This is daylight robbery! Sefton council still get paid the council tax 
whether the building is empty or not? It should in fact be reduced for 
empty properties as none of the services are being used if the 
property is empty! Just sheer greed!  
 
I think this is an excellent proposal as homes left empty for that long 
will tend to be neglected damaging the neighbourhood.   
 
There is a housing crisis whilst some of the wealthiest people are 
leaving properties to lay empty and unused, accumulating personal 
wealth at the expense of the majority. I fully support increasing the 
council tax levied.  The only slight disagreement I have is the 
suggestion that this is a doubling of the council tax levied. What it is 
is a removal of a discount in council tax that has previously been 
applied. 
 
Three years would be fairer than two. My property is empty because 
I cannot sell it at a reasonable price due to Brexit uncertainty. It 
remains on the market, but I have had few viewings and fewer offers, 
all well below comparable prices. 
 
As mentioned we are very limited to whom we can rent the property 
to due to the exceptional circumstances related to the "ideal tenant".  
I think this needs to be looked into in much more detail and not just a 
blanket increase which suits all as this is not the case.  If this did 
happen then the cost would be passed onto our service users which I 
do not think is fair. 
 
Most responsible landlords do their best to let properties to suitable 
tenants if a property has been empty as long as ten years it is most 
likely derelict. Taxpayers are disgruntled at paying 50% Premium 
Tax. Can't see collection rates rising if Premium Tax is increased 
excessively. 
 

Outside 
Sefton 

If the home is being advertised for rent, then this should not apply. I 
have a house that is in very good condition (newly refurbished), but 
still we are having trouble finding a tenant. 

Page 83

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
Empty retirement flat belonging to my deceased father has been on 
market for 2 years - have reduced price but still no sale - I am paying 
maintenance charges and council tax outside my own area out of my 
savings - whilst I understand basic council tax has to be paid I think it 
is unfair to expect executors to pay an additional premium when 
there is nothing more they can do to sell the property.  
 
As a landlord if we had an empty property we would still have a 
mortgage to pay, and I feel it would be unfair to punish us further. 
 
Fully in agreement if no effort is being made to have the property 
occupied. However, I have had the property in Sefton on the market 
for sale ever since my mother passed away in May 2017. The lease 
does not allow me to let the apartment, and it can only be occupied 
by someone over 50. To charge 200% of the Council Tax seems 
totally unfair when I am doing everything I can to sell it . Surely in 
these circumstances, empty properties should also be exempt.  
 
I most certainly agree considering that Sefton is at present charging 
me 150% rates for an empty flat that I am desperately trying to sell. A 
100% rate would be a relief to this pensioner. 
 
Depends on the circumstances as to why a property is unoccupied. 
An increase is unfair to those who intend to live in the property but 
can't at present due to extensive renovations to make a property 
habitable (council tax deductions with his regard are currently not 
sufficient with respect to the period of availability). Therefore, this 
only extends the period the property is uninhabitable and vacant due 
to unavailable cash flow to do the work. 
 

 

3.5 Summary Table - Questions 1 & 3  

 Agree/Agree 
strongly 

Neither agree / 
disagree 

Disagree / 
Strongly 
disagree 

No response 

Question 1 66 7 55 1 

Question 3 63 9 56 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 84

Agenda Item 6



 

 

4. Equality Impact Assessment  

4.1. Introduction  

Any change to function, provision or policy that may have an effect on people is 

automatically subject of the Equality Act 2010. As such the ‘decision makers’ have a 

statutory duty to pay ‘due regard’ to equality legislation and the potential discriminatory 

impact that changes have on service users. To inform decision makers, an ‘equality 

analysis report’ is submitted to them at the time of decision making in order for them to 

consider equality implications as part of their final decision making.  

In order to meet equality legislation public bodies have to consider Section 149 of the 

Equality Act 2010: 

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:- 

(a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 

prohibited by or under this Act; 

(b)  Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

and person who do not share it. 

4.2 Protected Characteristics 

Equality Law (Equality Act 2010) is clear that there are particular characteristic intrinsic to 

an individual against which it would be easy to discriminate. Section 149 (the Public-

Sector Equality Duty) sits the goals of the Act and the characteristics, known as 

‘protected characteristics’ against which we have to test for discrimination. These 

characteristics are gender, race/ethnicity, religion or belief, sexual orientation, age, 

gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity and disability. 

4.3 Consultation 

Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council (Sefton MBC) is considering increasing the Council 

Tax homes premium from April 2019 on homes left empty and substantially unfurnished 

for over 2 years. This will help to reduce the number of long term homes and bring them 

back into use through sale of renting. Any additional income raised from the premium will 

help support the provision of Council services.    

As part of the consultation, equalities questions were asked in connection to gender, 

age, disability and ethnicity.   

The main issues that we have to consider in relation to the proposed changes to the 

scheme in relation to equality and diversity are: 

Disabled people, on very low income, who are unable to carry out the necessary 

renovations to properties themselves or pay someone to do it for them. 

  

Where owners are struggling to cope with managing the property they own.    

 

 

Page 85

Agenda Item 6



 

 

4.4 Impacts  

The tables below highlight what evidence we have on how the proposed changes will 

affect different groups and communities in relation to equalities and human rights. Where 

numbers are presented which refer to the survey, this relates to the number of people 

who responded to the equality questions in the survey, and aligned to the question on 

impacts. People who responded to the survey and reported any impacts, whether this 

was a lot of impact or no impact, did so from an individual perspective.  The table 

recognises the responses to the survey but also considers any detrimental impact on the 

protected characteristic as a whole and includes the mitigations the Council has in place.   

Breakdown of respondents by Gender 

 

In terms of the 129 respondents to the eConsult Questionnaire 52 females, 40 males, 2 

preferred not to say and 35 not completed returns.  

 

Breakdown of respondents by Age ranges 

 

In terms of the 129 respondents to the eConsult Questionnaire, 94 gave the following 

age ranges, cross matched against gender. 

 

Age Ranges  

  Female Male 
Not 

declared Total 

18-29 2 0 0 2 

30-39 5 2 1 8 

40-49 10 6 0 16 

50-59 13 13 1 27 

60-69 12 11 1 24 

70-79 7 7 1 15 

85+ 2 0 0 2 

 

Breakdown of respondents by Postcode 

 

In terms of the 129 respondents to the eConsult Questionnaire, the following postcodes 

were submitted 

 

Postcode breakdown 

Outside 
Sefton 

L20 L21 L22 L23 L30 

10 10 7 4 17 1 

L31 L37 L38 PR8 PR9 
Not 

Completed  

3 6 2 15 16 38 

 

 

 

Page 86

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Breakdown of respondents by Equality Data 

 

Respondents were asked to indicate answers against Equality data questions, the 

breakdown of which is: 

 

Disability 

4 indicated a Hearing Impairment, 5 indicating a Long-Term Illness Affecting Daily 

Activity, followed by 4 indicating Mental Health/Distress, a further 7 indicating a Physical 

impairment and 2 with a visual impairment.  

 

Ethnicity/ Religion or Belief 

79 of our 129 respondents who answered indicated they were “White British” or “White 

English” in terms of ethnicity, with fewer numbers for the other classifications. 

 

 

 

Sexual Orientation 

On Sexual Orientation, 78 out of 129 respondents who answered indicated they were 

Heterosexual, 2 Bisexual and 49 Prefer not to say / or did not respond 

, 

Heterosexual 78 

Bisexual 2 

Prefer not to say / no response 49 

 

 

Religion / Belief 

42 out of 129 who answered indicated they were Christian, 1 Buddhist, 86 no religion / 

did not respond / prefer not to say.  

 

Gender at birth 

85 of the 129 respondents who answered the question indicated that they currently live in 

the gender given to them at birth.  1 respondent was not in the gender given at birth.  43 

prefer not to say / no response.  

 

 

 

 

Ethnicity - do you identify as… Total 

White British 55 

White English 25 

White Irish 2 

White Polish                                                                             1 

White Welsh 1 

Black British 1 

Asian Indian  1 

Other White background  2 

Other Chinese background   1 

Prefer not to say / no response  40 

Page 87

Agenda Item 6



 

 

4.5  Impacts table  

  

Protected  
Characteristic  

 

Gender  No inadvertent bias on the basis of gender is indicated. We 
have not identified any impacts that need mitigation.  

Race/Ethnicity No inadvertent bias on the basis of race/ethnicity is 
indicated. The proposals do not treat people of different 
race/ethnicity groups any differently and we have not 
identified any impacts that need mitigation.  

Religion and 
Belief 

No inadvertent bias on the basis of religion or belief. The 
proposals do not treat persons of different religions or 
beliefs any differently and we have not identified any 
impacts that need mitigation.  

Sexual 
Orientation 

No inadvertent bias on the basis of sexual orientation is 
indicated. The proposals do not treat persons of different 
sexual orientation any differently. We have not identified 
any impacts that need mitigation. 

Age  No inadvertent bias on the basis of age is indicated. Young 
people looking to join the property ladder or rent an 
affordable property may be affected as more empty 
properties are made available. We have not identified any 
impacts that need mitigation. 

Gender 
Reassignment  

No inadvertent bias on the basis of gender reassignment 
age is indicated in the proposals. We have not identified 
any impacts that need mitigation. 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity  

No inadvertent bias on the basis of pregnancy and 
maternity is indicated. We have not identified any impacts 
that need mitigation. 

Disability 
 
 

No inadvertent bias on the basis of disability is indicated. 
However, the consultation results indicate that disability is 
also relevant to the proposals as people felt that there 
should be mitigations in place for owners who are unable to 
manage their affairs or circumstances where disability 
prompts a need to change property and reduces the ability 
to carry out the work required to an empty property.    

 

 

4.6 Mitigations   

Key measures in place  

 Consideration to be given to whether any additional exemptions under which the 

Empty Homes Premium should not apply, for example where an owner is living 

elsewhere to receive care or resident in a nursing home etc. 

 Any short term financial hardship or other exceptional circumstances affecting a 

person’s ability to pay will be addressed by the Council’s Discretionary Reduction 

in Liability Policy, and the promotion of that policy, so additional support can be 

provided for those in exceptional need.  

Page 88

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 Sefton MBC will continue to maintain its good track record of providing proactive 

and tailored support for those Council Tax payers who struggle to make payments 

and will continue to ensure our recovery procedures identify cases where 

additional support might be required. 

 A proactive approach will be taken to identify persons meeting the severe mental 

impairment conditions set out in the Council Tax Regulations with a view to 

exempting them from paying Council Tax. 

 We will continue working with and supporting customers whose first language is 

not English. 

 Customers affected by the proposals will be contacted directly and provided with 

clear explanation and offers of advice and support.  

 The Council’s website information will be updated to reflect the key changes and 

any issues identified. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to: Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting: 10 January 2019 

Subject: Revenue and Capital Budget Plan 2018/19 – 2019/20 
 

Report of: Head of Corporate 
Resources 
 

Wards Affected: (All Wards); 

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No 

 
Summary: 
 
To inform Cabinet of: - 
i) The current forecast revenue outturn position for the Council for 2018/19 and 

potential impact on the 2019/20 budget; 

ii) The current forecast on Council Tax and Business Rates collection for 2018/19; 

and, 

iii) The current position of the 2018/19 Capital Programme. 

 
Recommendation(s): 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: - 
i) Consider the significant budget pressure in 2018/19 and approve the 

implementation of the mitigating actions that have been identified and are detailed 

within this report; 

ii) Approve that in the event that there is material change to the 2018/19 outturn 

forecast, that additional remedial measures should be identified in order that a 

balanced budget position can be achieved; 

iii) Agree that as a result of the impact of the current financial position in 2018/19, 

and its subsequent impact on the 2019/20 budget, officers continue to identify new 

budget saving proposals for Members to consider in order that a robust and 

sustainable budget can be set for 2019/20. 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 
 
To ensure Cabinet are informed of the forecast outturn position for the 2018/19 revenue 
and capital budgets as at the end of November 2018 and to provide an updated forecast 
of the outturn position with regard to the collection of Council Tax and Business Rates.   
 
In March 2017 Council approved a three-year budget plan to March 2020. The final two 
years of this plan were revised in March 2018 as part of the process of setting the 
2018/19 budget.  The Council is over half way through the second year of the budget 

Page 91

Agenda Item 7



 

 

plan and remains confident its strategic approach to budget planning alongside good 
financial management and extensive community engagement means that the plan 
continues to develop on solid foundations; it remains flexible and will secure the future 
sustainability to 2020 and beyond.  However, in year demand for social care services is 
currently resulting in the costs for these services significantly exceeding the budget.  If 
further budget pressures are identified between now and the end of the year additional 
remedial action will be required to bring the overall budget into balance. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 
N/A 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
The report indicates that for 2018/19 there is currently a forecast deficit of £8.828m 
which can be off-set with £6.046m of mitigating, one-off, actions previously identified and 
a further £2.815m worth of in-year savings identified by officers to achieve a balanced 
position at the year end. Any worsening of the overall position will require further savings 
to be identified by officers. 
 
(B) Capital Costs 
The Council’s capital budget in 2018/19 is £35.973m. As at the end of November 2018, 
expenditure of £11.022m has been incurred and a full year outturn of £28.087m is 
currently forecast. 
 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
There is currently a budget shortfall of £8.828m forecast for 2018/19, one-off mitigating 
measures of £6.046m have been identified, with a further £2.815m of in year savings 
identified by officers.  Based on the current forecast a balanced budget will be delivered 
however it should be noted that significant pressure and risk remains in four key 
business areas, namely Adults and Children’s Social Care, Schools and Families and 
Locality Service provision.  These budgets may experience further demand pressure 
between now and the end of the year and further mitigations and remedial actions will 
be required in such an eventuality. 
 

Legal Implications: 
None 
 

Equality Implications: 
There are no equality implications. 
 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
Effective Financial Management and the development and delivery of sustainable annual 
budgets support each theme of the Councils Core Purpose. 
 

Protect the most vulnerable: 
See comment above 
 

Page 92

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 
See comment above 
 

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
See comment above 
 

Place – leadership and influencer: 
See comment above 
 

Drivers of change and reform: 
See comment above 
 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: 
See comment above 
 

Greater income for social investment:  
See comment above 
 

Cleaner Greener: 
See comment above 
 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources is the author of the report (FD 5485/18) 
 
The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer has been consulted and any comments have 
been incorporated into the report (LD 4610/18). 
 
(B) External Consultations  
 
N/A 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting 
 

Contact Officer: Stephan Van Arendsen 

Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4082 

Email Address: Stephan.VanArendsen@sefton.gov.uk 

 
 
Appendices: 
There are no appendices to this report 
 
Background Papers: 
There are no background papers for inspection 
 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 7



 

 

1.     Introduction 
  
1.1 In March 2017, Council approved a three-year budget plan to March 2020. The 

final two years of this plan were revised in March 2018 as part of the process of the 
Council setting the 2018/19 budget.  The March 2018 Budget report outlined that 
due to the financial pressures being faced by the Council a mid-year review would 
be undertaken.  The initial position following the mid-year review was reported to 
Cabinet in September 2018. This report continues to build upon that work, updates 
the forecast revenue outturn position for 2018/19 and highlights the further work 
that has been undertaken to balance the budget for 2018/19. 

 
1.2 The report also outlines the current position regarding key income streams for the 

Authority, namely Council Tax and Business Rates. Variations against expected 
receipts in these two areas will also affect the Council’s financial position in future 
years.  

 
1.3 An updated position regarding the 2018/19 Capital Programme is also provided as 

at the end of November. 
  
 
2. Summary of the Forecast Outturn Position as at the end of November 2018 

  
2.1 Members have been provided with updates of the Council’s forecast financial 

position (including a detailed Mid-Year Review) each month during this financial 
year. Significant pressures have been identified in several service areas, 
particularly Adult and Children’s Social Care, Locality Services Provision and Home 
to School Transport. The latest forecast of service expenditure indicates a slight 
worsening in the overall financial position, with an overspend of £6.194m (£6.141m 
in October). The table below highlights the variations: 
 

 Budget Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance Previously 
Reported 
Position  

 £m £m £m £m 

Services     

Strategic Management 3.049 3.049 0.000 0.000 

     

Strategic Support Unit 3.026 3.013 (0.013) (0.013) 

     

Adult Social Care 95.349 95.977 0.628 0.724 

Children's Social Care 28.137 32.646 4.338 4.338 

Communities 8.223 8.083 (0.140) (0.131) 

Corporate Resources 5.171 4.624 (0.547) (0.539) 

Health & Wellbeing 22.541 22.031 (0.510) (0.510) 

Inward Investment and 
Employment 

2.447 2.753 0.306 0.310 

Locality Services - 
Commissioned 

20.072 19.993 (0.079) (0.167) 

Locality Services - Provision 10.536 11.431 0.895 0.895 

Regeneration and Housing 4.757 4.431 (0.326) (0.356) 

Regulation and Compliance 3.776 3.851 0.075 0.005 

Page 94

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Schools and Families 23.079 24.695 1.382 1.382 

     

Total Service Net 
Expenditure 

230.163 237.077 6.009 5.938 

     

Public Sector Reform 
Savings not allocated to 
services  

(4.489) (4.489) 0.000 
(see para 

2.2) 

0.000 
(see para 

2.2) 

Reversal of Capital Charges (13.353) (13.353) 0.000 0.000 

Council Wide Budgets 10.905 11.090 0.185 0.203 

Levies 33.255 33.255 0.000 0.000 

General Government Grants (34.202) (34.202) 0.000 0.000 

     

Total Net Expenditure 222.279 229.378 
 

  

Forecast Year-End Deficit   6.194 6.141 

 
There are no significant changes in the forecast outturn position between October 
and November. 

 
2.2 The 2018/19 Budget included £10.227m of savings from Public Sector Reform 

(PSR) projects. Current forecasts are that £7.593m of savings will be deliverable in 
the year (74%).  There is a 2018/19 phasing issue amounting to £1.975m, however 
these savings are expected to be achieved in 2019/20 meaning that £9.568m 
(94%) in total is forecast to be delivered in 2019/20 and future years. It is forecast 
that £0.659m of the savings will ultimately not be delivered (6%). An analysis of the 
overall savings for 2018/19 are shown in the summary below: 

 

 Total 
Saving 
2018/19 

Forecast - 
Achieved 
In 2018/19 

Phasing 
Delivery 
2019/20 

Won’t be 
delivered 

 £m £m £m £m 

     

PSR1 - Acute Wrap Around 0.275 0.033 0.242 0.000 

PSR2 – Locality Teams 5.100 3.477 1.623 0.000 

PSR2 - Personalisation 1.000 1.000 0.000 0.000 

PSR4 - All Age Pathway 0.415 0.121 0.000 0.294 

PSR4 - Home to School 
Transport 

0.365 0.000 0.000 0.365 

PSR5 – An Excellent 
Education for All 

0.319 0.319 0.000 0.000 

PSR6 - Tourism 0.110 0.000 0.110 0.000 

PSR6 - Other 0.748 0.748 0.000 0.000 

PSR7 – Environment & Pride 
of Place 

0.695 0.695 0.000 0.000 

PSR8 – Asset Maximisation 0.450 0.450 0.000 0.000 

PSR9 – ICT & Digital Inclusion 0.300 0.300 0.000 0.000 

PSR10 - Commissioning 0.450 0.450 0.000 0.000 

     

Total Budget Pressure 10.227 7.593 1.975 0.659 

Page 95

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
2.3 As a result of the detail provided in this report it can be seen that the Council’s 

overall forecast outturn position, before remedial action, is shown below: 
 

 November October Variance 

 £m £m £m 

    

2018/2019 Forecast Outturn (see 2.1) 6.194 6.141 +0.053 

PSR - Unachievable 2018/2019 0.659 0.659 0.000 

Ongoing Budget Pressures 6.853 6.800 +0.053 

    

PSR - Phasing 2018/2019  1.975 1.975 0.000 

    

Total Forecast Budget Gap 2018/19 8.828 8.775 +0.053 

 
 
Measures to close the residual gap in 2018/19 
 

2.4 The Forecast Budget Gap has remained relatively constant for the last few months.  
This is partly because remedial actions have been implemented within Services 
and are now being reported within the net position.  This supports the approach the 
Council is taking in managing the Budget Gap.   
 

2.5 As mentioned in paragraph 2.1, several services are experiencing significant 
demand pressures. These remain a significant risk to the Council’s in-year 
position.  The services are continuing to try to identify mitigating actions, for 
example by reviewing high cost social care cases and maximising external 
contributions towards cases. We will continue to closely monitor the services under 
significant budget pressure during the remaining months of the financial year in 
order that proactive management of the overall budget can take place.  

 
2.6 Financial sustainability is a key objective of the Council’s Framework for Change 

programme.  In order to achieve a balanced budget position, officers have 
identified – and Members have approved – a number of one-off measures within 
the Medium Term Financial Plan that will realise £6.046m of resources to partially 
bridge the budget gap in 2018/19.  These include:  
 

 Utilising the budget underspend from 2017/2018 (as reported to Cabinet on 
26th July 2018) - £1.923m;  

 Additional Adult Social Care Support Grant allocation announced by the 
Government late in the budget process - £0.953m;  

 The impact of the change in VAT liability of certain leisure fees and charges 
being introduced earlier than previously anticipated - £0.700m; 

 Additional ASC Grant in 2018/19 utilised to offset forecast demand pressures - 
£1.010m; 

 Additional Business Rates s31 Grants - £0.610m; and, 

 Business Rates refunds on Council establishments - £0.350m. 
  

2.7 Whilst these measures contribute significantly to closing the forecast deficit position 
during the current year, additional measures are required in relation to current 
expenditure budgets in order to bridge the remaining gap.  As reported previously, 

Page 96

Agenda Item 7



 

 

service areas have reviewed all budgets and have identified uncommitted funding 
and other actions that will reduce the deficit, including a moratorium on non-
essential expenditure and a review of reserves and balances. This will realise a 
further £2.815m and is summarised below.  

 

 Vacancy and Supplies & Services savings across all services - £0.950m; 

 Review of reserves and balances - £1.025m; and, 

 Other savings on non-essential expenditure - £0.840m.  
 
2.8 The Council’s overall forecast outturn position, after remedial action, is shown 

below: 
 

 £m 

Total Forecast Budget Gap 2018/19 8.828 

  

One-Off Measures 2018/2019 -6.046 

Actions undertaken by services 2018/2019 -2.815 

Total Forecast Budget Gap 2018/19 -0.033 

  
2.9 All Services will continue to review budgets and identify any areas within them that 

can contribute to the forecast budget gap should the position worsen. 
 
 

Implications beyond 2018/19  
 
2.10 The seriousness of the budget position, despite the successful delivery of the three 

year PSR programme, requires the development of permanent proposals for 
implementation from April 2019.  The updated forecast outturn for 2018/19 now 
means that the budget gap for 2019/20 is between £10m and £12m, in addition to 
the current best estimate of £15m in respect of 2020/21.  Senior officers have been 
dedicating significant time over recent weeks to this budget shortfall and the 
development of future budget options for member consideration.    

 
2.11 Budget development sessions took place with Heads of Service in early 

October.  The aim of these sessions was to review all areas of the Council’s activity 
both from a service delivery and budget point of view and identify areas for 
development of alternative delivery models at lower cost whilst maintaining or 
improving outcomes for service users.  A robust budget recovery plan will be 
presented for consideration prior to the Budget Setting report for 2019/20.   

 
2.12 The current forecasts relating to Government funding for 2019/20 are based on the 

final year of the four-year settlement accepted by the Council. As outlined in the 
report to Cabinet on 4th October 2018, the levels of funding beyond 2019/20 are 
less certain.  

 
2.13 The Budget Statement was delivered on 29th October 2018 and the Provisional 

Local Government Finance Settlement was announced on 13th December 2018, 
one week later than previously announced.  The Budget Statement report for 
Council in February 2019 will outline a detailed plan for 2019/20 taking into account 
the settlement, which is currently at the consultation stage, and direction from 
Members on budget options in order to set a balanced budget.  In addition, Major 

Page 97

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Service Reviews are underway across the four service areas experiencing 
significant budget pressure.  They are expected to recommend initiatives to deliver 
savings in 2019/20 (part-year) and 2020/21. 

 
 
3 Council Tax Income – Update  
  
3.1 Council Tax income is shared between the billing authority (Sefton Council) and the 

two major precepting authorities (the Fire and Rescue Authority, and the Police and 
Crime Commissioner) pro-rata to their demand on the Collection Fund. The 
Council’s Budget included a Council Tax Requirement of £127.485m for 2018/19 
(including Parish Precepts), which represents 85.8% of the net Council Tax income 
of £148.595m.  

 
3.2 The forecast outturn for the Council at the end of November 2018 is a surplus of -

£0.928m.  This variation is primarily due to: - 
 

 The surplus on the fund at the end of 2017/18 being higher than estimated at -

£0.004m; 

  

 Gross Council Tax Charges in 2018/19 being higher than estimated at -£0.276m;  

 

 Council Tax Reduction Scheme discounts being lower than estimated at               

-£0.694m; 

 

 Exemptions and Discounts (including a forecasting adjustment) being higher 

than estimated at +£0.046m. 

 

3.3 Due to Collection Fund regulations, the Council Tax surplus will not be transferred 
to the General Fund in 2018/19 but will be carried forward to be distributed in future 
years. 
 
 

4 Business Rates Income – Update  
  
4.1 Since 1 April 2017, Business Rates income has been shared between the Council 

(99%) and the Fire and Rescue Authority (1%). The Council’s Budget included 
retained Business Rates income of £66.449m for 2018/19, which represents 99% 
of the net Business Rates income of £67.120m. Business Rates income has 
historically been very volatile making it difficult to forecast accurately.  

 
4.2 The forecast outturn for the Council at the end of November 2018 is a surplus of -

£1.663m on Business Rates income. This is due to: 
 

 The surplus on the fund at the end of 2017/18 being higher than estimated -

£2.169m;  

 Increase in the gross charge on rateable properties (-£0.048m) 

 Other reliefs (including a forecasting adjustment) being higher than estimated in 

2018/19 at +£0.554m. 

Page 98

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
4.3 Due to Collection Fund regulations, the Business Rates deficit will not be 

transferred to the General Fund in 2018/19 but will be carried forward to be 
recovered in future years.  

 
 
5 Capital Programme 2018/19 

 
5.1 The approved capital budget for 2018/19 is £35.973m. 

  
5.2 As at the end of November, expenditure of £11.022m (30.6%) has been incurred 

within the approved Capital Programme.  This is in line with a percentage spend of 
32.3% (£9.109m) as at November last year. 
 

5.3 As part of the monthly review project managers are now stating that £28.087m will 
be spent by year end.  This would result in an under spend on the year of £7.886m 
on the whole programme with an overall delivery rate of 78%.  This is summarised 
below as follows: - 

 

 
2018/19 Full 

Year 
Budget 

 
Actual 

Expenditure 
as at 

November 
2018 

 
Forecast 

Actual 
Expenditure 

 
Full Year 
Budget 

Variance 

£m £m £m £m 

 
35.973 

 

 
11.022 

 

 
28.087 

 
7.886 

 
5.4 Last year the overall delivery rate as at November was 84%.  The reduction this 

year is due to the key variations detailed in section 5.6. 
 

5.5 In order to achieve the revised forecast of £28.087m, expenditure of £17.065m will 
need to be incurred between now and the end of the year (within the last 4 
months).  Based on current expenditure levels it is considered that this forecast is 
ambitious, however historically a significant level of expenditure is incurred in the 
last 3 months of the year.  Careful monitoring will be required to support this over 
the remainder of the year. 
 

5.6 Key Variations on Overall Programme 
 

It can be seen from the current forecast position that approximately £7.886m of 
expenditure will not be delivered in the current year.  The key variations to this 
forecast are as follows: - 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Scheme Key 
Variation 

£’m 

Funding Source Explanation 

Funding No Longer Required (key items) 
 

    

Total    

Resources to be carried forward into next year (key items) 
 

Better Care Fund 
Allocation 
Balance 

3.426 Better Care Fund 
Grant 

Options are being 
reviewed for this funding.  
Slippage may change as 
and when these options 
are approved and 
implemented.  

M58 Junction 1 
Improvements 

2.683 Government Grant Scheme progress has 
been reviewed and as 
such request will be made 
to slip this resource into 
2019/20. 

Disabled 
Facilities Grant 

0.533 Better Care Fund 
Grant 

Scheme is below 
anticipated levels this year 
due to a reduction in 
referral numbers.  A 
request will be made to 
slip this resource into 
2019/20. 

CERMS 2016-
2021Sefton 
Spend 

0.300 Environment 
Agency Grant 

Scheme progress has 
been reviewed and as 
such request will be made 
to slip this resource into 
2019/20. 

Southport Pier 0.128 Revenue 
Contribution – Pier 
Sinking Fund 

Scheme progress has 
been reviewed and as 
such request will be made 
to slip this resource into 
2019/20. 

Total 7.070   

 
5.7 The graph below therefore shows the 2018/19 Capital Programme expenditure to 

date against the profiled budget. 
 

Page 100

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
 
 
5.8 A service by service breakdown of expenditure, forecast actual expenditure and full 

year budget variation as at November 2018 is shown in the following table:  
 
 

   
Full Year 
Budget 

Expenditure 
to date 

Exp to 
Date as % 
of Budget 

Forecast 
Actual 

Expenditure 
to Date 

Forecast Full 
Year Budget 

Variation 

 
£'m £'m % £'m £'m 

Corporate Resources 5.344 3.611 67.6 5.302 0.042 

New Schemes 
     Southport Theatre - 

Netting 0.030 0.045 150.0 0.030 0.000 

Bootle Town Hall - Cold 
Water System 0.020 0.000 0.0 0.020 0.000 

Previous Year Schemes 5.294 3.566 67.4 5.252 0.042 

Locality Services - 
Commissioned 13.252 2.885 21.8 9.594 3.658 

New Schemes 
     LTP - New Schemes 3.596 1.091 30.3 3.596 0.000 

Additional Pothole 
Funding 0.468 0.217 46.4 0.468 0.000 

Buckley Hill Car Park 0.081 0.000 0.0 0.081 0.000 

Ovington Drive, Kew - 
Play Area 0.044 0.000 0.0 0.044 0.000 

Smithy Green, Formby - 
Play Area 0.065 0.000 0.0 0.065 0.000 

Previous Year Schemes 8.998 1.577 17.5 5.340 3.658 

Locality Services - 
Provision 2.530 1.388 54.9 2.530 0.000 

0.000

5.000

10.000

15.000

20.000

25.000

30.000

35.000

40.000

£
 M

ill
io

n
s 

Profile

Spend To Date

Projected Spend

Page 101

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Previous Year Schemes 2.530 1.388 54.9 2.530 0.000 

Regeneration and 
Housing 0.452 0.027 6.0 0.452 0.000 

Previous Year Schemes 0.452 0.027 6.0 0.452 0.000 

Regulation and 
Compliance 0.009 0.000 0.0 0.006 0.003 

Previous Year Schemes 0.009 0.000 0.0 0.006 0.003 

Health & Wellbeing 0.065 0.031 47.7 0.050 0.015 

Previous Year Schemes 0.065 0.031 47.7 0.050 0.015 

Adult Social Care 3.994 0.006 0.2 0.568 3.426 

New Schemes 
     Approved Better Care 

Funding 2.078 0.000 0.0 0.000 2.078 

Previous Year Schemes 1.916 0.006 0.3 0.568 1.348 

Children's Services 5.710 1.230 21.5 5.629 0.081 

New Schemes 
     St Luke’s Primary  –  Hall 

Extension 0.600 0.169 28.2 0.600 0.000 

Crosby High  - Special 
Needs WC 0.020 0.000 0.0 0.020 0.000 
Impact PRU  - Perimeter 
Fencing 0.015 0.000 0.0 0.015 0.000 

Lydiate Primary  - General 
Refurb 0.100 0.054 54.0 0.100 0.000 

Forefield Infants -  New 
Toilet Block 0.175 0.000 0.0 0.175 0.000 

Linaker Primary - 
Additional 1 Form Entry  0.700 0.197 28.1 0.700 0.000 

Healthy Pupils Fund 0.164 0.000 0.0 0.164 0.000 

Hudson Primary  - 
Heating Ducts Provision 0.150 0.000 0.0 0.150 0.000 

Linacre Primary - 
Classroom Refurb 0.066 0.066 100.0 0.066 0.000 

Lydiate Primary – New 
lighting system 0.021 0.000 0.0 0.021 0.000 

Redgate Primary – 
Rewiring 0.150 0.120 80.0 0.150 0.000 
Farnborough Rd Infant – 
Replace felt roof 0.044 0.003 6.8 0.044 0.000 
Farnborough Rd Junior – 
Replace brickwork 0.024 0.000 0.0 0.024 0.000 
Forefield Infants – 
Replace security fence 0.041 0.000 0.0 0.041 0.000 

Merefield Special – 
Emergency lighting 0.036 0.036 100.0 0.036 0.000 

Waterloo Primary - 
Kitchen Alterations 0.025 0.017 68.0 0.025 0.000 

Impact PRU - CCTV & 
Security Gates 0.045 0.000 0.0 0.045 0.000 

Netherton Moss Primary – 
Kitchen Refurb 0.050 0.000 0.0 0.050 0.000 

Previous Year Schemes 3.284 0.568 17.3 3.203 0.081 

Communities 1.050 0.110 10.5 1.050 0.000 

Page 102

Agenda Item 7



 

 

New Schemes 
     Atkinson Studio Stage 0.030 0.017 56.7 0.030 0.000 

Previous Year Schemes 1.020 0.093 9.1 1.020 0.000 

Inward Investment & 
Employment 1.367 0.767 56.1 1.239 0.128 

Previous Year Schemes 1.367 0.767 56.1 1.239 0.128 

Total New Schemes 
2017/18 8.838 2.032 23.0 6.760 2.078 

Total Previous Year 
Schemes 24.935 8.023 32.2 19.660 5.275 

Disabled Facilities Grant 2.200 0.967 44.0 1.667 0.533 

Total Capital Programme 35.973 11.022 30.6 28.087 7.886 

 
5.9 Financing of the 2018/19 Capital Programme 

 

  Budget 

 £m 

Government Grants*   25.354 

Borrowing 7.431 

S106 1.480 

Contribution 1.496 

Capital Receipt 0.212 

TOTAL 35.973 

 *Includes capital receipts used to supplement government grants as detailed 
below. 

 

Within the funding profile for schemes approved in 2016/17 it was assumed that 
£1.5m of capital receipts will be generated.  As at the end of March 2018, £1.070m 
has been received leaving a balance due of £0.430m. As at the end of November 
2018 £0.309m has been received leaving a balance required of £0.121m. It is 
anticipated this will be received in 2018/19. 

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Report to: Cabinet  Date of Meeting: 10 January 2019 
    
Subject: Procurement of Quality 

Training and Assessment 
Providers for 
Apprenticeships 

Wards Affected: (All Wards); 

    
Report of:  Head of Corporate 

Resources 
 

  

    
Is this a Key 
Decision? 

Yes Is it included in the Forward Plan? Yes 
 

Exempt/Confidential  No  

 
Summary 
 
This report sets out the background to the Council’s current procurement arrangements 
for the delivery of apprenticeships and proposes a procurement route for the delivery of 
apprenticeship standards, using the Public Sector purchasing consortium Yorkshire 
Purchasing Organisation (YPO) framework.  
 
Recommendation(s) 
 
That Cabinet:  
 

1. Approve the use of the OJEU-compliant YPO Framework for the delivery of 
apprenticeship training standards.  This new procurement approach will be used 
to identify and deliver all future apprenticeship training standards with immediate 
effect.    

 
2. Grant delegated authority to the Head of Corporate Resources to award the 

Contract resulting from the procurement in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services. 

 
Reasons for the Recommendation: 
 
To have an appropriate and best value contract in place for the delivery of apprenticeship 
training standards. 
 
The YPO framework provides a flexible approach, enabling the Council to respond in a 
timely manner to any requests for new apprenticeship training opportunities that aren’t 
currently available.  This approach will enable the Council to make the most of the 
apprenticeship levy by supporting the training, development and succession planning of 
the Council’s core service areas and Sefton Schools.  
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:  
None. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 
The proposals and any resulting expenditure within this report can be contained within 
exiting approved budgets.   
 
(B) Capital Costs 
 
None.  
 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below: 
 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):  
 
The Apprenticeship Levy can be used to fund apprenticeship training and assessment 
for apprentices.  The levy does not cover salary, travel or subsidence costs, all of 
which must be funded from existing service area budgets.   
 

Legal Implications: 
 
None 
 

Equality Implications: 
 
There are no equality implications. 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 
 

Protect the most vulnerable: 
Enabling vulnerable young people who are care leavers to access training and 
apprenticeship opportunities 
 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 
Apprenticeships will support succession planning of the Council and will provide 
Apprenticeship opportunities to the communities we serve. 
 

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
Creating opportunities for apprentices to support the Council’s core service provision. 
 

Place – leadership and influencer: 
Delivering leadership and management training to the existing workforce and newly 
recruited apprentices 
 

Drivers of change and reform: 
Apprentices support the Council’s vision, values and the framework for change 
programme. 
 

Page 106

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: 
The recruitment of apprentices will address local growth challenges whilst building on 
the strengths and opportunities that already exist. 
 

Greater income for social investment:  
Upskilling apprentices to ensure they are job ready and able to contribute to the 
economic growth of Sefton. 
 

Cleaner Greener:  
It is anticipated apprentices will be able to support the Cleaner Greener agenda. 
 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD.5480/18) and Chief Legal and Democratic Officer 
(LD4605/18) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the 
report. 
 
(B) External Consultations  
 
Not applicable. 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting 
 
Contact Officer:  Mark Dale, Chief Personnel Officer & Michael Mainwaring, 
Workforce Development Manager  
Tel: 0151 934 2483 
Email: michael.mainwaring@sefton.gov.uk 
 
Appendices: 
 
There are no appendices to this report. 
 
Background Papers:  
 
There are no background papers available for inspection.  

Page 107

Agenda Item 8



 

 

1. Background and Context 
 

1.1.1 Apprenticeships are full-time paid jobs which incorporate on and off the job 
training. A successful apprentice will receive a nationally recognised qualification 
on completion of their contract. There are over 200 different types of 
apprenticeships frameworks (gradually moving to standards), available in 13 
broad sector subject areas. Apprenticeships can be studied at different 
qualification levels: 
 

 Intermediate Apprenticeships lead to Level 2 qualifications (equivalent to 5 
GCSE passes) 

 Advanced Apprenticeships lead to Level 3 qualifications (equivalent to 2 A 
level passes), and 

 Higher and Degree Apprenticeships lead to Level 4 qualifications and above. 
 
1.1.2 Previously, apprenticeships have either been self-funded by the employer, or a 

proportion of the cost of training has been met by the Department for Education 
(16-18 year olds) or Department for Business Innovation & Science (19 years and 
over).  Funding changed from April 2017 with the introduction of the new 
apprenticeship levy. 

 
1.1.3 The Government published English Apprenticeships: Our 2020 Vision in 2015. It 

sets out an ambitious new target for 3 million new apprenticeship starts by 2020.  
This is accompanied by a new funding model in which larger employers pay a 
mandatory Levy and use a Digital Account Service (DAS) to pay for 
apprenticeship training provision. The new system can also be used to procure 
Higher and Degree level apprenticeships for the workforce. 
 

1.1.4 Sefton Council has maintained an excellent track record of Apprenticeship 
programmes and activity since its inception in 2010.  Apprenticeships offer the 
Council an opportunity to re-balance an ageing workforce; build capacity and grow 
skills to meet its future business needs. These apprenticeships focus on building 
career pathways for people to gain specific qualifications and expertise the 
Council requires now and in years to come.  
 

1.1.5 Apprenticeships also enable the Council to realise its commitment to reducing 
youth unemployment in a tangible and measurable way. Firstly by offering 
permanent positions to some apprentices; and secondly by supporting time-
expired apprentices to find work in the wider jobs market. Council-hosted 
opportunities lead to high success rates for participants gaining employment 
outside the Council after completion of their apprenticeship.  

 
1.1.6 Since April 2017 the Council has been required to contribute to pay an 

apprenticeship levy.  The Council currently has an apprenticeship levy target of 
which 2.3% of the workforce which must be apprentices.  For Sefton Council 
(including community and voluntary controlled schools) this equates to 136 
apprentices annually.  
 

1.1.7 Since the introduction of the levy, the Corporate Apprenticeship Team (CAT) have 
recruited 138 apprentices with a further 15 apprenticeship opportunities identified.  
This number includes newly recruited apprentices and the conversion of existing 

Page 108

Agenda Item 8



 

 

employees where possible to training which are apprenticeship opportunities.  The 
CAT is also working with the Council’s core service areas and Schools to 
continually identify new apprenticeship opportunities.  This includes identifying 
new apprenticeships standards aligned to workforce needs including opportunities 
to access degree level apprenticeships.    

 
2. Existing Procurement Challenges 

 
2.1.1 In terms of procurement, to date officers have conducted procurement exercises 

that met OJEU (Official Journal of the European Union) and the Council’s Contract 
Procurement Rules (CPR) and this approach was successful.  However, in the 
event that a provider fails to bid for a particular LOT or the business needs of the 
Council change at short notice, we need a mechanism to gain access to the right 
provider and the relevant apprenticeship standards to support our apprentices.  
The proposal below provides us with that route.  
 

3. Proposed Procurement Route 
 
3.1.1 Following discussions with the Officers within the Procurement Team, the 

recommendation is that the YPO Framework is used for this procurement.  YPO 
have created a national framework solution where public sector organisations can 
access apprenticeship standards through a range of local and national suppliers.  
All current apprenticeship standards are covered by the framework, and new 
standards, currently being developed by trail-blazer groups, are added to the 
framework as and when they are released.   
 

3.1.2 The Council would utilise the YPO framework to procure the full range of 
apprenticeship standards ranging from levels 2 (GCSE level) to degree level 
apprenticeship programmes.  A sample of LOTs we will need to procure using this 
framework include: 
 

 Regulatory Compliance (level 4) 

 Data Analyst (level 4) 

 Business Improvement Technician (level 4) 

 Business Improvement Specialist (level 5) 

 Children & Young People’s Family Practitioner (level 4) 

 Revenues and Benefits (level 4) 

 Charter Institute Procurement and Supply (level 4) 

 Pest Control Technician (level 2) 
 

3.1.3 The YPO framework would also be used to procure LOTs that are currently being 
developed by trail-blazer groups for example, Social Work and Occupational 
Therapy degree level apprenticeships. 

 
3.1.2  The authority will be able to procure via a combination of both direct award and 

further competition for all standards on the framework: 
 

 A Direct Award can be carried out based on an assessment of the criteria set in 
the YPO framework documentation to decide which provider to award the contract 
to, based on price and quality.  We will be able to carry out the assessment for a 

Page 109

Agenda Item 8



 

 

direct award on all providers that are listed on the standard, or we can utilise the 
sub-criteria that was created and evaluated as part of the YPO tender process.      
 

 A Further Competition (FC) will include price and quality assessment based on 
the sub-criteria that was created as part of the YPO framework.  It enables us to 
create a specification, method statements (questions) and pricing that are relevant 
to the requirements of our organisation. The further competition documents will be 
published to all providers that meet our sub-criteria.  
 

3.1.3  In order for the Council to respond to and deliver apprenticeship standards in a 
timely manner, it is recommended that a Direct Award and/or a Further 
Competition can be carried out.  The procurement route to be utilised will depend 
upon the type of standards required by and the availability of training providers to 
deliver these standards. 

 
Next Steps 
 
4.1.1 If Cabinet approves the use of the YPO Framework then letters will be send out to 

inform the current training providers and colleges of the new arrangements.  This 
will allow providers the time and opportunity to register with YPO and complete 
any necessary tender documentation.  

 
4.1.2 This approach will be reviewed by the Head of Corporate Resources to approve 

the general approach and benefits from using the YPO framework for the delivery 
of apprenticeships.    

 
4.1.3 Once approved, Officers will work with the Procurement Team to conduct a Direct 

Award and/or Further Competition as and when the need to purchase 
apprenticeship standards is required.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 110

Agenda Item 8



Report to: Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting: 10th January 
2019 

Subject: Homelessness Strategy 2018-23 
 

Report of: Head of 
Economic Growth 
& Housing 

Wards Affected: All 

Cabinet 
Portfolio: 

Communities & Housing 
 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan: 

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No 

 
Summary: 
The Homelessness Act 2002 requires every Local Authority to publish a 
Homelessness Strategy at least every 5 years. This Strategy seeks to tackle all 
forms of homelessness, including those owed a statutory duty. In April 2018 the 
new Homeless Reduction Act 2017 came into force, so particular attention has 
been given to the requirements of this legislation when the new Homeless 
Strategy has been prepared. 
 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
(1) The Council’s Homelessness Strategy be approved 
 
(2) That the Head of Economic Growth & Housing in consultation with Cabinet 
Member Communities & Housing be given delegated authority to put in place a 
Homeless Strategy action plan, which will help deliver the strategy and monitor 
delivery. 
 
 
Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 
The Homelessness Act 2002 requires every Local Authority to publish a 
Homelessness Strategy at least every 5 years. The existing Strategy was 
published in September 2013 and is due to be renewed. 
 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk 
Implications) 
The Homelessness Act 2002, makes it a legal requirement for every Local 
Authority to carry out a homelessness review every 5 years, and to develop and 
publish a Homelessness Strategy based on this review. The only options relate 
to the agreed contents of a Strategy. 
 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
There are no direct costs arising from the Strategy. Should any actions 
contained within the Strategy have resource implications, then implementation Page 111

Agenda Item 9



of those recommended actions will be the subject of future formal Council 
decision making processes. 
 
 
(B) Capital Costs 
There are no direct capital costs arising from the Strategy. 
 
Implications of the Proposals: 
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where 
there are specific implications, these are set out below: 
 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
There are no direct implications arising. 
 

Legal Implications: 
The Homelessness Act 2002 requires every Local Authority to carry out a 
homelessness review every 5 years, and to develop and publish a 
Homelessness Strategy based on this review. The current Strategy is now 5 
years old. 
 

Equality Implications: 
The equality Implications have been identified and mitigated. 

An Equality Impact Assessment is set out in Appendix B of this report. 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 

Protect the most vulnerable: 
Those who are homeless, and, those at risk of becoming homeless are among 
the most vulnerable in society. 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 
Through the intervention by the Council and its partners at the most critical 
moment when residents are homeless or at the risk of becoming homeless in 
order to prevent further reliance on public sector support in the future. 

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
The delivery of services which are based on the needs of the most vulnerable 
in society. 

Place – leadership and influencer: 
Through the close working relationship with Liverpool City Region to deliver 
services that help deliver the 2030 vision of the borough. Through working with 
Sefton VCF Partners who provide homeless related services. 

Drivers of change and reform: 
Through the understanding of the needs of the most vulnerable in society and 
change and reform of services in order to meet those needs. 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: 
Help to prevent homelessness in Sefton has a wide ranging positive impact for 
those most vulnerable in society by providing residents with the most basic 
form of need; housing. 

Greater income for social investment:  
Not applicable 

Cleaner Greener 
Not applicable 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 

Page 112

Agenda Item 9



 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD.5465/18) and the Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer 
 (LD 4590/18) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report. 
 
(B) External Consultations  
 
A Consultation plan was agreed by the Council’s Consultation & Engagement 
Panel. In the formulation of this Strategy a number of face-to-face interviews 
were undertaken with people who were experiencing homelessness. The 
Providers of Sefton’s Homelessness Services were invited to complete the 
Sefton Homeless Strategy 2018 – 2023 Stakeholder Consultation in March 
2018.  
The draft Homelessness Strategy was also subject to a 12-week consultation 
period from 7th September 2018 to 30th November. 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting 
 
 

Contact Officer: Neil Davies 

Telephone Number: 0151 934 4837 

Email Address: Neil.davies@sefton.gov.uk 

 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Homelessness Strategy  
Appendix B - Equality Impact Assessment 
 
 
Background Papers: 
 
The following background papers, which are not available elsewhere on the 
Internet can be accessed on the Council website:  
 
Sefton’s Homeless Review 2018 
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1462382/Sefton-Homeless-Review-2018-
Final.pdf 
 
 
 
 
1. Introduction/Background 

 
1.1 The Homelessness Act 2002, requires every Local Authority to carry out 

a homelessness review in its Borough every 5 years, to develop and 
publish a Homelessness Strategy based on this review and to consult 
with other statutory and voluntary organisations. This is Sefton’s fourth 
review and builds upon the work of the first three carried out in 2003, 
2008 and 2013. On this occasion, the review has been undertaken by the 
Consultant, Neil Morland. The existing strategy is 5 years old and is due Page 113

Agenda Item 9

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1462382/Sefton-Homeless-Review-2018-Final.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1462382/Sefton-Homeless-Review-2018-Final.pdf


for renewal, though the formal Review exercise was completed prior to 
the 5-year anniversary date of September 2018. 
 

1.2 This Strategy is written to take account of the requirements of the recent 
Homeless Reduction Act 2017, which places more emphasis on 
prevention of homelessness and the subsequent duties which have now 
been placed on the Housing Authority and Public Authorities. 
 

1.3 The latest Homelessness Review report provides many conclusions and 
recommendations, which will form the basis of the delivery of this new 
Strategy. An action plan will be developed and agreed with the Cabinet 
Member Communities & Housing following the approval of the 
recommendations in this report, and will be drawn from recommendations 
in the Homeless Review and Homeless Strategy. It is intended that these 
actions will need to be completed during the lifetime of this strategy from 
2018 – 2023. The Action Plan will be a live action plan, to be agreed 
within the proposed governance arrangements, which will be continually 
reviewed and revised throughout the delivery of the strategy.  
 

2 Ongoing Governance arrangements to deliver the Strategy 
 
2.1 The Review report contains a large number of conclusions and 

recommendations. The majority of these will need to be addressed on an 
ongoing basis over the 5-year lifetime of the strategy. 
 

2.2 The Homeless Providers Forum will continue to meet on a quarterly basis 
to help improve delivery of the commissioned services; inform future 
recommissioning of the homelessness services within the lifetime of this 
Strategy and ensuring the delivery of commitments in the Strategy and 
subsequent actions. 
 

2.3 The implementation of any actions, particularly any with resource 
implications, would need to be referred to Cabinet, relevant Cabinet 
Member or other formal decision-making body. 
 

3 Conclusion 
 
3.1 The Council are legally required to undertake a Homelessness Review 

and produce a new Homelessness Strategy every 5 years. The latest 
Review has been concluded, with a large number of recommendations. 
 

3.2 Once this Strategy is approved an action plan will be developed and, if 
approved by Cabinet, Cabinet Member Communities & Housing will be 
given delegated authority to finalise the action plan, which will help 
deliver the strategy.  
 

3.3 The process to undertake the Homelessness Review, and to produce the 
Homelessness Strategy has been the subject of significant consultations. 
The views from a variety of stakeholders were sought as part of this 
homelessness review, this included both commissioners and services 
providers from the public, and VCF sectors, together with a number of 
face-to-face interviews were undertaken with people who were 
experiencing homelessness. The draft Homelessness Strategy was also 
subject to a 12-week online consultation during the period from 7th 
September to 30th November 2018. 

Page 114

Agenda Item 9



 
 
Appendix A – Homelessness Strategy 
 

Sefton Homelessness Strategy 

2018 - 2023 

September 2018 

 
Commission by: Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council 

Formulated by: Neil Morland Housing Consultant Ltd 

 

 

Page 115

Agenda Item 9



Sefton Council 

Sefton Borough Council, a metropolitan district, was founded in 1974. The Council is a member of the Liverpool 

City Region Combined Authority, Merseyside Fire & Rescue Authority, and Merseyside Police & Crime Panel. 

 
 

Neil Morland Housing Consultant Ltd 

Established in 2011, Neil Morland Housing Consultant Ltd provides specialist advice on homelessness and 

housing allocation to public authorities, voluntary organisations, and others, throughout Great Britain. Our ethos 

is to provide efficient and quality services that are value for money. Our ambition is to reduce housing inequalities 

by improving social policies and practices. 

 
 
 
 

 
Acknowledgement 

This strategy was commissioned and funded by Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council. Our thanks go to Neil 

Davies and Alistair Malpas from the local authority who provided invaluable assistance. We are grateful to 

everyone who generously inputted into to this report. We wish to acknowledge the important contributions made 

by Kate Gascoigne and Liz Griffiths. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Disclaimer: All views and any errors contained in this report are the responsibility of the author. The views 

expressed should not be assumed to be those of Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council or any of the persons who 

contributed to this Strategy. 

Page 116

Agenda Item 9



 

Table of Contents 

1. INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................... 2 

2. NATIONAL AND REGIONAL HOMELESSNESS CONTEXT ........................................... 3 

2.1 STATISTICS .............................................................................................................................................. 3 

2.2 HOMELESSNESS REDUCTION ACT 2017 .......................................................................... 5 

2.3 HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION AND RELIEF...................................................................................... 5 

2.4 UK GOVERNMENT PRIORITIES ............................................................................................................ 6 

2.5 LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY .......................................................................... 7 

3. LOCAL HOMELESSNESS CONTEXT ............................................................................. 8 

3.1 SEFTON HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 2013 - 2018 ........................................................... 8 

3.2 LEVELS OF HOMELESSNESS ................................................................................................................ 8 

3.3 RESOURCES FOR TACKLING HOMELESSNESS ................................................................................. 9 

3.4 ACTIVITIES TO PREVENT PEOPLE BECOMING HOMELESS ............................................................ 9 

3.5 ACTIVITIES TO SECURING ACCOMMODATION FOR PEOPLE WHO ARE HOMELESS ................ 10 

3.6 ACTIVITIES TO SUPPORT PEOPLE WHO ARE, OR HAVE BEEN, HOMELESS ............................ 11 

3.7 CONSULTATION WITH STAKEHOLDER AND SERVICE USERS ....................................................... 12 

3.8 FINDINGS ................................................................................................................................................ 12 

4. DELIVERING THIS HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY ...................................................... 15 

4.1 GENERAL PRINCIPLES ........................................................................................................................ 15 

4.2 CORPORATE COMMITMENT ................................................................................................................ 15 

4.3 HOMELESSNESS SERVICE PROVIDERS FORUM ............................................................................. 15 

5. ACTION PLAN ............................................................................................................... 18 

5.1 Homelessness Review Findings 

5.2 Homelessness Strategy Objectives 

Page 117

Agenda Item 9



2  

1. Introduction 
 
The approach taken to formulating this Homelessness Strategy, the fourth adopted by 

Sefton Council, complies with the obligations explained in the Homelessness Act 2002. 

 
This Strategy seeks to tackle all forms of homelessness, including those owed a statutory 

duty (typically families with dependent children, or vulnerable adults), but also people who 

are single, sleeping on the streets, or other in transient arrangements (e.g. sleeping on a 

friends’ sofa). 

 
When formulating this Strategy, regard was had to the conclusions of the recently published 

Sefton Homelessness Review, which assesses the levels and patterns of homelessness, 

plus identified gaps in knowledge and services, for the period of 2012/13 to 2017/18. 

 
While the Sefton Homelessness Review paints a picture on homelessness locally, it is the 

Sefton Homelessness Strategy that sets out how to address the issues locally. 

 
When formulating this strategy, other local and national plans for addressing homelessness 

were taken into account, as was the local Housing Allocations Policy and Tenancy Strategy, 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy plus regional housing strategies. 

 
The results of the Sefton Homelessness Review, have been used to inform this Strategy. 

The Strategy has specific objectives for: 

 
 Preventing homelessness 

 Securing suitable accommodation for those who are, or may become homeless 

 Providing support to those who are, or used to be homeless or at risk of becoming 

so, to prevent them from becoming homeless again 

 
A range of actions have been identified for Sefton Council, along with other organisations 

involved with tackling homelessness. Specific actions have been included for people who 

are more at risk of homelessness. The actions contained in this Strategy take consideration 

of how Sefton discharges its homelessness functions. Also taken into account are the 

functions exercised by Sefton Council’s children and adult social care responsibilities. The 

Strategy promotes working across organisations and policy boundaries, to ensure social 

inclusion and equality of access to services. 

 
Prior to finalising the strategy, a broad range of organisations have been consulted, 

including people that have experienced homelessness. Feedback has been used in the 

development of the strategy. 

 
This strategy will be place for the period of 2018 to 2023. 

  

Page 118

Agenda Item 9



3  

2. National and Regional Homelessness Context 
 
Decisions about homelessness law for England is the responsibility of the UK Government, 

the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Governments is charged with leading on 

policy formulation and implementation. 

 
2.1 Statistics 

The UK Government published strategies for preventing homelessness and ending rough 

sleeping in 2011 and 2012. Nevertheless, statistics collected by all English local housing 

authorities show that homelessness has worsened. Between 2012/13 to 2017/18, there was; 

 
 6% increase in the overall number of people assisted by local authorities, with levels 

peaking at record high of 280,690 in 2013/14, 9% above a low of 256,670 in 2013/14 

 6% increase in the number of people whose homelessness was prevented, with 

levels peaking at a record high of 209,000 in 2013/14, 14% above a low of 181,900 

in 2013/14 

 29% reduction in the number of people whose homelessness was relieved, with 

levels peaking at a high of 21,000 in 2012/13, 33% above the record low of 14,520 

2015/16 

 6% increase in the number of people owed the main housing (homelessness) duty of 

assistance (s.193(2), part 7, Housing Act 1996), with levels peaking in at 59,110 

2016/17, an increase of 12% in the record low of 52,290 in 2013/14 

 31% increase in the number of households living in local authority temporary 

accommodation, from the low of 55,320 in 2012/13 

 51% increase in the number of people sleeping rough, from a low of 2,309 in 2012. 

 
Chart 1: Homelessness Levels, England, 2009/10 – 2017/18 

Source: UK Government

 181,900 

Page 119

Agenda Item 9



4  

55,320 

2013/14 

Chart 2: Temporary Accommodation, England, 2009/10 – 2017/18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Source: UK Government 

 
Chart 3: Rough Sleeping, England, 2010 - 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 
 

Source: UK Government 

 
These statistics show that more people are approaching local authorities for assistance, 

however the method in which they are being assisted has changed. The success of 

homelessness prevention activity continues to increase. However, fewer people are having 

their homelessness relieved. At the same time, more people are benefiting from the statutory 

safety net, applicable to those who have a priority need for accommodation and are not 

intentionally homeless. This has driven-up the number of people being provided with 

temporary accommodation. Meanwhile, the levels of people experiencing street 

homelessness has gone-up to a new high. The publication of homelessness statistics by the 

UK Government was criticised in 2015, by the UK Statistics Authority, for a lack of clarity. 

Subsequently, the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government has arranged 

to make significant changes to how homelessness is monitored from April 2018. 

58,410 

 
 
 
 
 

2012/13 

64,710 
71,670 

77,220 79,880 

Households in TA 

 
 

 
2,309 

 
 
 

2,414 

 
 
 

2,744 

4,751 

Rough Sleepers 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

4,134 
3,569 

Page 120

Agenda Item 9



5  

2.2 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

As a consequence of the increase in homelessness, the Communities and Local 

Government Select Committee launched an enquiry into homelessness in December 2015, 

The Committee concluded that, the cost and availability of housing has pushed the problem 

of homelessness to such a level that a renewed Government-wide strategy is needed. 

 
A Homelessness Reduction Bill was produced following the inquiry into homelessness, 

which subsequently became the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. From April 2018, a 

number of new duties were introduced, including: 

 
 Assessment of all eligible applicants’ cases and agreement a plan to meet housing 

and support needs 

 To relieve homelessness for anyone who is homeless as defined by law 

 To help to secure accommodation for people who are homeless or threatened 

homelessness 

 For public authorities to refer cases of homelessness to a local housing authority 

 
2.3 Homelessness Prevention and Relief 

Local authorities have voluntarily carried-out activities to prevent and relieve homelessness 

since 2003 onwards. A range of discretionary initiatives have been used to assist people 

who are homeless or threatened with homelessness. Any casework action that has been 

taken, is done so outside any legal obligation to do so. The UK Government recognises 

three forms of homelessness prevention: 

 
 Early Prevention - Making accommodation and support available before crisis point. 

 Pre-Crisis Prevention - Advice and proactive intervention to allow time to move to 

alternative accommodation. 

 Preventing Reoccurring Homelessness - Support to ensure tenancy sustainment, 

avoid repeat homelessness. 

 
In 2012/13, the split between people being helped to remain in their existing homes verses 

being helped to obtained alternative accommodation was 52/48 respectively. 

 
The most common casework action taken to prevent homelessness, by helping people to 

remain in their existing accommodation, include: 

 
 12% - resolving housing benefit problems 

 10% - assistance to remain in private rented sector accommodation 

 6% - debt advice 

 
The most common casework action taken to prevent or relieve homelessness, by assisting 

people to obtain alternative accommodation, include: 

 
 28% - private rented sector (with or without use of a landlord incentive) 

 24% - allocation of social housing 

 17% - hostel or house of multiple occupation 

Page 121

Agenda Item 9

https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/communities-and-local-government/Homelessness-Reduction-Bill.pdf


6  

Chart 4: Homelessness Prevention Outcomes, England, 2009/10 – 2017/18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Source: UK Government 

 
Casework action associated with housing benefit problems has doubled in recent years, 

During the same period the number of people whose reason for loss of their last settled 

home is due to the end of assured shorthold tenancy has increased to become the main 

reason for homelessness, accounting for 31% of cases in 2016/17. The National Audit 

Office, reported in 2017 that a succession of reforms to welfare benefits entitlements, 

implemented by the UK Government, are not coincidental. The report criticised the lack of a 

joined-up Government strategy for tackling homelessness. 

 
2.4 UK Government Priorities 

The UK Government has received criticism about rising levels of homelessness and lack of 

a coherent strategy for tackling the problems from the UK Statistics Authority (in 2015), the 

Communities & Local Government Select Committee (in 2016), the National Audit Office, the 

Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman, and the Commons Public Account 

Committee (all in 2017). 

 
Subsequently, the UK Government made a manifesto commitment to halve rough sleeping 

by 2022 and end it by 2027. A taskforce has been assembled to provide advice on the 

formulation of a national strategy. Piloting of the Housing First approach to help people stop 

sleeping rough has been announced, which includes the Liverpool City Region. A Rough 

Sleeping Initiative was launched at the end of March 2018, this involves a cross-disciplinary 

team of made up of experts from the homelessness sector. A new strategy for ending rough 

sleeping in England is due to be published by the UK Government in July 2018, focusing on 

the themes of prevention, intervention and recovery. 

 
The UK Government has allocated a substantial sum of funding to help tackle 

homelessness. During the present spending period (2016/17 – 2019/20), £1.2bn will be 

awarded to local authorities and voluntary organisations. 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Remain in existing home Obtain alternative accommodation 

111,900 109,220 

94,700 

87,200 

98,000 
102,770 

95,800 95,970 

105,900 

94,260 

110,310 

88,790 

Page 122

Agenda Item 9



7  

The UK Government has established a Homelessness Advice and Support Team, offering 

support to local authorities. A new statutory code of guidance and secondary legislation has 

been published. The National Homelessness Advice Service has delivered funding to 

frontline staff. A new Duty to Refer cases of homelessness will come into force from October 

for specified public bodies, to help identify and assist people who are homeless or 

threatened with homelessness. 

 
2.5 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

The strategic Combined Authority covers the Merseyside Metropolitan County, plus Halton. 

While the legal responsibilities for homelessness remains a matter for national and local 

governments, there are positive opportunities to collaborate with the other Merseyside LA’s 

and the Combined Authority to tackle homelessness issues. Steve Rotherham, the Elected 

Mayor of the Liverpool City Region made a manifesto pledge to tackle homelessness and 

street sleeping. A homeless advisor was appointed shortly after his election and more 

recently a strategic lead for homelessness has been appointed to the Liverpool City region 

Combined Authority. The Combined Authority has already backed a report published by 

Crisis, calling for adoption of the Housing First approach across the City Region. 

Subsequently the Government has awarded £.7.7m to the Combined Authority to carry out a 

Housing First Pilot, together with £2.2m for a homeless Trailblazer initiative. 

 
Housing First is a system of support for homeless people with high and complex needs 

which is designed to deliver a sustainable exit from homelessness, improve health and well- 

being and enable social integration. Housing First uses ordinary housing, such as private 

rented or social rented flats and is designed to house formerly homeless people with high 

needs in their own, settled homes as quickly as possible and to provide the support they will 

need to sustain an exit from homelessness in their own home. 

 
The Trailblazer initiative seeks to develop initiatives to tackle rough sleeping across the sub- 

region, as well as put in place local initiatives for early intervention and prevention of 

homelessness. 

 
There will be inter-dependencies between Trailblazer and Housing First given that there will 

be common stakeholders and complementary services and common objectives. The LCR 

sees these two funds as being wholly complementary and will manage them accordingly. 

Page 123

Agenda Item 9



8  

3. Local Homelessness Context 
 
3.1 Sefton Homelessness Strategy 2013 - 2018 

Sefton’s previous Homelessness Strategy, for the period of 2013 – 2018, saw a number of 

actions delivered to reduce the levels of rough sleeping, this included introduction of 

services offered to people sleeping rough. Actions to prevent homelessness included the re- 

introduction of home visits for people at risk of homelessness. Actions to ensure that 

sufficient accommodation is available to tackle homelessness included a review of all 

supported accommodation and commissioning of new services. Alongside this Emmaus 

Society were supported to deliver new accommodation with employment/training for 

homeless people in Seaforth. Actions to provide support, information, advice and assistance 

to tackle homelessness included a review of tenancy support provision, and commissioning 

of new services. Actions to make available the required levels of resources for tackling 

homelessness included continued investment in homelessness services by the Council. 

 
3.2 Levels of Homelessness 

Homelessness decisions taken by Sefton Council over the last six years have remained 

relatively stable, except for a slight reduction in 2013/14 and 2014/15, and then there has 

been a large increase in 2017 – 2018. White single men aged 25-44 years of age represents 

the most common characteristic of households making an application for homelessness 

assistance. 

 
Chart 5: Homelessness decisions, Sefton, 2012/13 – 20117/18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Source: Sefton Council 

 
Just under a quarter of all children in Sefton are living in poverty. Just over a quarter of all 

people aged 16-64 years living in Sefton are economically inactive. The ratio of house prices 

to earnings is 6.59 times for Sefton households. Future levels of homelessness are likely to 

increase due to economic and housing market factors. House price to earnings ratios are of 

particular concern, meaning many people will not be able to afford to buy a home, putting 

further pressure on an already limited supply of affordable housing. 

148 
133 

243 

194 193 189 

2017-2018 2016 -2017 2015 - 2016 2014- 2015 2013 - 2014 2012 - 2013 

Page 124

Agenda Item 9



9  

Chart 6: Ratio of house prices to earning, Sefton compared to Liverpool City Region, North West, and 
England 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
Source: UK Government 

 

3.3 Resources for tackling homelessness 

Sefton Council’s own spending on homelessness is complimented by grants received from 

the UK Government. £1.4m is budgeted from Sefton Council’s own funds, the contribution 

from UK Government has increased by 32%. 

 
Table 1: UK Government Homelessness Funding Allocations to Sefton Council, 2016/17 – 2019/20 

Homelessness Grant £346,311 

Flexible Homelessness Support Grant £505,476 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2016 New Burdens Grant £163,909 

Total £505,476 

Source: UK Government 

 
The Local Authority employs 12 people full-time staff with the skills to administer homeless 

duties, nine permanent posts are being complimented with three additional temporary 

positions. If future levels of homelessness increase as predicted, more resources will be 

needed to perform the public law responsibilities. 

 
A recent IT upgrade has been installed to aid administration of homeless functions, which 

will help to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of Sefton Council’s Homelessness 

Service. 

 
3.4 Activities to Prevent People Becoming Homeless 

Some early homelessness prevention activity is currently taking place to help people who 

are more at risk of becoming homeless, by a number of public authorities. However, not 

enough is being done to help people leaving prison, and those who are vulnerable adults. 

Existing arrangements exist to help a number of other vulnerable groups, but these require 

updating with opportunity to consider improvements that could be made to these 

arrangements for how people leaving care, hospital and escaping domestic abuse are 

8.95 

6.59 

4.49 
5.55 

SEFTON 
METROPOLITAN 

BOROUGH COUNCIL 

LIVERPOOL CITY 
REGION 

NORTH WEST ENGLAND 

2016 Source Office for National Statistics 

Page 125

Agenda Item 9



10  

helped. Sefton Council has effective (protocol and service) arrangements for to help children 

aged 16 or 17 years of age who are at risk of homelessness. 

 
Sefton Council’s Homelessness Service is undertaking limited pre-crisis homelessness 

prevention activity. This is primarily concentrated on helping to obtain alternative 

accommodation. Much more needs to be done to help people remain in existing 

accommodation, whenever this is safe to do so. 

 
Chart 7: Homelessness prevention casework activity outcomes, Sefton, 2012/13 – 2017/18 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

HOMELESSNESS  PREVENTED: EXISTING HOME HOMELESSNESS PREVENTED OR RELIEVED: 
ALTERNATIVE ACCOMMODATION 

 

Source: Sefton Council 

 

3.5 Activities to Securing Accommodation for People Who Are Homeless  

Temporary accommodation provided or commissioned by Sefton Council to homeless 

applicants has increased by 24% during the past five years, however the actual number 

remain low. The number of single males and those with mental ill health is far above rates 

elsewhere. Most people move-on from temporary accommodation within 6 months. 

 
Sefton Council’s Homelessness Service undertakes very limited homelessness relief activity. 

There is limited affordable private rented sector accommodation for people having to claim 

help with paying housing costs. Demand for social housing does not match the supply 

available. Two-bedroom bungalows have the highest number of bids, three-bedroom flats 

have the lowest number of bids. The administration of allocating social housing is performed 

by One Vision Housing on behalf of the local authority, with the policy for controlling this 

process is jointly agreed with five neighbouring local housing authorities, plus more than 20 

social landlords. These arrangements would benefit from being reviewed, to ensure they 

remain effective, value for money and a quality service is provided. The housing allocation 

policy would benefit from being checked to ensure compliance with the law.  

This should include a review of any barriers to social housing experienced by homeless 

clients.

990 

257 

Page 126

Agenda Item 9



11  

Chart 8: Average number of bids per property, Sefton, 2016/17 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Source: Sefton Council 

 

3.6 Activities to Support People Who Are, or Have Been, Homeless 

Statutory homeless households are primarily single males, with mental illness who became 

homeless due to others no longer willing to accommodate them. This makes Sefton a 

significant outlier to the rest of the country. 

 
A number of voluntary organisations are commissioned by the local authority to provide 

accommodation-based and floating support for single homeless people, people with a 

history of offending and people with a substance misuse problem. Single homeless people 

living in supported accommodation stay on average between 99 to 231 days. 

Accommodation-based support housing is reliant on shared and communal living 

arrangements, in often older properties that can’t be described as psychologically informed 

environments that are conducive to recovering from the experience of being homeless, 

although there is recognition of improvements that providers have made to the quality of 

this accommodation in recent years. 

Floating support provision is taking longer to achieve the standard of outcomes being 

achieved by accommodation-based schemes. A light touch performance monitoring and 

contract management regime is in place to oversee the delivery of these services. 

 
Sefton Supported Housing Group, consortium of voluntary organisations, operate a range of 

accommodation-based support services for single homeless people, with supported housing 

located in Southport and Bootle. The consortium members consist of Bosco, Excel Housing, 

New Start, and Venus. Outcomes achieved for people living in the supported housing are 

monitored by Sefton Council, to ensure contracts are value for money, delivery quality 

support and are operating efficiently. Support providers are monitored against four key 

outcomes that people in receipt of support are expected to achieve whilst in receipt of 

support. Typically, positive outcomes are reported for economic wellbeing and enjoying 

achieving, with more mixed outcomes being reported for being healthy and staying safe. 

 
The Council should review it’s commissioned services over the lifetime of this strategy to 

ensure they meet needs in the most appropriate way. 

60 

31 

20 19 17 

3 
16 

3 8 6 3 

Page 127

Agenda Item 9



12  

Chart 9: Sefton Single Homelessness Group service users’ outcomes on exit from support, 2015/16 

 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 

 
 

   
 

  

 

 

 
 

People experiencing street homeless are concentrated in Southport, assisted via numerous 

community-based initiatives. Alongside this are numerous incidents of anti-social ‘street 

activities’ such as begging, and drinking, which distort the true levels of rough sleeping. 

 
People throughout the borough are likely to be experiencing hidden homeless. No specific 

services are commissioned to tackle hidden homelessness, and not enough information is 

collected on the scale of this form of homelessness. 

 
3.7 Consultation with stakeholder and service users 

Stakeholders and service users agreed that social housing was the best housing option for 

people who are homeless or threatened with homelessness. 

 
Stakeholders believed that more needs to be done to prevent homelessness, service users 

wanted more housing to be available to help those who are already homeless. 

 
3.8 Findings 

The local authority could do more to monitor the current and future levels of homelessness. 

Better sharing of this intelligence would lead to a greater understand of the scale and nature 

of homelessness in Sefton, and assist policy making. 

 
Research needs to be carried out into why there is such a high prevalence of single 

homeless males with mental ill health in Sefton. 

 
An increase in early and pre-crisis homelessness prevention activities are required. This will 

help to better target people more at risk of homelessness, plus help people to remain in their 

existing accommodation or secure alternative accommodation prior to becoming homeless. 

 
Additional accommodation is needed for people who are experiencing homelessness. 

Further incentives to encourage private landlords need to be expanded and developed. The 

rules and practices for allocating social housing would benefit from being reviewed. 

292 
306 

149 

107 116 112 

81 

56 54 

341 

177 185 

ACHIEVE ECONOMIC 
WELLBEING 

ENJOYING AND 
ACHIEVING 

BEING HEALTHY STAY SAFE 

Met/Yes No Working Towards 

Page 128

Agenda Item 9



13  

A dispersed provision of temporary accommodation would be better than current 

arrangements, which concentrates this provision in the Bootle area. In future temporary 

accommodation should be located as near as possible to a persons’ last settled address, 

with opportunities for converting temporary into permanent being facilitated. This 

accommodation could be procured by the local authority and/or a third-party agent, from 

social and private landlords, and be managed by a local authority and/or a third-party agent. 

Floating support should be provided to all occupants of temporary accommodation. 

 
Commissioning of supported housing would benefit from building on the existing consortium 

already in place and being more housing-led. The current provision of supported housing 

services is not personalised enough. The model relies on specific separate institutions which 

segregates people away from the wider community. This approach often dwells on people’s 

deficits, and negatively focuses on the challenging behaviour sometimes associated with 

being homeless, rather than addressing the poverty people are experiencing. A proposed 

future provision of supported housing homelessness specific services, would be housing-led, 

primarily based around the Housing First approach, but having mixed range of 

accommodation to cater for all types of needs. Whilst a Housing First model will be pursued, 

it is unlikely to replace all existing temporary accommodation over the lifetime of this 

strategy, as it is more likely to work alongside current provisions within the borough but not 

entirely replacing them. The method is based on what works to tackle multiple exclusion: 

 
 Personalised support – individually-tailored support that is open-ended, persistent, 

flexible and co-ordinated 

 Mainstream housing – social or private rented housing as an option as far as 

possible 

 Reintegration – Support to socialise and work in ordinary mainstream social settings 

 Asset-based – Identifies and nurtures people’s strengths and assets, as well as 

addressing their needs 

 Poverty Informed – Directly tackles the financial and material hardships that cause 

homelessness 

 
Street homelessness services need to concentrate on getting people into accommodation 

and getting them the right support. The current provision has too much of a reliance on 

volunteers who are seeking to improve the dignity of people sleeping by offering free food, 

clothing, bedding and showers. While this helps people to feel more comfortable when 

sleeping rough, it doesn’t always help to end the need for people to sleep rough. The day 

services on offer are well intentioned but often create a dependency and distract from the 

real goal of getting people off the streets. The accommodation being offered to people 

sleeping rough isn’t appealing to many, and even when there is a willingness to be referred, 

rules on exclusions can prohibit some of them from accessing this provision. A multi- 

disciplinary team of professionals from voluntary organisations will be best able to make 

contact and diagnose the support needs of people experiencing street homelessness and to 

assist them to broker access to mainstream services. This should include workers who have 

specialist knowledge or skills in homelessness law and housing advice, mental illness, 

substance dependency, offending behaviour and sexual health. Initial help should focus on 

securing short-term emergency accommodation (for a couple of days or weeks at the very 

most), until more mainstream accommodation can be obtained, in which they can recover 

from their experience of being homeless. Awarding each person an individual budget that 

Page 129

Agenda Item 9



14  

they control the spending of, will help them to purchase the items they need to help get them 

off the streets and remain indoors. Enabling assistance from a peer mentor, will provide the 

additional encouragement to live a more sustainable a way of life. 

 
This package of support could be funded via the integration of housing, health, social care, 

and criminal justice budgets. Alternatively, or additionally, funds could be raised by issuing a 

social impact bond, which has proven successful in Greater London. 

 
A better understand of the scale and nature of hidden homelessness is needed, so specific 

services can be commissioned. No official statistics are collected in Sefton, or elsewhere in 

the UK, about the number of people experiencing hidden homelessness. However, the 

London Assembly has forecast that the levels are 13 times greater than those who are street 

homeless. A response to hidden homelessness should focus on: 

 
 Prevention 

o Awareness raising about hidden homelessness 
o Risk assessment of people more likely to experience hidden homelessness 

 Relief 

o Targeted advice for people who are experiencing hidden homelessness 
o Help to obtain accommodation 

 Support 

o To escape assault and exploitation 
o To transition from childhood to adulthood 
o To identify as LGBT 
o To recover from domestic abuse 

 
Light for Life is one the few services that consciously offers services to those experiencing 

hidden homelessness, plus collects some intelligence on scale of this form of homelessness. 

 
The local response to hidden homelessness should be formalised so that better solutions 

can be put in place to prevent and relieve it for people from Sefton. 

Attention should be given to the needs of females in parts of the borough, where there is 

a need for additional specific targeted housing related support for single women without 

families. Females will often remain in housing situations that could see them legally 

defined as homeless, but they remain hidden. 

 
Consultation with people who are, or have been, homeless should be carried-out more 

frequently. 

Page 130

Agenda Item 9



15  

4. Delivering this Homelessness Strategy 

 
4.1 General Principles 

All of the approaches, as set out below, are recommended for the local authority to 

undertake. This will allow Sefton Council to deliver this Homelessness Strategy in the most 

appropriate and effective manner. 

 
The delivery of the strategy requires close working between housing services, adult social 

care services, children services, all of which are located within Sefton Council. These 

sections of the Sefton Council are required in law to take responsibility for tackling 

homelessness. 

 
Social landlords have regulatory responsibilities to assist local authorities with their 

homelessness functions. Therefore, these organisations are also expected to play an active 

role in the delivery of the strategy. 

 
Throughout duration of this strategy, Sefton Council will seek to build stronger relationship 

between departments and agencies, to foster a multi-agency commitment to deliver of the 

strategy. Sefton Council is especially keen to ensure involvement from the voluntary 

organisations, along with co-operation with a wide range of other public authorities (e.g. 

Prisons, NHS Trusts). Sefton Council will frequently confer with people who have experience 

of being homeless, to get their views about what works, any barriers to service and any 

suggestions for improvements. 

 
4.2 Corporate Commitment 

Progress towards tacking homelessness and achieving the objectives of this strategy will be 

reported to the Sefton Council’s Cabinet Member for Communities & Housing. Annual 

service plans should have clear responsibilities for tackling homelessness, linked to chief 

officers. 

 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees support the work of the Cabinet and the Council as a 

whole. They allow citizens to have a greater say in Council matters by holding public 

inquiries into matters of local concern. These lead to reports and recommendations which 

advise the Cabinet and the Council as a whole on its policies, budget and service delivery. 

The Committees also monitor the decisions of the Cabinet. 

 
The Council’s Overview & Scrutiny committee of elected councillors may also scrutinise the 

delivery of the homelessness strategy over its lifetime. They might consider a report on (i) 

levels of homelessness, (ii) activities on preventing homelessness, securing accommodation 

and providing support, (iii) resources for tackling homelessness. 

 
4.3 Homelessness Service Providers Forum 

A Homelessness Providers Forum will be used to oversee the delivery of the Sefton 

Homelessness Strategy Action Plan. The Group will meet every three months to (i) review 

the levels of homelessness, (ii) consider the activities for preventing homelessness, securing 

accommodation and providing support, and (iii) coordinate the resources for tacking 

homelessness. The Group will be responsible for annually updating the Plan, to ensure it 

Page 131

Agenda Item 9



16  

remains relevant. Membership consists of the Sefton Council’s strategic housing officers 

together with external agencies (commissioned and non-commissioned) who provide 

services to resolve homelessness. 

 
The Forum will be chaired by the lead Officer with responsibility for local housing authority 

functions. Lead officers with responsible for public law functions and/or funding of services 

that affect homelessness may join the membership of the Group, from the following business 

areas: 

 
 Adult social care 

 Children services 

 Public health 

 Community safety 

 Housing benefit 

 Plus, at least one representative of local social housing providers 

 
Membership of the Forum could also include all other agencies who make a contribution to 

resolving homelessness: 

 
 Any other public authority 

 Voluntary organisations 

 Any other interested persons (including those with experience of being homeless) 

 
Homelessness Strategy Task & Finish Groups will be established as and when needed, to 

accomplish specific tasks from the Sefton Homelessness Strategy Action Plan. Membership 

will consist of any relevant public authority, voluntary organisation or other person that 

attends the Homelessness Forum. These groups will be for a fixed term of no more than 12 

months. Specific action plans will be formulated to control the work of any such group. 

 
The Forum will also be the vehicle to recruit interested parties to participate in 

Homelessness Strategy Task & Finish Groups. 

 
4.5 Service User Involvement 

A panel of service user could be assembled annually to review the progress of delivering the 

Sefton Homelessness Strategy Action Plan, plus be consulted about the priorities for the 

year ahead. Their know-how will be used to ensure the activities carried out will have a 

relevant impact on the lives of those who it is intended to benefit. 

 
Additionally, an annual service users survey will be carried-out, to seek views of what’s 

working well and what could better in respect of the advice and assistance they receive to 

prevent or relieve homelessness. 

Page 132

Agenda Item 9



17  

Diagram 1: Sefton Homelessness Strategy Governance Structure 

 

 
Scrutiny Committee 

 
Service User 
Engagement 

 
Cabinet Member 

 
Homelessness 

Forum 

Page 133

Agenda Item 9



 

 

5. Action Plan 
Once the Homelessness Strategy is finalised, following consultation, the Council would 

propose to put in place an Action Plan to help deliver the objectives and key actions 

identified. 

 
5.1 Homelessness Review Findings 

The Review of Homelessness in Sefton (July 2018) assessed the current context of 

homelessness in the Sefton local authority area. An in-depth analysis was carried-out of the: 

 
 Current and future levels of homelessness 

 Resources available to tackle homelessness 

 Activities carried-out to 

o prevent homelessness 
o secure accommodation for people who are or maybe homeless 
o provide support for people who are or have been homeless 

 
The Review included assessment of needs of people who experience statutory, single, street 

and hidden homelessness, such as persons who have become intentionally homeless, as well 

as those who do not have a priority need for accommodation. This Strategy features actions 

that will benefit the four forms of homelessness described above. This would include actions to 

tackle anti-social behaviours often associated with rough sleeping, in addition to 

recommissioning and redesigning of supported housing provision and services, so that in the 

future it is housing-led. Particular focus would be given to remodelling supported housing. 

 
The Review identified what services worked well, for example help for 16/17-year-old children 

who are at risk of homelessness, as well as what provision could be better, for example the 

procurement and management of the Council’s own temporary accommodation so that this 

provision is dispersed across the borough, instead of being concentrated in one location. 

Actions for tackling youth homelessness and securing a suitable supply of temporary 

accommodation feature in the Strategy Action Plan. 

 
The Review also covered staffing arrangements, which will need to be re-evaluated 12 months 

after enactment of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, plus funding for which Sefton 

Council (along with neighbouring local authorities) will need to work with the Liverpool City 

Region Combined Authority to pilot the ‘housing first’ approach across the Merseyside and 

Halton area. 

 
5.2 Homelessness Strategy Objectives 

Taking a lead from the primary areas covered by the Review, the following objectives would 

be adopted for this Strategy: 

1. Monitor the current and future likely levels of homelessness 

2. Resource activities to tackle homelessness 

3. Prevent homelessness 

4. Secure accommodation for those who are homeless or threatened with 

homelessness 

5. Support people who are, or have been, homeless 
 
 
 

Page 134

Agenda Item 9



 

 

APPENDIX B 
 

Equality Impact Assessment: Sefton Homelessness Strategy 2018 - 2023  
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The Equality Act 2010 outlines how public bodies must have due regard to: 
 

1. Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this act 

2. Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it 

3. Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
 

2.0 Protected Characteristics 
 
2.1 Equality Act 2010 is clear that there are particular characteristics that are intrinsic to 
an individual against which it would be easy to discriminate. Section 149 (the Public 
Sector Equality Duty) lists the characteristics known as ‘protected characteristics’ against 
which we have to test for discrimination. These characteristics are gender, race/ethnicity, 
religion and belief, sexual orientation, age, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity and disability. 
 
2.2 The development and publication of the Homelessness Review and Strategy is a 
statutory duty that must be undertaken at least every five years. The purpose of the 
Strategy is to inform commissioning decisions across local services focussing on the 
needs of residents who may need to access homeless and housing related services, and 
to those who are or will become service users. Much of the emphasis of the Strategy is 
on preventative services to mitigate the negative impacts of homelessness for the 
individual, their family and the wider community. 
 
2.3 As part of the development of this Homelessness Strategy In the formulation of the 
Homelessness Review and this Homelessness Strategy a number of face-to-face 
interviews were undertaken with people who were experiencing homelessness and the 
Providers of Sefton’s Homelessness Services were invited to complete the Sefton 
Homeless Strategy 2018 – 2023 Stakeholder Consultation in March 2018.  
 
3.0 Identifying Impacts across protected characteristics 

 

Protected 
characteristic 

Recommendations/mitigating actions  

Gender 
 
 

The review identified a high level of single male homeless 
applicants. 
 
Mitigating actions:  
Sefton will seek to develop a better understanding as to why there 
are exceptionally high levels of lone male applicants in temporary 
accommodation, relative the number of households with 
dependent children. 
 

Page 135

Agenda Item 9



 

 

Age 
 
 

There were concerns raised about the availability of supported 
housing and housing related support for single homeless young  
People. 
 
Mitigating Actions: 
 
There were concerns raised about the availability of better 
support before, during and after leaving care 
 
Sefton provide a range of homelessness prevention activities for 
people leaving care, however these practices and protocols could 
be improved.  
 

Disability 
 
 

Whilst there was nothing of concern coming from the findings 
relating specifically to disability we are aware of the need to 
continue to ensure that our services are accessible to all 
members of the community  
 
Mitigating actions:  
 

Race/Ethnicity  
 

Whilst there was nothing of concern coming from the findings 
relating specifically to race/ethnicity we are aware of the need to 
continue to ensure that our services are accessible to all 
members of the community 
 
Mitigating actions: 
 

Religion or 
belief  

Whilst there was nothing of concern coming from the findings 
relating specifically to religion or belief we are aware of the need 
to continue to ensure that our services are accessible to all 
members of the community  
 
Mitigating actions: 
 

Sexual 
Orientation 

People who are more likely to experience hidden homelessness 
are more likely to be of a young adult, identify as lesbian, gay, 
bisexual and/or transgender, and/or escaping domestic abuse 
 
Mitigating actions: 
A greater understanding of hidden homelessness needs to be 
developed by Sefton 

Gender 
Reassignment  

People who are more likely to experience hidden homelessness 
are more likely to be of a young adult, identify as lesbian, gay, 
bisexual and/or transgender, and/or escaping domestic abuse 
 
Mitigating actions: 
A greater understanding of hidden homelessness needs to be 
developed by Sefton 
 

Pregnancy and 
maternity  

Whilst there was nothing of concern coming from the findings 
relating specifically to disability we are aware of the need to 

Page 136

Agenda Item 9



 

 

continue to ensure that our services are accessible to all 
members of the community  
 
Mitigating actions: 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 137

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to: Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting: 10 January 2019 

Subject: Procurement of Land Based, Coastal Remote Sensing Services 
 

Report of: Head of Locality 
Services  
 

Wards Affected: Ainsdale; 
Blundellsands; 
Cambridge; Church; 
Dukes; Harington; 
Linacre; Manor; 
Ravenmeols; 

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Health and Wellbeing,  
Cabinet Member - Locality Services 
 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan: 

yes 
 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

N 
 

 
Summary: 
To seek Cabinet approval of this pre-procurement report to invite tenders through an 
OJEU Open procurement procedure, for the provision of a land based coastal remote 
sensing services to collect a range of datasets to support sustainable coastal 
management decisions as the total contract value (£5m) exceeds 3 x the relevant OJEU 
Threshold, currently £181,302, totalling £543,906. 
 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
That Cabinet : 
 
(1)  Approves the pre-procurement report describing the tender process to procure the 

provision of land based coastal remote sensing services, to be published on The 
Chest using an OJEU Open Tender procedure, as outlined in this report. 

 
(2) Authorises the contract period of 2 years from 1st May 2019 to 31st March 2021, with 

2 x 12-month option periods available following the core period. 
 
(3) Gives delegated authority to the Head of Locality Services, in consultation with the 

relevant Cabinet Member – Health and Wellbeing to award the Contract resulting 
from the procurement. 

 
Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 
 
The Council host the North West Regional Monitoring Programme which is 100% grant 
funded by the Environment Agency. The programme collects a range of coastal 
monitoring data across the North West. A number of frameworks exist for the collection 
of these datasets using traditional methods such as aerial photography and ground 
surveys. There have been a number of significant advances in data collection using 
remote sensing technology. A framework is required to enable installation of these 
systems as and when opportunities and funding become available. A framework will be 

Page 139

Agenda Item 10



 

 

the most efficient method of procurement for these services. As the value of the 
framework (£5m) exceeds 3 x the relevant OJEU Threshold, currently £181,302, totalling 
£543,906, approval is sought from Cabinet for the procurement process 
 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 
 
Deployments could be considered on a case by case basis, but this would significantly 
increase the number of procurement exercises and associated officer time. It could also 
result in several different systems being introduced that would reduce the efficiencies 
and compatibility across the region.  
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 
There are no direct revenue costs. 
 
(B) Capital Costs 
 
The  Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme is within the approved Capital 
Programme, funded through an external grant from the Environmental Agency - a 
funding package of £3.4million from 2016-2021. There have been efficiencies in 
procurement of other services and changes to the anticipated programme that has made 
additional funding available for this technology. The Programme is developing a bid for a 
continuation of funding for 2021-2026. Should this funding not be secured then the 
operation of the system will cease unless alternative funding can be found. 
 
 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
Funding for the system up to 2021 can be met out of the existing regional monitoring 
capital programme. Funding post 2021 is subject to grant being allocated. The contract 
will make more staff time available for data analysis rather than survey work. All other 
requirements are met with existing IT equipment. The new survey equipment would 
remain in the ownership of the contractor and not the council.  
 

Legal Implications: 
The contract will need to be advertised in the Official Journal of the European Union as 
the contract value has the potential to exceed the applicable spend threshold. 
As determined by the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, the contract will need to be 
sealed as its total value will be in excess of £100,000. 
 

Equality Implications: 

There are no equality implications.  

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 

Protect the most vulnerable: 
 

Page 140

Agenda Item 10



 

 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 
The information collected will improve decisions made in relation to coastal protection 
and erosion. Support those communities at risk in those areas enabling them to better 
understand and prepare for the risks. 

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
 

Place – leadership and influencer: 
This cutting edge technology can put the authority at the forefront of coastal monitoring 
and decision making. This will enable us to confidently participate in discussions relating 
to the coast. 

Drivers of change and reform: 
Improve our understanding of the coastal system enabling challenge of standard 
practice to maximise our budgets and assets. 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: 
Through better coastal management more confidence can be made in development 
along the coastline. 

Greater income for social investment:  
 

Cleaner Greener 
Improved management of our coastal sites through maximising our resources. 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD.5482/18) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer 
 (LD.4607/28) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the 
report. 
 
(B) External Consultations  
 
not applicable 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting 
 
 

Contact Officer: Paul Wisse 

Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 2959 

Email Address: paul.wisse@sefton.gov.uk 

 
Appendices: 
 
None 
 
Background Papers: 
 
None 
 

Page 141

Agenda Item 10



 

 

1. Introduction/Background 

 
1.1 Sefton Council has been the lead authority for the North West Regional Coastal 

Monitoring Programme since 2007, collecting and analysing data to inform 
decisions relating to coastal erosion and flood risk management issues and 
support the delivery of the Shoreline Management Plan. 
 

1.2 A nationally coordinated grant application was made to the Environment Agency 
in November 2015, and an indicative grant allocation of £3.14million, for the 
period 2016-2021 has been allocated to the North West programme. Sefton 
Council manages the grant on behalf of all the North West Maritime Authorities. 
 

1.3 Several frameworks were set up nationally at the start of the programme in 2016. 
Sefton Council has been using these to procure services for: 
 
 Topographic Surveys 
 Hydrodynamic Surveys 
 Analytical Services 
 Aerial Photography Surveys 
 Ecological Mapping  
 Bathymetric Surveys 

 
 These frameworks do not include provision for land based remote sensing 

technology. 
 
1.4 Sefton Council led a pilot deployment of a radar land based remote sensing 

system at Hall Road, Crosby over Winter 2017. The deployment was very 
successful with data requirements being met and a significant advancement in our 
understanding of the coastal processes in that area as a result.  

 
 
2. Procurement Process 

 
2.1 It is proposed to establish a Framework Agreement, with individual pieces of work 

let on a ‘call-off / direct award’ basis and where the total value over the framework 
period would not exceed £5m. The result of the procurement exercise would be 
the appointment of a single Framework provider.  

 
2.2 A single framework provider will be procured via The Chest using an OJEU Open 

Tender process in accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. The 
basis of evaluation will be MEAT (Most Economically Advantageous Tender) 
taking into consideration a balance between Quality and Cost, with costs based 
on an agreed set of service rates. 

 
2.3 The performance of the provider will be reviewed annually, and the Council will 

include a provision to terminate the contract if the performance of the provider 
does not meet the agreed performance indicators. 

  
2.4 The Framework Agreement is proposed to run for a three-year core period, from 

1st May 2019 to 31st March 2021. Subject to the satisfactory performance of the 
provider and, if there are schemes in development where further work is required, 
it is proposed to include 2 x 12-month option periods available following the core 

Page 142

Agenda Item 10



 

 

period . On completion of the procurement process, it is proposed that the Head of 
Locality Services is authorised to award the contract. 

 
2.5 The range of data products that are expected to be included in the contract are as 

follows: 
 

 topographical elevations in the intertidal region  

 subtidal bathymetry  

 surface current directions and magnitudes  

 wave direction and period 

 wind  

 tidal elevations 

 video camera data  

 bird movements and congregations 

 provision of bespoke training 

 
2.6 The Framework would be available to Local Authority members of the North West 

and North Wales Coastal Group and the lead partners from the National Network 
of Regional Coastal monitoring Programmes.  

 

 
 

 

 

Page 143

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 10 January 2019 
 

Subject: Sefton New Directions Limited – appointment of shareholder 
representative 
 

Report of: Executive Director 
 

Wards Affected: All 

Cabinet Portfolio: Adult Social Care 
 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No 

 
Summary: 
This report seeks authorisation to appoint a nominated shareholder representative for 
Sefton New Directions Limited (“New Directions”), in order to strengthen governance and 
support continued growth of the business. 
 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 

i. Nominate and appoint a Cabinet Member as shareholder representative for 

New Directions; 

ii. Delegate the appointment of new members (excluding elected members) of 

the New Directions board to the shareholder representative; 

iii. Delegate the approval of updated articles of association for the New Directions 

board, and the approval of the Strategy and Business Plan, to the shareholder 

representative; 

 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 
 
To ensure more robust governance is in place for the New Directions business, as well 
as an approach that is consistent with governance structures for the Housing 
Development Company.  
 
To support strengthening of the capacity and capability of the New Directions board, and 
in turn the continued improvement of service delivery on behalf of clients and end users, 
and the profitable growth of the business with existing and new clients. 
 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 
 
  

1. Maintain existing board structure and membership 

Page 145

Agenda Item 11



 

 

Maintenance of the existing composition, structure and working cadence of the 
board would fail to address the feedback raised in respect of the opportunities to 
strengthen governance, relationships and performance. 
 

2. Widen board membership, also establishing an Executive Committee 

Although this would entail addition of new board members and their expertise, 
there is a risk that formation of an Executive Committee above the board itself 
would undermine the status of the latter, and potentially create a “board within a 
board”. Such a structure may also add increasing complexity to governance 
process, and would be inconsistent with the board structure of the Housing 
Development Company. 

 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
Approach to remuneration of board members remains within the articles of association of 
the company. No further costs are anticipated. 
 
(A) Revenue Costs – None to the council 
 
(B) Capital Costs – None to the council 
 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):  
As well as the Council Chief Executive’s continued membership of the New Directions 
board, it may be that further officers become board members. Moreover, certain board 
members may be required to provide greater support to management in respect of 
governance, operations, strategy and business planning. There may also be a 
requirement for board member training. 
 

Legal Implications: None 
 

Equality Implications: None 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 

Protect the most vulnerable: Strengthened governance, and greater capacity and 
capability of the board to support management, will support enhancements to the 
quality of service delivery to clients and end users. 
 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: N/A 
 

Commission, broker and provide core services: Strengthened governance, and greater 
capacity and capability of the board to support management, will support enhancements 
to the quality of service delivery to clients and end users. 
 

Place – leadership and influencer: N/A 
 

Drivers of change and reform: Strengthened governance, and greater capacity and 
capability of the board to support management, will support continued performance 
improvement and financial sustainability of the New Directions business. 
 

Page 146

Agenda Item 11



 

 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Continued growth of the business will 
enhance returns to the council for reinvestment in public services. 
 

Greater income for social investment: Strengthened governance, and greater capacity 
and capability of the board to support management, will support development and 
implementation of strategy and business plan for the profitable growth of the business 
with existing and new clients, thereby increasing income to the Council as shareholder. 
 

Cleaner Greener: N/A 
 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD 5477 /18) has been consulted andhas no 
comments on the report. The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD 4602 /18) has 
been consulted and comments have been incorporated into the report.  
 
The Executive Director of the Council, on behalf of the existing board members, is the 
author of the report. Those board members, as well as the management team of New 
Directions, and the Council’s Adult Social Care and Commissioning teams, have been 
consulted, and any comments have been incorporated into the report. 
 
(B) External Consultations  
 
N/A 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
Following the expiry of the Call-in period of the Cabinet meeting.  
 

Contact Officer: Stephen Watson 

Telephone Number: 07922 580936 

Email Address: Stephen.watson@sefton.gov.uk  

 
Appendices: 
 
N/A 
 
Background Papers: 
 
There are no background papers available for inspection. 
 
  

Page 147

Agenda Item 11

mailto:Stephen.watson@sefton.gov.uk


 

 

 
Introduction/Background 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 This report aims to provide a summary of observations and proposed 
discussion and action areas arising from the review undertaken to date of the New 
Directions business, and its relationships with Sefton Council. The review has 
been undertaken by an Executive Director of the Council, on behalf of the board 
members. 
 
1.2 The review has not assessed the financial standing of the company in any 
detail, given the recent review and approval of audited accounts by the board, and 
sign-off of the business as a going concern. 
 
1.3 Moreover, although strategy and business plan are identified as key work 
areas, this review has not finalised that strategy itself. This is a separate 
undertaking led by the management team, with which continued support will be 
provided by the Executive Director. 
 

2. Governance and Board 
2.1 The review identifies that there is a desire to further strengthen the capacity 
and capability of the board in respect of both commerciality and subject matter 
expertise specific to the business. Moreover, there is a desire for end-user 
representation on the board, reflective of continued commitment to quality service 
delivery and the communities served by the Council and the business. 
 
2.2 Although New Directions is wholly owned by the Council, there is merit in 
continued independence of the business, as well as continued development of its 
working relationship with the Council’s Commissioning and Adult Social Care 
teams. 
 
2.3 The review identifies opportunity to refresh the terms of reference for the 
board, including the processes relating to reporting by management to the board 
itself. 
 
2.4 Areas in which new board members may be appointed, and in which capacity 
and expertise may be added to support the business and management, include an 
additional councillor, an individual with a commercial perspective to support 
growth, an individual with sector-specific subject matter expertise to support 
quality and service delivery, and an end-user representative who will support 
continued development of those critical relationships. 
 
2.5 Various options have been reviewed by the board in respect of structure, and 
it is proposed to widen board membership to increase capacity and capability in 
these areas. Terms of reference will be updated for both voting and non-voting 
board members, and will be consistent with those relating to the Housing 
Development Company.  
 
2.6 Moreover, it is proposed to appoint an individual as shareholder representative 
on behalf of the Council. This approach will also be consistent with the Housing 
Development Company, and will support strengthened governance of the 
business. Identification and appointment of new board members would be led by 

Page 148

Agenda Item 11



 

 

the shareholder representative, whereas the appointment of elected members to 
the board would remain a Cabinet function. 
  
2.7 Formal reporting processes, performance management processes, and 
training where applicable, will be developed and provided. 
 

3. Other Review Areas 
3.1 The review process offers opportunity to share positive feedback on 
management, who are knowledgeable, passionate and engaged in the future of 
the business, and reflect a strong organisational culture which provides a platform 
for future growth of the business.  
 
3.2 With the appointment of a new Managing Director, there is opportunity to 
implement a more robust performance management process for all team 
members, including personal objectives, personal development planning and 
mentorship. The new board will have an important role to play in this process. 
 
3.3 The management team will continue to work with the Council’s Commissioning 
and Adult Social Care teams, to sustain and develop a partnering relationship that 
ensures achievement of mutual objectives. This will include establishment of client 
relationship management and feedback processes. 
 
3.4 The management team will continue to develop the strategy process, including 
evaluation of further opportunities with existing clients, as well as new clients. This 
strategy will support the development of a Business Plan for New Directions, 
including financial and action plans to drive continued growth and improvement in 
service delivery of the organisation. 

 
 

Page 149

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to: Cabinet  
 
Council 

Date of Meeting: Thursday 10 
January 2019 
Thursday 24 
January 2019 

Subject: Making the Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans 
 

Report of: Chief Planning 
Officer   
 

Wards Affected: Molyneux; Park; 
Sudell 

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Planning and Building Control   
 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

No  
 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No 
 

 
Summary: 
 
Neighbourhood Plans can be prepared by the local community to guide development in 
their local area. Once they have been submitted to the Council, the Local Planning 
Authority has a legal duty to arrange an independent examination of the submitted Plan 
to make sure it meets the ‘basic conditions’ and determine whether it can go to 
referendum. 
 
Following examination, the respective Examiners have recommended that both the 
Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans can proceed to referendum. These were held 
on 18th December 2018.  As long as a simple majority of those who vote (50% + 1) in 
each parish vote in favour of their respective Plans (i.e. agree with the proposals in their 
respective Plan) being approved, the Council has a legal duty to ‘make’ (i.e. adopt) the 
Neighbourhood Plans as part of the Development Plan for Sefton.   
 
The purpose of this report is to seek the Council’s formal approval to ‘make’ the Lydiate 
and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans part of the statutory Development Plan for Sefton as 
required by the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Localism Act 2011.  This 
will mean that the plans will be used to determine planning applications in Lydiate and 
Maghull Parishes in addition to the Local Plan. 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
Cabinet notes that the Lydiate and Maghull NPs were passed at referendum and that 
they will now proceed to Council to be ‘made’. 
 
Council ‘make’ the Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans part of the Development 
Plan for Sefton.  
 
 
Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 
 
The preparation of the Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans have followed the 
statutory procedures set out in The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 

Page 151

Agenda Item 12



 

 

(as amended).  The plans have successfully undergone examination, have satisfied the 
basic conditions and are in conformity with the Sefton Local Plan.  Where a Referendum 
results in a majority ‘yes’ vote, the Local Planning Authority is required to ‘make’ the 
Neighbourhood Plan within 8 weeks of the referendum decision in accordance with 
Regulations.  This will enable the Council to use the Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood 
Plans to determine planning applications in the respective parishes. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 
 
As set out in the various Neighbourhood Planning Regulations, the referendum and 
subsequent ‘making’ of Neighbourhood Plans following a successful referendum is part 
of the legal process for a community (Neighbourhood Forum or Town or Parish Council) 
to make a Neighbourhood Plan for its area.  As such Sefton Council does not have any 
option other than to make the plans. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 
Sefton Council is required to pay for the referendum. However, it can claim a fixed sum 
towards the costs of supporting the preparation of each Neighbourhood Plan and holding 
the referendum from the Department of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(DHCLG).  Implementation of the Neighbourhood Plans will be covered by general 
staffing costs. 
 
(B) Capital Costs 
 
None. 
 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
Once ‘made’ implementing both plans will be covered by general staff costs. 
 

Legal Implications: 
The referendum is part of a legal process and the outcome has to be complied with. 
 

Equality Implications: 
There are no equality implications. 
 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 

Protect the most vulnerable: 
N/A 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 
The preparation of the Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans establish the 
respective communities’ aspirations for how its area should be developed in the future. 

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
N/A 

Place – leadership and influencer: 

Page 152

Agenda Item 12



 

 

N/A 

Drivers of change and reform: 
N/A 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: 
N/A 

Greater income for social investment:  
N/A 

Cleaner Greener 
The Maghull Neighbourhood Plan contains policies that seek to provide infrastructure, 
regenerate Maghull District Centre, protect and enhance properties named on the 
Maghull Local List, protect and enhance the residential character of Maghull, protect 
and enhance green corridors and support development on Land East of Maghull in line 
with the approved Master Plan.  The Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan contains policies that 
seek to protect and enhance non-designated heritage and cultural assets and protect 
and enhance footpaths, cycleways, canal towpaths and bridle paths. 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD.5473/18) has been consulted and notes there are 
no direct financial implications for the Council. The costs of holding the two referendums 
can be covered by Grant receipt from DHCLG.  The implementation of the 
Neighbourhood Plans can be met from existing budget. 
The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4598/18) has been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report. 
 
(B) External Consultations  
 
Consultation, carried out by Lydiate Parish Council and Maghull Town Council, took 
place at various times during the preparation of their respective Neighbourhood Plans, as 
required by the Neighbourhood Regulations and national Planning Practice Guidance.  In 
accordance with the Plan Regulations, Sefton Council also consulted on the 
Neighbourhood Plans following submission of the Neighbourhood Plans by each Council. 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
Following the Council Meeting on 24 January 2019. 
 

Contact Officer: Alison Jones, Ian Loughlin   

Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 3898, 0151 934 3558 

Email Address: alison.jones@sefton.gov.uk, ian.loughlin@sefton.gov.uk 

 
Appendices: 
 
There are no appendices to this report 
 
Background Papers: 
 
None  

Page 153

Agenda Item 12



 

 

1.   Introduction 
 
1.1 The Localism Act 2011 gives local communities the right to prepare a 

Neighbourhood Plan to develop a shared vision for their neighbourhood and 
shape the development and growth of their local area.  The Council has a 
statutory duty to support this activity. 

 
1.2 The process for preparing a Neighbourhood Plan is set out by the Neighbourhood 

Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) (‘The Regulations’) is subject 
to several key stages which include:   

 
1. Designation of the neighbourhood plan area; 
2. Pre-submission publicity and consultation; 
3. Submission of the plan to the Local Planning Authority; 
4. Consultation by the Local Planning Authority; 
5. Independent Examination; 
6. Referendum; and 
7. Making the Neighbourhood Plan (i.e. bringing it into force). 

 
1.3 Policies in Neighbourhood Plans are used when determining planning 

applications.  It is a requirement that a Neighbourhood Plan contain policies which 
are broadly in accordance with the strategic policies in the Local Plan.  If 
Neighbourhood Plan policies conflict with policies in the Local Plan, the policies in 
the Plan that was approved most recently take precedence.  

 
2. Plan preparation 
 
2.1. Application for the designation of Lydiate Parish and Maghull Parish (with a small 

‘land swap’ agreed with Melling Parish Council) as Neighbourhood Plan Areas 
were submitted in 2015.  Following statutory publicity, the Neighbourhood Plan 
Areas were approved by Sefton Council on 28 September 2015 (Lydiate) and 5 
February 2015 (Maghull). 

 
2.2. Lydiate Parish Council and Maghull Town Council have each completed a number 

of tasks that are required to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan.  These included the 
preparation and gathering of evidence and undertaking various consultation 
exercises before drawing up a draft version of the plan, known as the Pre-
submission Plan. The Pre-Submission Plans underwent consultation (under 
Regulation 14 of the Regulations) from 1 December 2017 to 9 March 2018 
(Lydiate) and 29 July 2017 to 9 October 2017 (Maghull). 

 
2.3. The Pre-Submission Plans were amended as appropriate in response to the 

comments made and both Plans were formally submitted to the Council.  Sefton 
Council consulted on the Submission Versions of both Plans in accordance with 
Regulation 16 of the Regulations between 13th June 2018 and 30th July 2018. 

 
2.4. Both plans and supporting documents were then sent to the Council’s retained 

independent examiners Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd.  Sefton 
appointed Andrew S Freeman in agreement with Lydiate Parish Council to 
examine the Lydiate Plan and Patrick T Whitehead in agreement with Maghull 
Town Council to examine the Maghull Plan.  The purpose of an Examination is to 

Page 154

Agenda Item 12

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/directory_record/607/si_2012_637_-_the_neighbourhood_planning_general_regulations_2012
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/directory_record/607/si_2012_637_-_the_neighbourhood_planning_general_regulations_2012


 

 

determine whether a Plan meets the ‘Basic Conditions’ and other legislative 
requirements and therefore should proceed to referendum. 

 
2.5. The Examiner’s Report for the Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan was formally received 

on 18 September 2018.  The Examiner’s Report for the Maghull Neighbourhood 
Plan was formally received on 22 October 2018.  Both Examiners’ Reports 
concluded that, subject to modification, Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans 
may proceed to Referendum on the basis that they meet all the relevant legal 
requirements.   

 
2.6. The Referendum Version of the Maghull Neighbourhood Plan together with its 

supporting Residential Character Assessment and the Referendum Version of the 
Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan together with its supporting Character Assessment 
are available online.  Other ‘specified documents’ that are required by the 
Regulations for both referendums are also on the website at 
www.sefton.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplanning and include: 

 

 Regulation 16 Consultation summary of Comments made 

 A decision statement confirming the Plan complies with the Regulations, 
setting out the stages of preparation and the decision and reasons for 
accepting the modifications proposed by the Examiner. 

 
2.7. The decision for the Lydiate Plan to proceed to Referendum was made by the 

Cabinet Member: Planning and Building Control on 1 November 2018.  The 
decision for the Maghull Plan to proceed to Referendum was made by the Cabinet 
Member: Planning and Building Control on 5 November 2018. 

 
3. Referendum outcome  

 
3.1. The referendums for both plans were held on 18th December 2018.  The purpose 

of the referendum is to confirm that the local community (people on the electoral 
roll living in Maghull and Lydiate parishes) agree with the proposals in their 
respective Plan.  A simple majority (50% + 1) voting ‘Yes’ requires Sefton to 
‘make’ (i.e. adopt) the Neighbourhood Plan. 

 
3.2. The rules covering all aspects of organising and conducting the polls can be found 

in the Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations 2012 (as amended by 
the Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 and 
2014) and the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.  

 
3.3. The results were declared as follows (further details are available by following the 

links): 
 

 Lydiate – votes ‘yes’ 715; votes ‘no’ 108 – 86.77% in favour (turnout 16.36%) 

 Maghull- votes ‘yes’ 2,253; votes ‘no’ 369 – 85.73% in favour (turnout 16.04%) 
 
4.  Next steps 
 
4.1 As a result of the Referendum, the Council is required, in accordance with 

legislation to formally ‘make’ both the Lydiate and the Maghull Neighbourhood 
Plans as over 50% of those who voted were in favour of the Plans.  This will allow 

Page 155

Agenda Item 12

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488550/3-Lydiate-Neighbourhood-Plan-Examiners-Report-180918.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488566/3-Maghull-NP-Examiners-Report-221018.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488566/3-Maghull-NP-Examiners-Report-221018.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488578/1-Maghull-N-P-Referendum-Version.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488581/2-Maghull-Residential-Character-Assessment.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488541/1-Lydiate-N-P_Referendum_Version_.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488541/1-Lydiate-N-P_Referendum_Version_.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488547/2-Lydiate-Character-Assessment.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488547/2-Lydiate-Character-Assessment.pdf
http://www.sefton.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplanning
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=10641
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=10642
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2012/9780111525050/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2013/9780111534984/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2030/contents/made
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1504033/Declaration-of-Result_Lydiate.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1504029/Declaration-of-Result_Maghull.pdf


 

 

the Plans to be given full weight in determining planning applications within the 
Parishes of Lydiate and Maghull respectively. 

 
4.2 The Council is required to ‘make’ the plans within 8 weeks of the Referendum in 

accordance with the Regulation 18A of the Regulations. 
 

Page 156

Agenda Item 12


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Sand Dunes Nursery - Determination of the Proposal to Close the School
	5 Local Government Association Peer Review – Action Plan
	6 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20, Increase to Long Term Empty Homes Premium and Council Tax Base 2019/20
	7 Revenue and Capital Budget Plan 2018/19 – 2019/20
	8 Procurement of Quality Training and Assessment Providers for Apprenticeships
	9 Sefton Homelessness Strategy 2018 - 2023
	10 Procurement of Land Based, Coastal Remote Sensing Services
	11 Sefton New Directions Limited - Appointment of Shareholder Representative
	12 Making the Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans

